
 
 
 
 
 
 

Six Mile Creek 
Community Development District 

 
 

April 25, 2025 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



          Six Mile Creek  
  Community Development District 

  475 West Town Place 
             Suite 114  

  St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
www.SixMileCreekCDD.com 

              
April 18, 2025 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Six Mile Creek Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Six Mile Creek Community Development 
District will be held Friday, April 25, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. at Good News Church, 573 W. 
Twincourt Trail, St. Augustine, Florida 32095. 
 
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Audience Comments (regarding agenda items listed below) 
 
 III. Landscape Update 
  A. Brightview Communication Report 
 
  B. Brightview QSA 
 
 IV. Approval of Consent Agenda 
  A. Engineer Items  

1.Ratification of Requisition No. 203 
(2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Bonds (AA3, Phase 1)) 
 
2. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 177 - 178 
(2021 Bond Series (AA2, Phase 3B-East Parcel Phase 2)) 
 
3. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 102 - 106 
(2023 Bond Series (AA2 Phase 3C)) 
 
4. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 90A – 93A 
(2023 Bond Series (AA3 Phase 3-Phase 12) 
 
5. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 23 - 28 
(2024 Bond Series-Phase 13) 
 
6. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 7 - 9 
Trailmark Phase 13 

http://www.sixmilecreekcdd.com/


 
7. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 13 - 14 
Trailmark East Parcel 3 
 
8. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 24 - 25 
Trailmark Phase 12 
 
9.  Work Authorization No. 84 – Pacetti Road Traffic Signal  

 
  B. Ratification of Agreements / Proposals 
  1. Agreement with Flock Safety for License Plate Reader 
 
  2. Agreement with Ruppert Landscape Services for Reverie 
 
  3. Agreement with Jax Utilities Management for Pothole Repair (Welcome 

Center parking lot) 
 
  4. Agreement with Brightview Landscape Services for East Parcel Phase 3 

Enhancements 
 
  5. First Amendment to Agreement with Brightview Landscape Services for East 

Parcel Phase 3 Enhancements 
 
  6. Work Authorization No. 84 
 
  C. Approval of Minutes of the March 12, 2025 Meeting  
  
  D. Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2025 and Statement of Revenues and Expenses for 

the Period Ending March 31 31, 2025  
 
  E. Assessment Receipt Schedule  
 
  F. Check Register  
 
 V. Discussion with TrailMarket Representative 
 
 VI. Consideration of Proposals for Amenity Management, Field Operations and 

Maintenance Services (TrailMark) 
 
 VII. Consideration of Proposal from Brightview for Pond Bank Maintenance Services 
 
 VIII. Discussion Items: 
  A. Fiscal Year 2026 Budget 
 
  B. Sign In Areas for District Facilities 
 



  C. Procedure for Violations 
 
  D. Agreement for Security System Operation/Maintenance Services with Envera 

Systems (Reverie) 
 
  E. Welcome Center Improvements 
 
 IX. Consideration of Proposals: 
  A. Brightview Proposal for Front Entrance Enhancement 
 
  B. Tison Sound & Security for Additional Audio Equipment 
 
  C. Elite Amenities for Additional Pool Monitors 
 
  D. Fitness Center Wall Repair 
 
 X. Other Business 
 
 XI. Staff Reports 
  A. Attorney  
 
  B. Engineer  

    
  C. Manager – Report on the Number of Registered Voters (2837) 
 
  D. TrailMark Reports 
   1. Operations (RealManage)  
   1. Report 
 
   2. Lake Maintenance Report 
 
   3. Pool Pak Quarterly Preventative Maintenance Report 
   
   2. Lifestyles (OnPlace) - Report 
     
  E. Reverie Reports  
   1. DFH Updates 
    
   2. Operations (First Service) - Report  
      
   3. Lifestyles (OnPlace) - Report 
  
 XII. Supervisor’s Requests  
 
 XIII. Audience Comments 
 



 XIV. Next Scheduled Meeting: May 14, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. @ Renaissance World Golf 
Village Resort 

 
 XIV. Adjournment 
 
Board Oversight 
Supervisor Brofford – Pond Maintenance 
Supervisor Sutton – Landscape Maintenance  
Supervisor Dunn – TrailMark Amenity Center 
Supervisor Gellman – Reverie Amenity Center 
Supervisor Hartley - Lifestyles 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



COMMUNICATION REPORT

SITE#:

The following landscape maintenance services were performed on your property today.

If you have any questions about your service please call us at: 904-292-0716

TURF LANDSCAPE BEDS FERTILIZATION PEST CONTROL

Mowing Pruning Turf Turf Trees

Edging Hedging Trees insects insects

curbs Handpull weeds Shrubs weeds disease

beds Trees Annuals disease

Weedeating pruning Shrubs Fire ants

Lakes mowed Palms insects Weed beds

Blowing pruning disease spray 

IRRIGATION PLANTING CLEANUP OTHER SERVICES PERFORMED

Inspect Annuals Trash Grass Cutback________________

Adjust Shrubs Leaves & Interior Gardens weeded

Repair Mulch debris Annual beds checked & cleaned

COMMENTS, AREAS WHICH REQUIRE SPECIAL ATTENTION OR WORK:

Service provided by: Received by:

DATE: 3/21/2025

starting at Back Creek and then Split Oak. 

German Martinez Jr. 

LOCATION:    

Next week we will be mowing split oak, back creek and sidewalk going towards Clovery, edging concrete, line trimming and blowing. 

Trailmark 520

This week while on site we mowed as needed throughout the property, edge curves, line trimmed and blow. Trimmed Viburnums 

around pool area, parking lot and Tennis court (These hedges were also sprayed with Trimtect). Applied Pre-M in Ornamental 

beds along Shelmore and Trailmark Drive (Trailmark Drive is completed). We also mowed lakes #9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 22, 23, 24, 25, 

26, 27, and 28. 

Mow lakes, # 16, 21, 20, and 29. Spray for weeds at the 3 Canals and Back Creek. We're also going to continue applying Pre-M 

BrightView ~ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ □ □ 

0 □ □ □ □ 

□ □ □ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ 

0 □ □ 0 

□ □ 0 0 

□ □ □ 

□ □ 0 □ 





COMMUNICATION REPORT

SITE#:

The following landscape maintenance services were performed on your property today.

If you have any questions about your service please call us at: 904-292-0716

TURF LANDSCAPE BEDS FERTILIZATION PEST CONTROL

Mowing Pruning Turf Turf Trees

Edging Hedging Trees insects insects

curbs Handpull weeds Shrubs weeds disease

beds Trees Annuals disease

Weedeating pruning Shrubs Fire ants

Lakes mowed Palms insects Weed beds

Blowing pruning disease spray 

IRRIGATION PLANTING CLEANUP OTHER SERVICES PERFORMED

Inspect Annuals Trash Grass Cutback________________

Adjust Shrubs Leaves & Interior Gardens weeded

Repair Mulch debris Annual beds checked & cleaned

COMMENTS, AREAS WHICH REQUIRE SPECIAL ATTENTION OR WORK:

Service provided by: Received by:

German Martinez Jr. 

LOCATION:    

Next week we will be mowing Trailmark Drive, Shelmore and the 3 canals, edging sidewalks, line trimming and blowing. Spraying

Trailmark 520

This week while on site we mowed as needed at Split Oak and Back Creek, edge concrete, line trimmed and blow. Hand pull 

weeds around the pool area, Sprayed for weeds on pine straw bed exiting Trailmark (going towards Gran Lake), Sprayed bed

around athletic field, tabby lake, Back Creek, Spartina beds near the power lines and Bird Watch. We also applied Preemergence

on Back Creek. 

pool area, trimming along Trailmark Drive (entrance up to Dog Park), Spraying Clovery and the 3 canals.

DATE: 3/28/2025

BrightView ~ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ □ □ 

0 □ □ □ □ 

□ □ □ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ 

0 □ □ 0 

□ □ 0 □ 

□ □ □ 

□ □ 0 □ 





COMMUNICATION REPORT

SITE#:

The following landscape maintenance services were performed on your property today.

If you have any questions about your service please call us at: 904-292-0716

TURF LANDSCAPE BEDS FERTILIZATION PEST CONTROL

Mowing Pruning Turf Turf Trees

Edging Hedging Trees insects insects

curbs Handpull weeds Shrubs weeds disease

beds Trees Annuals disease

Weedeating pruning Shrubs Fire ants

Lakes mowed Palms insects Weed beds

Blowing pruning disease spray 

IRRIGATION PLANTING CLEANUP OTHER SERVICES PERFORMED

Inspect Annuals Trash Grass Cutback________________

Adjust Shrubs Leaves & Interior Gardens weeded

Repair Mulch debris Annual beds checked & cleaned

COMMENTS, AREAS WHICH REQUIRE SPECIAL ATTENTION OR WORK:

Service provided by: Received by:

German Martinez Jr. 

LOCATION:    

On our next visit we will be mowing Golden Rod, Back Creek, Around the Amenities, edging concrete, line trimming, blowing, and

Trailmark 520

This week while on site we mowed as needed throughout Trailmark Drive, Shelmore, Bloomfield, Ferndale and the 3 canals, 

edge sidewalks, line trimmed and blow. Trimmed Shrubs along trailmark drive up to the dog park and back creek. Sprayed for 

weeds at the pool area, Split oak, Cedarstone, Trailmark Drive (Wineberry to White Rabbit). We also applied Pre-M on 

Split Oak and mowed lakes #29 and 20.

spraying over the top selective on Ornamental Grasses throughout the property. 

DATE: 4/4/2025

BrightView ~ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ □ □ 

0 □ □ □ □ 

□ □ □ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ 

0 □ □ 0 

□ □ 0 □ 

□ □ □ 

□ □ 0 □ 



COMMUNICATION REPORT

SITE#:

The following landscape maintenance services were performed on your property today.

If you have any questions about your service please call us at: 904-292-0716

TURF LANDSCAPE BEDS FERTILIZATION PEST CONTROL

Mowing Pruning Turf Turf Trees

Edging Hedging Trees insects insects

curbs Handpull weeds Shrubs weeds disease

beds Trees Annuals disease

Weedeating pruning Shrubs Fire ants

Lakes mowed Palms insects Weed beds

Blowing pruning disease spray 

IRRIGATION PLANTING CLEANUP OTHER SERVICES PERFORMED

Inspect Annuals Trash Grass Cutback________________

Adjust Shrubs Leaves & Interior Gardens weeded

Repair Mulch debris Annual beds checked & cleaned

COMMENTS, AREAS WHICH REQUIRE SPECIAL ATTENTION OR WORK:

Service provided by: Received by:

German Martinez Jr. 

LOCATION:    

Next week we continue to mow as needed, edging sidewalks, line trimming, blowing, elevating tree canopy next to wood line 

as you enter the property, removing tree suckers along trailmark drive, spraying for weeds in Golden Rod and pruning Crape 

Trailmark 520

This week while on site we mowed as needed, edge curves, line trimmed and blow. Mow lakes 1,2,3,4,5,6,7, 14,15,18,19,21,22,24

25,26,27 and 28. Sprayed for weeds around athletic field and entrance up to Dog Park. We also sprayed over the selective 

on Spartina beds on the corner of Split Oak up to Shelmore and common grounds on farmfield. 

Myrtles at the end of Split Oak. 

DATE: 4/18/2025

BrightView ~ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ □ □ 

0 □ □ □ □ 

□ □ □ 

0 □ □ 

0 □ 

0 □ □ 0 

□ □ 0 □ 

□ □ □ 

□ □ 0 □ 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



 / 1 10

Quality Site Assessment
Prepared for: Six Mile CDD Trailmark

General Information

Customer Focus Areas
Clubhouse- focal areas(weeds and debris), Complete site, Entrance appearance, Tornado clean up, Hurricane clean
up

DATE:

NEXT QSA DATE:

CLIENT ATTENDEES:

BRIGHTVIEW ATTENDEES:

Friday, Apr 04, 2025

Tuesday, Jul 01, 2025

Alex Boyer 

Steve McAvoy 



 / 2 10

Carryover Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

Volleyball court area –
there are some light
debris that need to be
removed along with some
minimal weed issues that
need to be addressed.
We will also get with our
team to rake sand area
for a refreshed look. We
will follow up upon
completion

1

1

BrightView ~ 

■ 



 / 3 10

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

We will be removing
declining plants by court
areas next week while on
site

Starting to see a lot of
fire ant activity, we will
continue to treat as
needed

Playground area is clean
and weed free

Pool deck area is free
and clear of weeds and
debris

1 2

3 4

1

2

3

4

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

BrightView ~ 



 / 4 10

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

Turf color is starting to
improve with the
warming temperatures

Hard and soft surfaces
are being edged on a
weekly rotation

Trimming is being
completed on a weekly
rotation

All lirope beds have been
treated with an
over-the-top selective
and pre-emergent to help
control the weed
population.

5 6

7 8

5

6

7

8

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 



 / 5 10

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

Pine straw installation
has been completed. We
are also currently about
90% completed with
pre-emergent
applications. This should
be completed by the
second week of April. We
will follow up once
completed

There are some dead in
the Juniper located at the
entrance. We will get with
our team to have this
removed next week while
on site.

Oyster plants were cut
back last month and are
starting to push out new
growth and should
recover well from cold
damage

Ornamental grasses are
being trimmed back away
from sidewalks as
needed. Also, at this area
coming into the entrance
on the north side by first
Lake, there are a few
trees that need to be
elevated. We will get with
our team to have this
completed next week.

9 10

11 12

9

10

11

12

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 



 / 6 10

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

There is a heavy stand of
leaves at roundabout by
playground on turf areas.
We will get with our team
to have these removed
next week while on site.

Plumbago plants have
been cut back at topiary
and tabby lake areas and
they are already starting
to push out new growth.
May require a few
replacements at both
locations

13 14

13

14

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 



 / 7 10

Recommendations for Property Enhancements

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

There are 2 dead pine
trees located behind
75/87 White Rabbit Run
that are considered
possible fall hazards. We
can provide a quote upon
request

Most of the Croton’s
inside the pool area have
died due to cold damage.
We will have our team
removed next week while
on site. We can propose
to replace up upon
request.

1 2

1

2

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 



 / 8 10

Notes to Owner / Client

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

There are several dead or
declining plants that get
hit hard by cold
temperatures over the
winter that have not
responded. We will
forward a rendering for
possible plant
replacements.

Focal areas in front of
clubhouse- Soft tissue
plants were cut back
from cold damage and
are starting to respond.
Some of the blue daze
may need to be replaced.

Turf is starting to decline
located near sidewalk at
north side of clubhouse.
This is due to high foot
traffic cutting through
inside of the sidewalk.
We will continue to
monitor.

1 2

3

1

2

3

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 

■ 



 / 9 10

Completed Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

Contractual tree elevation
should be completed this
week while on site.
Weather permitting.

Topiary Island –
plumbago plants are
scheduled to be cut back
this week while on site
and we will have the
weed issues addressed
as well. We have
reviewed this area with
our team and let them
know this is a focal area
that we need to keep a
closer eye on.

Viburnum hedge exiting
amenities area by parking
lot has been lowered due
to a line of site hazard.
We have instructed our
team to keep this hedge
maintained at a lower
height for safety
concerns.

We removed all dead
from oyster plants inside
pool area this week while
on site, this will help
promote new growth. We
will continue to monitor.

1 2

3 4

1

2

3

4

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 



 / 10 10

Completed Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Six Mile CDD Trailmark

Pine straw install has
begun and we should be
able to wrap up by the
end of Next week.

With temperatures
increasing, we are
starting to get a push of
spring weeds in some
turf areas throughout
property. We have
scheduled a retreat for
this month. We will follow
up once complete

5 6

5

6

BrightView ~ 

■ 

■ 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



https://etmrma-my.sharepoint.com/personal/blairs_etminc_com/Documents/Desktop/ALL CDD'S - Copy/Sixmile CDD (Whisper Creek)/Mtg. Agendas/SMC CDD April 25 2025 Consent 
Agenda.doc 4/18/2025 

Six Mile Creek Community Development District 

April 25, 2025 

1. Ratification of Requisition No. 203
(2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Bonds (AA3, Phase 1))

2. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 177 - 178
(2021 Bond Series (AA2, Phase 3B-East Parcel Phase 2))

3. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 102 - 106
(2023 Bond Series (AA2 Phase 3C))

4. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 90A – 93A
(2023 Bond Series (AA3 Phase 3-Phase 12)

5. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 23 - 28
(2024 Bond Series-Phase 13)

6. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 7 - 9
Trailmark Phase 13

7. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 13 - 14
Trailmark East Parcel 3

8. Ratification of Change Order Nos. 24 - 25
Trailmark Phase 12

Scott A. Wild 
District Engineer 
England-Thims & Miller, Inc. 



Date of 

Requisition Payee Reference INVOICE AMOUNT

April 203 Brightview Landscape Services FPL Area and Equipment Fee - Invoice 9142007 2,044.00$                           

2,044.00$                      

Date of 

Requisition Payee Reference INVOICE AMOUNT

April 177 ETM Master Site Planning (WA#51) Invoice 218431 (February 2025) 637.50$                              
April 178 ETM Master Site Planning (WA#51) Invoice 218905 (March 2025) 510.00$                              

1,147.50$                      

Date of 

Requisition Payee Reference INVOICE AMOUNT

April 102 Jax Utilities Management, Inc. Trailmark East Parcel Ph 3 - Contractor Application No. 22 (Feb 2025) 82,650.00$                         
April 103 ETM Trailmark East Parcel - Phase 3 CEI (WA#73) Invoice 218435 (February 2025) 7,533.75$                           

April 104 First Coast Electric, LLC Trailmark Phase 3 - 60 AMP Service for well pump - Invoice 16521 5,875.00$                           
April 105 ETM Trailmark East Parcel - Phase 3 CEI (WA#73) Invoice 218910 (March 2025) 4,017.50$                           
April 106 Jax Utilities Management, Inc. Trailmark East Parcel Ph 3 - Contractor Application No. 23 (March 2025) 110,366.92$                       

210,443.17$                       

Date of 

Requisition Payee Reference INVOICE AMOUNT

April 90A ETM Trailmark Phase 12 - CEI (WA#70) Invoice 218455 (February 2025)      1,645.00$                           

April 91A Jax Utilities Management, Inc. Trailmark Phase 12 - Contractor Application No. 24 (Feb 2025) 15,912.50$                         
April 92A ETM Trailmark Phase 12 - CEI (WA#70) Invoice 218929 (March 2025)       797.50$                              

April 93A Jax Utilities Management, Inc. Trailmark Phase 12 - Contractor Application No. 25 (March 2025) 130,321.95$                       

148,676.95$                       

Date of 

Requisition Payee Reference INVOICE AMOUNT

April 23 ETM Phase 13 CEI (WA#80) - Invoice 218436 (February 2025) 8,398.75$                           

April 24 Jax Utilities Management Trailmark Phase 13 Application for Payment No. 13 (Feb 2025) 672,207.65$                       
April 25 ETM Phase 13 CEI (WA#80) - Invoice 218909 (March 2025) 15,658.40$                         
April 26 SES Environmental Resource SOL Phase 13 Environmental Services - Invoice 41013 3,360.50$                           
April 27 Brightview Landscape Services Phase 13 Landscape Enhancement - Invoice 9317691 64,151.11$                         

April 28 Jax Utilities Management Trailmark Phase 13 Application for Payment No. 14 (March 2025) 102,030.00$                       

865,806.41$                       

TOTAL REQUISITIONS TO BE APPROVED April 25, 2025 1,226,074.03$               

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

REQUISITION SUMMARY

Series 2023 (2023 Project Area) Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds
2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Bonds)

Series 2024 (2024 Project Area)

2023 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2023) 2023 Project Area BOND SERIES

2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds (A/C 226000005) (Assessment Area 2, Phase 3B) (East Parcel Phase 2) BOND SERIES

Friday, April 25, 2025

2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds (Assessment Area 3, Phase 1)

2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds (AA 2, Phase 3A) BOND SERIES

2024 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2024) 2024 Project Area BOND SERIES

                     2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds (A/C 226000005) (Assessment Area 2, Phase 3B) (East Parcel Phase 2) BOND SERIES

2023 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2023) 2023 Project Area  (Assessment Area 2 PH3C) BOND SERIES

2024 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2024) 2024 Project Area BOND SERIES

2023 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2023) 2023 Project Area (Assessment 3 PH3) BOND SERIES

2023 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Series 2023) 2023 Project Area BOND SERIES

SMC REQ LIST April 25, 2025



CHANGE ORDER
No.

DATE OF ISSUANCE: EFFECTIVE DATE:

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District
CONTRACTOR: Jax Utilities Management, Inc.
Contract: Trailmark Phase 13

Project: Trailmark Phase 13 OWNER's Contract No. N.A.
ENGINEER's Contract No. 21-363-01
ENGINEER: England Thims and Miller, Inc.

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:

Description:

Reason for Change:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change) Jax Utilities Management, Inc.

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for
the work associated with these changes are resolved.

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:

Original Contract Price

$ 8,763,666.00

Original Contract Times:
Substantial Completion: 450
Ready for final payment: 510

(days)

Net Increase/Decrease from previous Change Orders
No. 0 to No.

$ (

Net change from previous Change Orders No. -0- to No. - -
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

Contract Price prior to this Change Order:

$

Contract Times prior to this Change Order:
Substantial Completion:   45
Ready for final payment:  51

(days)
Net Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:

$

Net Increase this Change Order:
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders:

$ 7

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders:
Substantial Completion:   45
Ready for final payment:  51

(days)

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED: ACCEPTED:
By: By: By: _____________________
ENGINEER (Authorized Signature) OWNER (Authorized Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

Date: Date: ___________________Date:
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

íñî èñîðîë

Ý¸®·-¬±°¸ »® Ø±¼¹»

Ü·¹·¬¿´́§ - ·¹² »¼ ¾§ Ý¸ ®·- ¬±°¸ »® 
Ø±¼¹»
ÜÒæ ÝãËÍô 
Ûã½ ±̧¼¹ »à ¶¿̈ « ³ ò½±³ ô ÑãÖ¿̈ 
Ë¬·́·¬·»-  Ó¿²¿¹³ »²¬ô 
ÝÒãÝ¸ ®·- ¬±°¸ »® Ø±¼¹»
Ü¿¬»æ î ðî ëòðíòî è ðçæðçæíð óðìùððù

Apr. 4, 2025

7 

March 27, 2025 March 27 2025 

Credit for miscellaneous sleeves 

Unused sleeve allowance 

Change Order Request dated 3/20/2025 

-

-- _6 
6 - 9 

9 -
854 228.76) 

9 
7 909 437.24 9 -

(58,546.00) 0 
_Q_ 

9 -
,850,891.24 - 9 

APPROVED: 
B . l°'{""tit: ,gr-• y ■ .. d .,:,l J"..1••~'-~V-it&li.'..•,.il,~.:.~ ..ii'• 

:) O\VNE~ (Authorized Signature) 

3/28/2025 



CHANGE ORDER REQUEST 

fieJWUUJ, fl£ 'f l,o;ii,d,a fjmce, f 974 
Project: Trailmark 13 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: 3land-Thims & Miller 

Change Order No: 7 

Date: 3/20/2025 

Contract for: SITE WORK 

Mike Jame - a.airman I Oiarlle Freshwater - President I Rick Jahns - Vice President 

SCOPE 

The contract is changed as follows: 
Owner Direct Purchase Credit for Water, Sewer & Storm Materials 

Item Previous Change Orders 

01 Material Purchase 

02 Replace MH Base 

03 2 Rain Days 

04 2 Rain Days 

05 5 Rain Days 

06 Import Fill 

07 

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was: 

The net change by previously authorized Change Orders: 

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was: 

The Contract Sum will be increased (decreased) by 
this Change Order in the amount of: 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be: 

TIME 

The original commencement date was: 

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 450 
Original days to Final Completion was: 510 

Days added prior to this change order was: 9 

Current Substantial Completion: 459 
Current Final Completion: 519 

4/16/2024 

days 
days 
days 

days 
days 

Date: 

Date: 

Date: 
Date: 

Qty Unit Unit Price Total Price 

LS -$1,223,506.76 -$1,223,506.76 

LS $19,278.00 $19,278.00 

2 EA $0.00 $0.00 

2 EA $0.00 $0.00 

5 EA $0.00 $0.00 

18,288 C( $19.14 $350,000.00 

$ 8,763,666.00 

-$854,228.76 

$ 7,909,437.24 

-$58,546.00 

$ 7,850,891.24 

7/10/2025 
9/8/2025 

Days will be increased (decreased) by: 0 days 

7/19/2025 New days to Substantial Completion: 459 days 
9/17/2025 New days to Final Completion: 519 days 

Date: 7/19/2025 
Date: 9/17/2025 



Project: 

CO# 

Owner: 

Engineer: 

Geotech: 

Surveyor: 

www.jaxum.com 

Trailmark 13 

2 

Six Mile Creek CDD 
England-Thims & Miller 

ECS of Florida, LLC 

g~flE 7UJJli,(;(,a g~ 1914 

Mika Jama - Olalnnan I Charlie Frelhw■lllr - President I Rick Jahm - Vice President 

Change Order Proposal & Scope of Work 

Item Description: Purchase, Haul and Place Fill Material to Complete TM-13 Quantity Units Unit Price 

1 2.5" Sleeves (842) LF $12.00 $ 
2 3" Sleeves (715) LF $14.00 

3 4" Sleeves (1,340) LF $16.00 
4 6" Sleeves (944) LF $18.00 

Total $ 

Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 

3/20/2025 

Total Price 

(10,104.00) 

-10,010.00 

-21,440.00 

-16,992.00 

(58,546.00) 

2 of 2 



CHANGE ORDER
No.

DATE OF ISSUANCE: EFFECTIVE DATE:

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District
CONTRACTOR: Jax Utilities Management, Inc.
Contract: Trailmark Phase 13

Project: Trailmark Phase 13 OWNER's Contract No. N.A.
ENGINEER's Contract No. 21-363-01
ENGINEER: England Thims and Miller, Inc.

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:

Description:

Reason for Change:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change) Jax Utilities Management, Inc.

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for
the work associated with these changes are resolved.

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:

Original Contract Price

$ 8,763,666.00

Original Contract Times:
Substantial Completion: 450
Ready for final payment: 510

(days)

Net Increase/Decrease from previous Change Orders
No. 0 to No.

$ (

Net change from previous Change Orders No. -0- to No. - -
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

Contract Price prior to this Change Order:

$

Contract Times prior to this Change Order:
Substantial Completion: 5
Ready for final payment: 51

(days)
Net Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:

$

Net Increase this Change Order:

(days)

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders:

$

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders:
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED: ACCEPTED:
By: By: By: _____________________
ENGINEER (Authorized Signature) OWNER (Authorized Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

Date: Date: ___________________Date:
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

ìñíñîðîë

Ý¸®·-¬±°¸» ® Ø±¼¹»

Ü·¹· ¬¿´́§ - ·¹ ²» ¼ ¾§ Ý¸ ®·- ¬±°¸ »® 
Ø±¼¹»
ÜÒæ ÝãËÍô  Ûã½̧±¼¹»à ¶¿¨ «³ ò½±³ ô 
ÑãÖ¿̈  Ë¬·́·¬·»-  Ó¿² ¿¹ ³ »² ¬ô 
ÝÒãÝ¸®·- ¬±° ¸»® Ø±¼¹»
Ü¿¬»æ îðî ëòðì òðí ïìæðéæðìóðìùððù

Apr. 4, 2025

8 

April3,2025 April 3, 2025 

Add Signal to the Trailmark 13 Contract 

Associated with approval of Phase 13 

Change Order Request dated 4/2/2025 

-

-- _7 
7 - 9 

9 -
912 774.76) 

4 9 
7,850,891.24 9 --

990,842.00 Substantial Completion: 550 
Ready for final payment: 550 

1009 
8,841,733.24 1069 

APPROVED:. 

4/3/2025 



CHANGE ORDER REQUEST 

fieJWUUJ, fl£ 'f l,o;ii,d,a fjmce, f 974 
Project: Trailmark 13 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: 3land-Thims & Miller 

Change Order No: 8 

Date: 4/2/2025 

Contract for: SITE WORK 

Oiarlle Freshwater - President I Steven Jordan - a=o I Rick Jahns - Vice President 

SCOPE 

The contract is changed as follows: 
Owner Direct Purchase Credit for Water, Sewer & Storm Materials 

Item Previous Change Orders 

01 Material Purchase 

02 Replace MH Base 

03 2 Rain Days 

04 2 Rain Days 

05 5 Rain Days 

06 Import Fill 

07 Sleeve Deduction 

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was: 

The net change by previously authorized Change Orders: 

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was: 

The Contract 5um will be increased (decreased) by 
this Change Order in the amount of: 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be: 

TIME 

The original commencement date was: 

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 450 
Original days to Final Completion was: 510 

Days added prior to this change order was: 9 

Current Substantial Completion: 459 
Current Final Completion: 519 

4/16/2024 

days 
days 

days 

days 
days 

Date: 

Date: 

Date: 
Date: 

Qty Unit Unit Price Total Price 

LS 

LS 

2 EA 

2 EA 

5 EA 

18,288 C( 

LS 

$ 

$ 

-$1,223,506.76 

8,763,666.00 

-$912,774.76 

7,850,891.24 

$990,842.00 

$19,278.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$19.14 

-$58,546.00 

-$1,223,506.76 

$19,278.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$350,000.00 

-$58,546.00 

$ 8,841,733.24 

7/10/2025 
9/8/2025 

Days will be increased (decreased) by: 

7/19/2025 New days to Substantial Completion: 

9/17/2025 New days to Final Completion: 

550 days 

1009 days 
1069 days 

Date: 1/20/2027 
Date: 3/21/2027 



g~flE 7UJJli,(;(,a g~ 1914 

Mika Jama - Olalnnan I Charlie Frelhw■lllr - President I Rick Jahm - Vice President 

4/2/2025 

Change Order Proposal & Scope of Work 

Project: Trailmark 13 

CO# 8 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: England-Thims & Miller 

Geotech: ECS of Florida, LLC 

Surveyor: 

Item Traffic Signal Quantity Units Unit Price Total Price 

1 General Conditions 1 LS $97,576.00 $97,576.00 

2 Bond 1 LS $7,239.00 $7,239.00 

3 Survey & Asbuilt 1 LS $20,825.00 $20,825.00 

4 Testing 1 LS $22,000.00 $22,000.00 

5 Erosion Control 1 LS $2,380.00 $2,380.00 

6 MOT 1 LS $64,465.00 $64,465.00 

7 Demolition 1 LS $9,178.00 $9,178.00 

8 Grassing 1 LS $9,780.00 $9,780.00 

9 Asphalt Paving 1 LS $112,607.00 $112,607.00 

10 Striping & Signs 1 LS $24,891.00 $24,891.00 

11 Curb and Concrete 1 LS $52,499.00 $52,499.00 

12 Signalization 1 LS $567,402.00 $567,402.00 

Total $990,842.00 

www.jaxum.com Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 2 of 2 



CHANGE ORDER
No.

DATE OF ISSUANCE: EFFECTIVE DATE:

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District
CONTRACTOR: Jax Utilities Management, Inc.
Contract: Trailmark Phase 13

Project: Trailmark Phase 13 OWNER's Contract No. N.A.
ENGINEER's Contract No. 21-363-01
ENGINEER: England Thims and Miller, Inc.

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:

Description:

Reason for Change:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change) Jax Utilities Management, Inc.

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for
the work associated with these changes are resolved.

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:

Original Contract Price

$ 8,763,666.00

Original Contract Times:
Substantial Completion: 450
Ready for final payment: 510

(days)
Net Increase/Decrease from previous Change Orders
No. 0 to No.

$

Net change from previous Change Orders No. -0- to No. - -
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

Contract Price prior to this Change Order:

$

Contract Times prior to this Change Order:
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)
Net Increase/Decrease of this Change Order:

$

Net Increase this Change Order:

(days)

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders:

$

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders:
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED: ACCEPTED:
By: By: By: _____________________
ENGINEER (Authorized Signature) OWNER (Authorized Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

Date: Date: ___________________Date:
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

Ý¸ ®·-¬±°¸ »® Ø±¼¹»

Ü·¹·¬¿´´§ - ·¹²»¼ ¾§ 
Ý¸®·-¬±°¸»® Ø±¼¹»
ÜÒæ ÝãËÍ ô 
Ûã½̧±¼¹»à¶¿¨ «³ ò½±³ ô
ÑãÖ¿¨ Ë¬·´·¬·»- Ó¿²¿¹³ »²¬ô 
ÝÒãÝ¸®·-¬±°¸»® Ø±¼¹»
Ü¿¬»æ îðîëò ðìòðí 
ïìæðèæîìóðìù ððù

ìñíñîðîë

9 

April3,2025 April 3, 2025 

Milling and Paving of alleys 

Pavement section had deteriorated 

Change Order Request dated 4/2/2025 

--

- 8 --- _8 
550 

78.067.24 550 --

1009 
8,841,733.24 1069 --

108,188.00 Substantial Completion: 0 
Ready for final payment: 0 

1009 
8,949,921.24 1069 

MichelleSutton{Apr4,202516:52EDT) 

4/3/2025 Apr 4, 2025 



CHANGE ORDER REQUEST 

fieJWUUJ, fl£ 'f l,o;ii,d,a fjmce, f 974 
Project: Trailmark 13 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: 3land-Thims & Miller 

Change Order No: 9 

Date: 4/2/2025 

Contract for: SITE WORK 

Oiarlle Freshwater - President I Steven Jordan - a=o I Rick Jahns - Vice President 

SCOPE 

The contract is changed as follows: 
Owner Direct Purchase Credit for Water, Sewer & Storm Materials 

Item Previous Change Orders 

01 Material Purchase 

02 Replace MH Base 

03 2 Rain Days 

04 2 Rain Days 

05 5 Rain Days 

06 Import Fill 

07 Sleeve Deduction 

08 Traffic Signal 

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was: 

The net change by previously authorized Change Orders: 

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was: 

The Contract Sum will be increased (decreased) by 
this Change Order in the amount of: 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be: 

TIME 

The original commencement date was: 

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 450 
Original days to Final Completion was: 510 

Days added prior to this change order was: 559 

Current Substantial Completion: 1009 
Current Final Completion: 1069 

4/16/2024 

days 
days 

days 

days 
days 

Date: 

Date: 

Date: 
Date: 

Qty Unit Unit Price Total Price 

LS -$1,223,506.76 -$1,223,506.76 

LS $19,278.00 $19,278.00 

2 EA $0.00 $0.00 

2 EA $0.00 $0.00 

5 EA $0.00 $0.00 

18,288 C( $19.14 $350,000.00 

LS -$58,546.00 -$58,546.00 

LS $990,842.00 $990,842.00 

$ 8,763,666.00 

$78,067.24 

$ 8,841,733.24 

$108,188.00 

$ 8,949,921.24 

7/10/2025 
9/8/2025 

Days will be increased (decreased) by: 0 days 

1/20/2027 New days to Substantial Completion: 1009 days 

3/21/2027 New days to Final Completion: 1069 days 
Date: 1/20/2027 
Date: 3/21/2027 



Project: 

CO# 

Owner: 

Engineer: 

Geotech: 

Surveyor: 

www.jaxum.com 

Trailmark 13 

9 

Six Mile Creek CDD 

England-Thims & Miller 

ECS of Florida, LLC 

g~flE 7UJJli,(;(,a g~ 1914 

Olarlle Freshwater - President I Steven Jordan - CFO I Rick Johns - Via! President 

Change Order Proposal & Scope of Work 

Item Mill and Pvae Trailmark Alley Way Quantity Units Unit Price 

1 1.S"Mill 4,000 SY $6.86 

2 Pave 1.5" SP-9.5 4,000 SY $19.20 

3 QA/QC 1 LS $3,948.00 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Total 

Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 

4/2/2025 

Total Price 

$27,440.00 

$76,800.00 

$3,948.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$0.00 

$108,188.00 

2 of 2 



 CHANGE ORDER 
No.  13

DATE OF ISSUANCE: March 7, 2025 EFFECTIVE DATE:  March 7, 2025

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District 
CONTRACTOR:  Jax Utilities Management, Inc.. 
Contract: Trailmark East Parcel 3 

Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3   OWNER's Contract No.   N.A. 
ENGINEER's Contract No.  21-407-01 
ENGINEER:  England – Thims and Miller, Inc. 

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents: 

Descriptio n:  Work order repairs 119, 120, 122, and 123

Reason for Change:  Work order repairs 119, 120, 122, and 123

Attachments: (List documents supporting change) Jax Utilities Management, Inc. Change Order Requested dated 3/7/2025

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for 
the work associated with these changes are resolved. 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES: 

Original Contract Price 

   $ 11,673,640.00 

Original Contract Times: 
   Substantial Completion:   520 
   Ready for final payment:  580 

 (days) 

Net Increase/Decrease from previous Change Orders 
No.  0   to No. 12

$ (2,677,152.46)

Net change from previous Change Orders No.    -0-    to No.   12
Substantial Completion:   161  . 
Ready for final payment:  161  . (days)

Contract Price prior to this Change Order: 

$ 8,996,487,54

Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 
Substantial Completion:   681 
Ready for final payment:  741

 (days) 
Net Increase/Decrease of this Change Order: 

$ 8,401.00
Net Increase this Change Order: 

Substantial Completion:      0    . 
Ready for final payment:    0    .

 (days) 

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders: 

$  9,004,888.54

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 
Substantial Completion:   681
Ready for final payment:  741

 (days) 

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED: ACCEPTED:  
By: By: By: _____________________
 ENGINEER (Authorized Signature) OWNER (Authorized Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

Date: Date: ___________________Date: March 7, 2025
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.  

March 10, 20253/10/2025

APPROVED: 
Bv . .. d ,.,'? ::;,rt"N·-4i"'H .. -;-..i;t,i:c~cc·-

:) • OWNE~ (Authorized Signature) 

BlairS
Line



CHANGE ORDER REQUEST

Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3 13

     Serving NE Florida Since 1974 Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 3/7/2025

Engineer: England-Thims & Miller

SCOPE

CO 13

Item Qty Unit
  

01 Clear, excavate, & haul fill to PH 10. Replace fill on EP3. 1 LS

02 1 LS

03 1 LS
  

04 1 LS
  

05 1 LS
  

06 1 LS
  

07 1 LS -              

08 1 LS
  

09 1 LS

10 1 LS
 

11 1 LS

12 1 LS
  

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was:  

The net change by previously authorized Change Orders:  

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was:  

The Contract Sum will be increased (decreased) by
    this Change Order in the amount of:

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be:  

TIME

The original commencement date was:

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 520 days Date: 7/25/2024

-$12,310.00

$8,460.008,460.00                         

Remove Haul Raod and Crushcrete Credit -$21,145.00 -$21,145.00

-$2,140,450.00 -$2,140,450.00

ADS Credit 

Haul Road $567,979.00

Material Credit $1,352,226.46

Change Order No:

Date:

Previous Change Orders

Work Order Repairs 
The contract is changed as follows:

Mike James - Chairman| Charlie Freshwater - President | Rick Johns - Vice President

Unit Price Total Price

$397,600.00 $397,600.00

FPL Easement South & Credits

Rain Days (2) 

EP-2 Rear Lot Drainage Lots 298& 295 $16,940.00

$567,979.00

-$142,000.00-$142,000.00

$16,940.00

-$1,352,226.46

Additoinal Culverts & Import Credit

2/21/2023

$8,401.00

9,004,888.54$               

Rain Days (5) 

Rain Days (2) 

-$2,677,152.46

8,996,487.54$                       

11,673,640.00$                     

MODIFY EP-2 Rear Lot Drainage Lots 298& 295

(12,310.00)                      



Original days to Final Completion was: 540 days Date: 9/23/2024

Days added prior to this change order was: 161 days Days will be increased (decreased) by: 0 days

Current Substantial Completion: 681 days Date: 1/2/2025 New days to Substantial Completion: 681 days Date: 1/2/2025
Current Final Completion: 741 days Date: 3/3/2025 New days to Final Completion: 741 days Date: 3/3/2025

England-Thims & Miller Jax Utilities Management Inc Six Mile Creek CDD
ENGINEER CONTRACTOR OWNER

(Signature) (Signature) (Signature)

3/7/2025
DATE DATE DATE



Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3
Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD

Engineer: England-Thims & Miller
Geotech: ECS of Florida, LLC
Surveyor: Clary & Associates, Inc.

Item Description Units Quantity Unit Price Total Price

WO 119 Trailmark Multi-Use Path Asphalt Repair LS 1 3,174.00$              3,174.00$                   
-$                             

WO 120 TM-EP-3 Reove Existing Const. Entrance LS 1 4,207.00$              4,207.00$                   
-$                             

WO 122 TM Haul Road Excavate Channels LS 1 1,020.00$              1,020.00$                   
-$                             

-$                        -$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             
-$                             

8,401.00$          Total Contract Change 

Change Order 13 Work Order Repairs

Serving NE Florida Since 1974

                  Mike James - Chairman | Charlie Freshwater - President | Rick Johns - Vice President

www.jaxum.com Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 3 of 3



CHANGE ORDER

Description:

Reason for Change:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change)

March 18, 2025

I 

DATE OF ISSUANCE: March 17 2025 

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District 
CONTRACTOR: Jax Utilities Management, Inc .. 
Contract: Trailmark East Parcel 3 

Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3 
ENGINEER's Contract No. 21-407-01 
ENGINEER: England - Thims and Miller, Inc. 

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents: 

Seeding and final quantity adjustments 

Seeding of disturbed areas and credits for unnecessary items 

No. 14 

EFFECTIVE DATE: March 17 2025 

OWNER's Contract No. N.A. 

Jax Utilities Management, lnc. Change Order Requested dated 3/17/2025 

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for 
the work associated with these changes are resolved. 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: 
I I CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES: 

Original Contract Price Original Contract Times: 
Substantial Completion: 520 

$ 11,673,640.00 Ready for final payment: 580 
(davs) 

Net IF1sf0as0/Decrease from previous Change Orders Net change from previous Change Orders No.__:Q:__ to No.__ll 
No. 0 --19 No.Jl Substantial Completion: 1.§.L 

Ready for final payment: 1.§.L (days) 
$ (2 668.751.46) 

Contract Price prior to this Change Order: Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 

Substantial Completion: 681 
$ 9,004,888,54 Ready for final payment: 7 41 

7oavs) 
Net ±Mfsasi/Decrease of this Change Order: 

Net Increase this Change Order: 

$ (118,515.302 Substantial Completion: 0 
Ready for final payment: _O_. 

(davs) 

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders: Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 
Substantial Completion: 681 

$ 8,886,373.24 Ready for final payment: 7 41 
(days) 

REC~-11''-'-H>UJ, 

By: --/,.~"--'-'-''-'----'-"'---

APPROVED: ACCEPTED: ,./ ,./ ,./ 
By: _0c_~_if_~ __ n,~cycycy 

ENGil' OWNER (Authorized Signature) CONTRACTOR (Autho1ized Signature) 

Date: March 17, 2025 
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition) 

Date: March 18, 2025 Date: -----------
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

I 



CHANGE ORDER REQUEST 

fielWllU,lflB 'jW-'li<J,a fjuu:,e, 1974 
Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: 3land-Thims & Miller 

Change Order No: 1 4 -------
Date: 3/17/2025 

Mike Jame - a.airman I Oiarlle Freshwater - President I Rick Jahns - Vice President 

SCOPE 

The contract is changed as follows: 
CO 1 4 I Sedding & Final Quantity Adjustment 

Item Previous Change Orders 

01 Clear, excavate, & haul fill to PH 10. Replace fill on EP3. 

02 ADS Credit 

03 Material Credit 

04 Haul Road 

05 Additoinal Culverts & Import Credit 

06 Remove Haul Raod and Crushcrete Credit 

07 Rain Days (2) 

08 

09 

10 

11 

12 

13 

EP-2 Rear Lot Drainage Lots 298& 295 

Rain Days (2) 

Rain Days (5) 

MODIFY EP-2 Rear Lot Drainage Lots 298& 295 

FPL Easement South & Credits 

Work Order Repairs 

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was: 

The net change by previously authorized Change Orders: 

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was: 

The Contract Sum will be increased (decreased) by 

this Change Order in the amount of: 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be: 

Qty 

$ 

1 

$ 

Unit Unit Price Total Price 

LS $397,600.00 $397,600.00 

LS -$142,000.00 -$142,000.00 

LS $1,352,226.46 -$1,352,226.46 

LS $567,979.00 $567,979.00 

LS -$2, 140,450.00 -$2, 140,450.00 

LS -$21, 1 45.00 -$21, 1 45.00 

LS 

LS $16,940.00 $16,940.00 

LS 

LS 

LS 8,460.00 $8,460.00 

LS 

LS 

11,673,640.00 

-$2,668,751.46 

9,004,888.54 

-1118,515.30 

8,886,373.24 

(12,310.00) -$12,310.00 

8,401.00 $8,401.00 

$0.00 



TIME 

The original commencement date was: 

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 
Original days to Final Completion was: 

Days added prior to this change order was: 

Current Substantial Completion: 
Current Final Completion: 

En.9.land-Thims & Miller 

ENGINEER 

(Signature) 

DATE 

2/21/2023 

520 days 
540 days 

161 days 

681 days 
741 da· 

Date: 

Date: 

Date: 
Date: 

7/25/2024 
9/23/2024 

1/2/2025 
3/3/2025 

Jax Utilities Mana.9.ement Inc 

CONTRACTOR 

(Signature) 

3/17/2025 
DATE 

Days will be increased (decreased) by: 

New days to Substantial Completion: 
New days to Final Completion: 

0 

681 
741 

Six Mile Creek CDD 

OWNER 

(Signature) 

DATE 

days 

days 
days 

Date: 
Date: 

1/2/2025 
3/3/2025 



Project: Trailmark East Parcel 3
Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD

Engineer: England-Thims & Miller
Geotech: ECS of Florida, LLC
Surveyor: Clary & Associates, Inc.

Item Description Units Quantity Unit Price Total Price

S/M Disturbed ROW EP-3 SY 19000 0.70$ 13,300.00$
SM FPL Easement South SY 31000 0.70$ 21,700.00$

CO 12 Limerock Credit: Tons Not Needed TN -237.51 30.00$ (7,125.30)$
Sidewalk Credit: Not Installed along lots SY -150 75.00$ (11,250.00)$
H/C Ramp Credit: Not Installed for SW along lots EA -1 2,500.00$ (2,500.00)$
Roadway Underdrain Credit: Not Needed LF -3000 33.88$ (101,640.00)$
Contractor Warranty Bond Credit: N/A LS -1 28,000.00$ (28,000.00)$
CO 8 As-Built Credit: Not Needed LS -1 3,000.00$ (3,000.00)$

-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$
-$

(118,515.30)$Total Contract Change

Change Order 14 Seeding & Final Quantity Adjustment

       | Charlie Freshwater - President | Rick Johns - Vice President

www.jaxum.com Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 3 of 3

Est. 1974 



CHANGE ORDER
No.

DATE OF ISSUANCE: EFFECTIVE DATE:

 OWNER's Contract No. N.A.

OWNER: Six Mile Creek Community Development District
CONTRACTOR:
Contract: Trailmark Phase 12

Project: Trailmark Phase 12
ENGINEER's Contract No. 20-277
ENGINEER: England Thims and Miller, Inc.

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:

Description:

Reason for Change:
Attachments: (List documents supporting change) Jax Utilities Management, Inc. dated

By execution of this change order document, the Contractor acknowledges that all issues related to Contract Time and Compensation for the
work associated with these changes are resolved.

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE: CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:

Original Contract Price

$ 11,492,616.00

Original Contract Times:
Substantial Completion: 480
Ready for final payment: 540

(days)

Net Increase/Decrease from previous Change Orders
No. 0 to No.

$

Net change from previous Change Orders No. -0- to No.
Substantial Completion: .

Ready for final payment:
(days)

Contract Price prior to this Change Order:

$

Contract Times prior to this Change Order:
Substantial Completion:
Ready for final payment:

(days)
Net Increas / of this Change Order:

Net Increase this Change Order:
Substantial Completion:
eady for final payment: .

(days)

Contract Price with all approved Change Orders:

$

Contract Times with all approved Change Orders:
Substantial Completion: 5

Ready for final payment:
(days)

RECOMMENDED: APPROVED: ACCEPTED:
By: By: By: _____________________
 ENGINEER (Authorized Signature) OWNER (Authorized Signature)  CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

Date: Date: Date: ___________________
EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

March 31, 2025

Ü»½®»¿»Increas //Ü»½®»¿»

25 

March 31, 2025 March 31 2025 

Jax Utilities Management, Inc. 

Cast iron grate and final SOY adjustment 

_Contract amount finalization 
proposed change order March 28, 2025 

-
-

Decrease from previous Change Orders -- ---1.4 
- 24 ---2.L 

91 
(294 860.38) 

571 
11,197,755.62 631 

$ (70,314.00) 0 ----
R 0 

71 
11,127,441.62 631 ---

ACCEPTED: c/c / / 
s~tt- ~It,, c--v c--v 
>NTRACTOR (Autho1ized Signature) 

March 31, 2025 



cAANGE ORDER REQUEST 

GeJWiJuJ, flE 'fW-'lid-a Gince, f 974 

The contract is changed as follows: 

Item Previous Change Orders 

01 Various changes. See SOV. 

02 4A Concrete & Asphalt Repairs 

03 ADS Credit 

04 SA & 7 Concrete & Asphalt Repairs 

05 Material Deduct 

06 Wetland Outfall 

07 TM-11 Repairs Paid by Owner Damage Allstate Elec. 

08 Rec Pond Storm and Import Credit Roadway and Lots 

09 Pothole Repairs 

10 Mail Kiosk 

11 FPL Easement Road 

12 Grading Amenity Center 

13 Mod EX-305A Knockout 

14 Rain Days (2) 

15 FPL Easment Certified As-builts 

16 FPL Electric 

17 Cronin Utilities 

18 Re-Grade Wetland Outfall 

19 Teco Damage 

20 TM-11 Curb & Pond 32 Repair 

21 8' Path at Rec Pond 

22 Cronin Drive 

23 Tree Removal 

Project: Trailmark 12 

Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD 

Engineer: .E!!S_land-Thims & Miller 

Qty Unit Unit Price 

1 LS $722,431.60 

1 LS $462,598.75 

1 LS -$42,800.00 

1 LS $301,081.75 

1 LS -$1,410,064.73 

1 LS $411,000.00 

1 LS -$16,671.25 

1 LS -$1, 194,560.00 

1 LS $1,500.00 

1 LS $88,970.00 

1 LS $96,750.00 

1 LS $7,105.00 

1 LS $4,300.00 

1 LS $0.00 

1 LS $3,000.00 

1 LS -$156,050.50 

1 LS $52,906.00 

1 LS $37,090.00 

1 LS $2,800.00 

1 LS $12,908.00 

1 LS $115,050.00 

1 LS $196,895.00 

1 LS $1,800.00 

Change Order No: _2_s __ 

Date: 3/28/2025 

Contract tor: SITE WORK 

Total Price 

$722,431.60 

$462,598.75 

-$42,800.00 

$301,081.75 

-$1,410,064.73 

$411,000.00 

-$16,671.25 

-$1, 194,560.00 

$1,500.00 

$88,970.00 

$96,750.00 

$7,105.00 

$4,300.00 

$0.00 

$3,000.00 

-$156,050.50 

$52,906.00 

$37,090.00 

$2,800.00 

$12,908.00 

$115,050.00 

$196,895.00 

$1,800.00 



24 Multi Path Repair 

SUMMARY The original Contract Sum was: 

The net change by previously au1horized Change Orders: 

The Contract Sum pior to this Change Order was: 

The Contract Sum will be increased (decreased) by 

this Change Order in the amount of: 

The new Contract Sum including 1his Change Order will be: 

TIME 

The original commencement date was: 2/21/2023 

Original days to Substantial Completion was: 

Original days to Final Completion was: 

Days added prior to this change order was: 

480 
540 
91 

571 
631 

days 
days 

days 

ays 
da• 

Date: 
Date: 

6/15/2024 
8/14/2024 

$ 

$ 

$ 

LS $7,100.00 

11,492,616.00 

-$294,860.38 

11,197,755.62 

-$70,314.00 

11,127,441.62 

$7,100.00 

Days will be increased (decreased) by: 0 days 



Date 3/28/2025

Project: Trailmark 12
Owner: Six Mile Creek CDD

Engineer: England-Thims & Miller
Geotech: ECS of Florida, LLC
Surveyor: Clary & Associates, Inc.

Item Cast Iron Grate & Final SOV  Adjustments Quantity Units Unit Price Total Price

1 28x28 Coast Iron Grate EP-1 1 LS 950.00$ 950.00$
2 Credit Contractor Warranty -1 LS 28,000.00$ (28,000.00)$
3 Credit CO 22 Import Fill Not Needed -1664 CY 26.00$ (43,264.00)$
4 -$
5 -$
6 -$
7 -$
8 -$
9 -$

10 -$
11 -$
12 -$
14 -$
15 -$
16 -$
17 -$
18 -$
20 Notes -$

-$

Total (70,314.00)$

Change Order Proposal & Scope of Work

                  Charlie Freshwater - President | Rick Johns - Vice President | Steven Jordan - CFO

www.jaxum.com Serving Northeast Florida Since 1974 3 of 3



https://etmrma-my.sharepoint.com/personal/blairs_etminc_com/Documents/Desktop/ALL CDD'S - Copy/Sixmile CDD (Whisper Creek)/Work Authorizations/Work 
Auth No. 84 Pacetti Road Traffic Signal.doc 

           21-363-02 
 

 
 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

WORK AUTHORIZATION NO.  84 
PACETTI ROAD TRAFFIC SIGNAL 

 
 
 

Scope of Work 
England, Thims & Miller, Inc. (ETM) shall provide general consulting engineering services for the Six Mile Creek Community 

Development District as directed by the Board of Supervisors or their designee.  General consulting services shall include, but not 
be limited to: 
 

 
TASK I – CEI SERVICES  

ETM proposes to perform limited construction administration for Phase 13 throughout the construction and closeout phase of 
the project.  This task includes the following services: 
 

1. Contract Document Preparation Assistance 
2. Part-time Field Representation 

3. Shop Drawing Review 
4. Owner Authorized Site Visits 

5. As-Built Review 
6. Regulatory Agency Required Inspections 

7. Certification to St. Johns County 
8.  Review of Contractors Pay Requests 

9.  Assistance with St. Johns County  
10.   FPL Coordination 

11.   Progress Reports 

 

FEE…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..………HOURLY 
(HOURLY BUDGET ESTIMATE = $3,950.00/MONTH) 

(NOT TO EXCEED $55,300.00 OVER A 14-MONTH PERIOD WITHOUT FURTHER AUTHORIZATION) 
 

BASIS OF ESTIMATE 

 Executive Vice President 2.0 hours/month @ $370/hour = $  740.00 
 Project Manager 4.0 hours/month @ $225/hour = $  900.00 

 Engineer 5.0 hours/month @ $190/hour = $  950.00 
 CEI Project Manager 2.0 hours/month @ $205/hour = $  410.00 
 CEI Inspector 6.0 hours/month @ $140/hour = $  840.00 

 Administrative Support 1.0 hours/month @ $110.00/hour = $  110.00 
  TOTAL    $3,950.00 

 
 



https://etmrma-my.sharepoint.com/personal/blairs_etminc_com/Documents/Desktop/ALL CDD'S - Copy/Sixmile CDD (Whisper Creek)/Work 
Authorizations/Work Auth No. 84 Pacetti Road Traffic Signal.doc 

England, Thims & Miller, Inc. will perform additional services, as may be requested, at the following hourly rates:  

ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLER, INC. 

HOURLY FEE SCHEDULE - 2025 

 CEO/Chairman/Founder………………………………………………………………. $475.00 /Hr. 
 Executive Vice President………………………………………………………………. $370.00 /Hr. 

 Principal - Vice President ..…………………………………………………………… 
 Vice President ……………………………………………………………………………… 

$305.00 
$295.00  

/Hr. 
/Hr.  

 Senior Advisor ……………………………………………………………………………… $290.00 /Hr. $325.00 /Hr. 

 Senior Engineer/ Senior Project Manager……………………………………… $255.00 /Hr. 

    Project Manager/Construction Project Manager…………………………. $225.00 /Hr. 

Director………………………………………………………………………………………… $210.00 /Hr. 

Engineer………………………………………………………………………………………. $190.00 /Hr. 

Assistant Project Manager …………………………………………………………… $165.00 /Hr. 

Senior Planner /Planning Manager………………………………………………. $225.00 /Hr. 

Senior Environmental Scientist……………………………………………….…… $240.00 /Hr. 

Planner………………………………………………………………………………………… $170.00 /Hr. 

CEI Senior Project Engineer………………………………………………………….. $320.00 /Hr. 

    Senior Construction Representative.………………………………………….. $205.00 /Hr.  
Construction Representative…………………………………………………….. $180.00 /Hr. 

CEI Inspector ……………………………………………………………………………….. $140.00 /Hr. 

Senior Landscape Architect………………………………………………………….. $215.00 /Hr. 

Landscape Architect…………………………………………………………………….. $190.00 /Hr. 

 GIS Director  ………………………………………………………………………………… $205.00 /Hr. 

 GIS Solutions/Engineer/Manager………………………………………..……..……. $185.00 /Hr. 

GIS Analyst ………………………………………………………………………………….. $155.00 /Hr. 

GIS Consultant……………………………………………………………………………… $165.00 /Hr. 

GIS Specialist………………………………………………………………………………. $150.00 /Hr. 

    Senior Engineering Designer ……………………………………………………….. $170.00 /Hr. 

    Senior Landscape Designer………………………………………………………….  $170.00 /Hr. 

Engineering/Landscape Designer…………………………………………………. $155.00 /Hr. 

Engineering Intern……………………………………………………………………….. $150.00 /Hr. 

CADD/GIS Technician…………………………………………………………………… $145.00 /Hr. 

Project Coordinator / CSS…………………………………………………………….. $120.00 /Hr. 

Administrative Support………………………………………………………………… $110.00 /Hr. 

*ETM’s standard hourly billing rates are reevaluated annually, prior to the beginning of the calendar year.

Cost such as subconsultants, printing, telephone, delivery service, mileage and travel shall be invoiced at direct costs . 

Approval 

Submitted by:  _____________________________________ Date:_________________, 2025 
England, Thims & Miller, Inc. 

Approved by: ______________________________________ Date: ________________, 2025 
 Six Mile Creek Community Development District 

April 22



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Flock Safety + FL - Six Mile Creek 

CDD 
______________ 
 
Flock Group Inc. 
1170 Howell Mill Rd, Suite 210 
Atlanta, GA 30318 
______________ 
 
MAIN CONTACT: 
Erica Graham 
erica.graham@flocksafety.com 
9045131590 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT A  
ORDER FORM 

 

Customer: FL - Six Mile Creek CDD  Initial Term: 24 Months 
Legal Entity Name: FL - Six Mile Creek CDD  Renewal Term: 24 Months 

Accounts Payable Email: ssweeting@gmsnf.com  Payment Terms: Net 15 
Address: 2175 Swallowtail Lane Saint Augustine, Florida 

32092 
 Billing Frequency: Annual Plan - First Year Invoiced at Signing.            
 Retention Period: 30 Days 
   

 
Hardware and Software Products 
Annual recurring amounts over subscription term 
 
Item Cost Quantity Total 

Flock Safety Platform   $2,500.00 

Flock Safety Flock OS    

FlockOS ™ - Community Included 1 Included 

Flock Safety LPR Products    

Flock Safety LPR - Neighborhoods, fka Sparrow Included 1 Included 
 
 

Professional Services and One Time Purchases 
    

Item Cost Quantity Total 

One Time Fees    

Flock Safety Professional Services    

Professional Services - Standard Implementation Fee $325.00 1 $325.00 
 

 

 
  Subtotal Year 1: $2,825.00 

  Annual Recurring Subtotal: $2,500.00 

  Discounts: $325.00 

  Estimated Tax: $0.00 

  Contract Total: $5,325.00 

 
Taxes shown above are provided as an estimate. Actual taxes are the responsibility of the Customer. This Agreement will automatically renew for successive 

renewal terms of the greater of one year or the length set forth on the Order Form (each, a “Renewal Term”) unless either Party gives the other Party 
notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then-current term.  

 
The Term for Flock Hardware shall commence upon first installation and validation, except that the Term for any Flock Hardware that requires self-

installation shall commence upon execution of the Agreement. In the event a Customer purchases more than one type of Flock Hardware, the earliest Term 
start date shall control. In the event a Customer purchases software only, the Term shall commence upon execution of the Agreement. 

 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

f i'ock safety 



 

Billing Schedule 
 

Billing Schedule Amount (USD) 

Year 1  

At Contract Signing $2,825.00 

Annual Recurring after Year 1 $2,500.00 

Contract Total $5,325.00 
*Tax not included 

 
 

Discounts 
 

Discounts Applied Amount (USD) 

Flock Safety Platform $0.00 

Flock Safety Add-ons $0.00 

Flock Safety Professional Services $325.00 

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



Product and Services Description 
Flock Safety Platform Items Product Description 

FlockOS ™ - Community 
An integrated public safety platform that detects, centralizes and decodes actionable evidence to increase safety, improve efficiency, and connect the 
community. 

Flock Safety LPR - 
Neighborhoods, fka Sparrow 

Residential grade infrastructure-free (solar power + LTE) license plate recognition camera with Vehicle Fingerprint ™ technology (proprietary 
machine learning software) and real-time alerts for unlimited users. 

Professional Services - Standard 
Implementation Fee 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site and safety assessment, camera setup and testing, and shipping and handling in accordance 
with the Flock Safety Standard Implementation Service Brief. 

 

FlockOS Features & Description 
FlockOS Features Description 

Community Network Access 
The ability to request direct access to feeds from privately owned Flock Safety Falcon® LPR cameras 
located in neighborhoods, schools, and businesses in your community, significantly increasing actionable 
evidence that clears cases. 

Unlimited Users Unlimited users for FlockOS 

Time & Location Based Search Search full, partial, and temporary plates by time at particular device locations 

License Plate Lookup Look up specific license plate location history captured on Flock devices 

Vehicle Fingerprint Search Search footage using Vehicle Fingerprint™ technology. Access vehicle type, make, color, license plate 
state, missing / covered plates, and other unique features like bumper stickers, decals, and roof racks. 

ESRI Based Map Interface Map-based interface that consolidates all data streams and the locations of each connected asset, enabling 
greater situational awareness and a common operating picture. 

Real-Time NCIC alerts sent to Shared Agencies Alert sent to any shared community Law Enforcement agency when a vehicle entered into the NCIC crime 
database passes by a Flock camera 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 
By executing this Order Form, Customer represents and warrants that it has read and agrees all of the terms 

and conditions contained in the Terms of Service located at  

 
https://www.flocksafety.com/cs-terms-and-conditions  
 
The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates set forth below. 
 

FLOCK GROUP, INC.  Customer: FL - Six Mile Creek CDD 
 

By: 
\FSSignature2\ 

 By: 
\FSSignature1\ 

Name: 
\FSFullname2\ 

 Name: 
\FSFullname1\ 

Title: 
\FSTitle2\ 

 Title: 
\FSTitle1\ 

Date: 
\FSDateSigned2\ 

 Date: 
\FSDateSigned1\ 

 
 

 PO Number: 
 

 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8E

2025-04-04

Chair

Michelle Sutton

Docusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

General Counsel

Mark Smith

4/8/2025

https://www.flocksafety.com/cs-terms-and-conditions


 

Master Services Agreement 
 

This Master Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Flock  
 
Group, Inc. with a place of business at 1170 Howell Mill Road NW Suite 210, Atlanta, GA  
 
30318 (“Flock”) and the entity identified in the signature block (“Customer”) (each a “Party,”  
 
and together, the “Parties”). This Agreement is effective on the date of mutual execution  
 
(“Effective Date”). Parties will sign an Order Form (“Order Form”) which will describe the  
 
Flock Services to be performed and the period for performance, attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Flock offers a software and hardware situational awareness solution 

through Flock’s technology platform that upon detection is capable of capturing audio, video, 

image, and recording data and provide notifications to Customer (“Notifications”); 

WHEREAS, Customer desires access to the Flock Services (defined below) on existing 

devices, provided by Customer, or Flock provided Flock Hardware (as defined below) in order to 

create, view, search and archive Footage and receive Notifications, via the Flock Services; 

WHEREAS, Customer shall have access to the Footage in Flock Services. Pursuant to 

Flock’s standard Retention Period (defined below) Flock deletes all Footage on a rolling thirty 

(30) day basis, except as otherwise stated on the Order Form. Customer shall be responsible 

for extracting, downloading and archiving Footage from the Flock Services on its own storage 

devices; and 

WHEREAS, Flock desires to provide Customer the Flock Services and any access 

thereto, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, solely for the awareness, 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

prevention, and prosecution of crime, bona fide investigations and evidence gathering for law 

enforcement purposes, (“Permitted Purpose”). 

 

AGREEMENT 
NOW, THEREFORE, Flock and Customer agree that this Agreement, and any Order 

Form, purchase orders, statements of work, product addenda, or the like, attached hereto as 

exhibits and incorporated by reference, constitute the complete and exclusive statement of the 

Agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and replace and 

supersede all prior agreements, term sheets, purchase orders, correspondence, oral or written 

communications and negotiations by and between the Parties. 

1. DEFINITIONS 
Certain capitalized terms, not otherwise defined herein, have the meanings set forth or 

cross-referenced in this Section 1. 

1.1 “Anonymized Data” means Customer Data permanently stripped of identifying details and 

any potential personally identifiable information, by commercially available standards which 

irreversibly alters data in such a way that a data subject (i.e., individual person or entity) can no 

longer be identified directly or indirectly. 

1.2 “Authorized End User(s)” means any individual employees, agents, or contractors of 

Customer accessing or using the Services, under the rights granted to Customer pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

1.3 “Customer Data” means the data, media and content provided by Customer through the 

Services. For the avoidance of doubt, the Customer Data will include the Footage. 

1.4. “Customer Hardware” means the third-party camera owned or provided by Customer and 

any other physical elements that interact with the Embedded Software and the Web Interface to 

provide the Services. 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

1.5 “Embedded Software” means the Flock proprietary software and/or firmware integrated with 

or installed on the Flock Hardware or Customer Hardware. 

1.6 “Flock Hardware” means the Flock device(s), which may include the pole, clamps, 

solar panel, installation components, and any other physical elements that interact with the 

Embedded Software and the Web Interface, to provide the Flock Services as specifically set 

forth in the applicable product addenda. 

1.7 “Flock IP” means the Services, the Embedded Software, and any intellectual property or 

proprietary information therein or otherwise provided to Customer and/or its Authorized 

End Users. Flock IP does not include Footage (as defined below). 

1.8 “Flock Network End User(s)” means any user of the Flock Services that Customer 

authorizes access to or receives data from, pursuant to the licenses granted herein. 

1.9 “Flock Services” means the provision of Flock’s software and hardware situational 

awareness solution, via the Web Interface, for automatic license plate detection, alerts, audio 

detection, searching image records, video and sharing Footage. 

1.10 “Footage” means still images, video, audio and other data captured by the Flock Hardware 

or Customer Hardware in the course of and provided via the Flock Services. 

1.11 “Hotlist(s)” means a digital file containing alphanumeric license plate related information 

pertaining to vehicles of interest, which may include stolen vehicles, stolen vehicle license 

plates, vehicles owned or associated with wanted or missing person(s), vehicles suspected of 

being involved with criminal or terrorist activities, and other legitimate law enforcement 

purposes. Hotlist also includes, but is not limited to, national data (i.e., NCIC) for similar 

categories, license plates associated with AMBER Alerts or Missing Persons/Vulnerable Adult 

Alerts, and includes manually entered license plate information associated with crimes that have 

occurred in any local jurisdiction. 

1.12 “Installation Services” means the services provided by Flock for installation of 

Flock Services. 

1.13 “Retention Period” means the time period that the Customer Data is stored within the cloud 

storage, as specified in the product addenda. 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

1.14 “Vehicle FingerprintTM” means the unique vehicular attributes captured through Services 

such as: type, make, color, state registration, missing/covered plates, bumper stickers, decals, 

roof racks, and bike racks. 

1.15 “Web Interface” means the website(s) or application(s) through which Customer and its 
Authorized End Users can access the Services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. SERVICES AND SUPPORT 
 

2.1 Provision of Access. Flock hereby grants to Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable 

right to access the features and functions of the Flock Services via the Web Interface during the 

Term, solely for the Authorized End Users. The Footage will be available for Authorized End 

Users to access and download via the Web Interface for the data retention time defined on the 

Order Form (“Retention Period”). Authorized End Users will be required to sign up for an 

account and select a password and username (“User ID”). Flock  shall  not be responsible for all 

acts and omissions of Authorized End Users, and any act or omission by an Authorized End User 

which, including any acts or omissions of authorized End user which would constitute a breach 

of this agreement if undertaken by customer. Customer shall undertake reasonable efforts to 

make all Authorized End Users aware of all applicable provisions of this Agreement and shall 

cause Authorized End Users to comply with such provisions. Flock may use the services of one 

or more third parties to deliver any part of the Flock Services, (such as using a third party to host 

the Web Interface for cloud storage or a cell phone provider for wireless cellular coverage). 

Flock agrees to preserve all public records in accordance with Florida law. Flock will not 

produce “exempt” records or “confidential and exempt” records, as such terms are defined by 

Florida law, except as authorized by Florida law. 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

 

2.2 Embedded Software License. Flock grants Customer a limited, non-exclusive, 

nontransferable, non-sublicensable (except to the Authorized End Users), revocable right to use 

the Embedded Software as it pertains to Flock Services, solely as necessary for Customer to use 

the Flock Services. 

 

2.3 Support Services. Flock shall monitor the Flock Services, and any applicable device health, 

in order to improve performance and functionality. Flock will use commercially reasonable 

efforts to respond to requests for support within seventy-two (72) hours. Flock will provide 

Customer with reasonable technical and on-site support and maintenance services in-person, via 

phone or by email at support@flocksafety.com (such services collectively referred to as 

“Support Services”). 

 

2.4 Upgrades to Platform. Flock may make any upgrades to system or platform that it deems 

necessary or useful to (i) maintain or enhance the quality or delivery of Flock’s products or 

services to its agencies, the competitive strength of, or market for, Flock’s products or services, 

such platform or system’s cost efficiency or performance, or (ii) to comply with applicable law. 

Parties understand that such upgrades are necessary from time to time and will not diminish the 

quality of the services or materially change any terms or conditions within this Agreement. 

 

2.5 Service Interruption. Services may be interrupted in the event that: (a) Flock’s provision of 

the Services to Customer or any Authorized End User is prohibited by applicable law; (b) any 

third-party services required for Services are interrupted; (c) if Flock reasonably believe 

Services are being used for malicious, unlawful, or otherwise unauthorized use; (d) there is a 

threat or attack on any of the Flock IP by a third party; or (e) scheduled or emergency 

maintenance (“Service Interruption”). Flock will make commercially reasonable efforts to 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

mailto:hello@flocksafety.com


 

provide written notice of any Service Interruption to Customer, to provide updates, and to 

resume providing access to Flock Services as soon as reasonably possible after the event giving 

rise to the Service Interruption is cured. Flock will have no liability for any damage, liabilities, 

losses (including any loss of data or profits), or any other consequences that Customer or any 

Authorized End User may incur as a result of a Service Interruption. To the extent that the 

Service Interruption is not caused by Customer’s direct actions or by the actions of parties 

associated with the 

Customer, the time will be tolled by the duration of the Service Interruption (for any continuous 

suspension lasting at least one full day). For example, in the event of a Service Interruption 

lasting five (5) continuous days, Customer will receive a credit for five (5) free days at the end 

of the Term. 

 

2.6 Service Suspension. Flock may temporarily suspend Customer’s and any Authorized End 

User’s access to any portion or all of the Flock IP or Flock Service if (a) there is a threat or 

attack on any of the Flock IP by Customer; (b) Customer’s or any Authorized End User’s use of 

the Flock IP disrupts or poses a security risk to the Flock IP or any other customer or vendor of 

Flock; (c) Customer or any Authorized End User is/are using the Flock IP for fraudulent or 

illegal activities; (d) Customer has violated any term of this provision, including, but not limited 

to, utilizing Flock Services for anything other than the Permitted Purpose; or (e) any 

unauthorized access to Flock Services through Customer’s account (“Service Suspension”). 

Customer shall not be entitled to any remedy for the Service Suspension period, including any 

reimbursement, tolling, or credit. If the Service Suspension was not caused by Customer, the 

Term will be tolled by the duration of the Service Suspension. 

 

2.7 Hazardous Conditions. Flock Services do not contemplate hazardous materials, 

or other hazardous conditions, including, without limit, asbestos, lead, toxic or 

flammable substances. In the event any such hazardous materials are discovered in 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

the designated locations in which Flock is to perform services under this Agreement, 

Flock shall have the right to cease work immediately. 

3. CUSTOMER OBLIGATIONS 

3.1 Customer Obligations. Flock will assist Customer Authorized End Users in the creation of a 

User ID. Authorized End Users agree to provide Flock with accurate, complete, and updated 

registration information. Authorized End Users may not select as their User ID, a name that they 

do not have the right to use, or any other name with the intent of impersonation. Customer and 

Authorized End Users may not transfer their account to anyone else without prior written 

permission of Flock. Authorized End Users shall not share their account username or password 

information and must protect the security of the username and password. Unless otherwise stated 

and defined in this Agreement, Customer shall not designate Authorized End Users for persons 

who are not officers, employees, or agents of Customer. Authorized End Users shall only use 

Customer-issued email addresses for the creation of their User ID. Flock is not responsible for 

any Authorized End User activity associated with Customer’s account. Customer shall ensure 

that Customer provides Flock with up to date contact information at all times during the Term of 

this agreement. Customer shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining any equipment and 

ancillary services needed to connect to, access or otherwise use the Flock Services. Customer 

shall (at its own expense) provide Flock with reasonable access and use of Customer facilities 

and Customer personnel in order to enable Flock to perform Services (such obligations of 

Customer are collectively defined as “Customer Obligations”). 

 

3.2 Customer Representations and Warranties. Customer represents, covenants, and warrants 

that Customer shall use Flock Services only in compliance with this Agreement and all 

applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited to any laws relating to the recording 

or sharing of data, video, photo, or audio content. 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

 

4. DATA USE AND LICENSING 
4.1 Customer Data. As between Flock and Customer, all right, title and interest in the Customer 

Data, belong to and are retained solely by Customer. Customer hereby grants to Flock a limited, 

non-exclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable, worldwide license to use the Customer Data and 

perform all acts as may be necessary for Flock to provide the Flock Services to Customer. Flock 

does not own and shall not sell Customer Data. Flock agrees to preserve all public records in 

accordance with Florida law. Flock will not produce “exempt” records or “confidential and 

exempt” records, as such terms are defined by Florida law, except as authorized by Florida law.  

 

4.2 Customer Generated Data. Flock may provide Customer with the opportunity to post, 

upload, display, publish, distribute, transmit, broadcast, or otherwise make available, messages, 

text, illustrations, files, images, graphics, photos, comments, sounds, music, videos, information, 

content, ratings, reviews, data, questions, suggestions, or other information or materials produced 

by Customer (“Customer Generated Data”). Customer shall retain whatever legally cognizable 

right, title, and interest in Customer Generated Data. Customer understands and acknowledges 

that Flock has no obligation to monitor or enforce Customer’s intellectual property rights of 

Customer Generated Data. Customer grants Flock a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide, 

royalty-free, license to use the Customer Generated Data for the purpose of providing Flock 

Services. Flock does not own and shall not sell Customer Generated Data. Flock agrees to 

preserve all public records in accordance with Florida law. Flock will not produce “exempt” 

records or “confidential and exempt” records, as such terms are defined by Florida law, except as 

authorized by Florida law. 

 

4.3 Anonymized Data. Flock shall have the right to collect, analyze, and anonymize Customer 

Data and Customer Generated Data to the extent such anonymization renders the data 

non-identifiable to create Anonymized Data to use and perform the Services and related systems 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

and technologies, including the training of machine learning algorithms. Customer hereby grants 

Flock a non-exclusive, worldwide, perpetual, royalty-free right to use and distribute such 

Anonymized Data to improve and enhance the Services and for other development, diagnostic 

and corrective purposes, and other Flock offerings. Parties understand that the aforementioned 

license is required for continuity of Services. Flock does not own and shall not sell Anonymized  

Data. Flock agrees to preserve all public records in accordance with Florida law. Flock will not 

produce “exempt” records or “confidential and exempt” records, as such terms are defined by 

Florida law, except as authorized by Florida law. 

5. CONFIDENTIALITY; DISCLOSURES 
5.1 Confidentiality. To the extent required by any applicable public records requests, each Party 

(the “Receiving Party”) understands that the other Party (the “Disclosing Party”) has disclosed 

or may disclose business, technical or financial information relating to the Disclosing Party’s 

business (hereinafter referred to as “Proprietary Information” of the Disclosing Party). 

Proprietary Information of Flock includes non-public information regarding features, 

functionality and performance of the Services. Proprietary Information of Customer includes 

non-public data provided by Customer to Flock or collected by Flock via Flock Services, which 

includes but is not limited to geolocation information and environmental data collected by 

sensors. The Receiving Party agrees: (i) to take the same security precautions to protect against 

disclosure or unauthorized use of such Proprietary Information that the Party takes with its own 

proprietary information, but in no event less than commercially reasonable precautions, and (ii) 

not to use (except in performance of the Services or as otherwise permitted herein) or divulge to 

any third person any such Proprietary Information. The Disclosing Party agrees that the 

foregoing shall not apply with respect to any information that the Receiving Party can document 

(a) is or becomes generally available to the public; or (b) was in its possession or known by it 

prior to receipt from the Disclosing Party; or (c) was rightfully disclosed to it without restriction 

by a third party; or (d) was independently developed without use of any Proprietary Information 

of the Disclosing Party. Nothing in this Agreement will prevent the Receiving Party from 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

disclosing the Proprietary Information pursuant to any judicial or governmental order, provided 

that the Receiving Party gives the Disclosing Party reasonable prior notice of such disclosure to 

contest such order. At the termination of this Agreement, all Proprietary Information will be 

returned to the Disclosing Party, destroyed or erased (if recorded on an erasable storage 

medium), together with any copies thereof, when no longer needed for the purposes above, or 

upon request from the Disclosing Party, and in any case upon termination of the Agreement. 

Notwithstanding any termination, all confidentiality obligations of Proprietary Information that 

is trade secret shall continue in perpetuity or until such information is no longer trade secret.  

 

5.2 Usage Restrictions on Flock IP. Flock and its licensors retain all right, title and interest in 

and to the Flock IP and its components, and Customer acknowledges that it neither owns nor 

acquires any additional rights in and to the foregoing not expressly granted by this Agreement. 

Customer further acknowledges that Flock retains the right to use the foregoing for any purpose 

in Flock’s sole discretion. Customer and Authorized End Users shall not: (i) copy or duplicate 

any of the Flock IP; (ii) decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer, or otherwise attempt to obtain 

or perceive the source code from which any software component of any of the Flock IP is 

compiled or interpreted, or apply any other process or procedure to derive the source code of any 

software included in the Flock IP; (iii) attempt to modify, alter, tamper with or repair any of the 

Flock IP, or attempt to create any derivative product from any of the foregoing; (iv) interfere or 

attempt to interfere in any manner with the functionality or proper working of any of the Flock 

IP; (v) remove, obscure, or alter any notice of any intellectual property or proprietary right 

appearing on or contained within the Flock Services or Flock IP; (vi) use the Flock Services for 

anything other than the Permitted Purpose; or (vii) assign, sublicense, sell, resell, lease, rent, or 

otherwise transfer, convey, pledge as security, or otherwise encumber, Customer’s rights. There 

are no implied rights. 

 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

5.3 Disclosure of Footage. Subject to and during the Retention Period, Flock may access, use, 

preserve and/or disclose the Footage to law enforcement authorities, government officials, and/or 

third parties, if legally required to do so or if Flock has a good faith belief that such access, use, 

preservation or disclosure is reasonably necessary to comply with a legal process, enforce this 

Agreement, or detect, prevent or otherwise address security, privacy, fraud or technical issues, or 

emergency situations. Flock agrees to preserve all public records in accordance with Florida law. 

Flock will not produce “exempt” records or “confidential and exempt” records, as such terms are 

defined by Florida law, except as authorized by Florida law. 

6. PAYMENT OF FEES 

6.1 Billing and Payment of Fees. Customer shall pay the fees set forth in the applicable Order 

Form based on the billing structure and payment terms as indicated in the Order Form. If 

Customer believes that Flock has billed Customer incorrectly, Customer must contact Flock no 

later than thirty (30) days after the closing date on the first invoice in which the error or problem 

appeared to receive an adjustment or credit. Customer acknowledges and agrees that a failure to 

contact Flock within this period will serve as a waiver of any claim. If any undisputed fee is 

more than thirty (30) days overdue, Flock may, without limiting its other rights and remedies, 

suspend delivery of its service until such undisputed invoice is paid in full. Flock shall provide at 

least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Customer of the payment delinquency before 

exercising any suspension right. 

 

6.2 Notice of Changes to Fees. Flock reserves the right to change the fees for subsequent 

Renewal Terms by providing sixty (60) days’ notice (which may be sent by email) prior to the 

end of the Initial Term or Renewal Term (as applicable). 

 

 

 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

6.3 Late Fees. If payment is not issued to Flock by the due date of the invoice or such time as 

required by Florida’s Prompt Payment Act (to the extent applicable) , an interest penalty of 

1.0% of any unpaid amount , or the maximum permitted by Florida law, whichever is lower, 

may be added for each month or fraction thereafter, until final payment is made. 

 

6.4 Taxes. Customer is responsible for all taxes, levies, or duties, excluding only taxes based 

on Flock’s net income, imposed by taxing authorities associated with the order. If Flock has 

the legal obligation to pay or collect taxes, including amount subsequently assessed by a taxing 

authority, for which Customer is responsible, the appropriate amount shall be invoice to and 

paid by Customer unless Customer provides Flock a legally sufficient tax exemption certificate 

and Flock shall not charge customer any taxes from which it is exempt. If any deduction or 

withholding is required by law, Customer shall notify Flock and shall pay Flock any additional 

amounts necessary to ensure that the net amount that Flock receives, after any deduction and 

withholding, equals the amount Flock would have received if no deduction or withholding had 

been required. 

7. TERM AND TERMINATION 

7.1 Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for the period of time set forth on the Order 

Form (the “Term”). Following the Term, unless otherwise indicated on the Order Form, this 

Agreement will automatically renew for successive renewal terms of the greater of one year or 

the length set forth on the Order Form (each, a “Renewal Term”) unless either Party gives the 

other Party notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then-current 

term. 

 

7.2 Termination. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, Flock will remove any 

applicable Flock Hardware at a commercially reasonable time period. In the event of any 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

material breach of this Agreement, the non-breaching Party may terminate this Agreement prior 

to the end of the Term by giving thirty (30) days prior written notice to the breaching Party; 

provided, however, that this Agreement will not terminate if the breaching Party has cured the 

breach prior to the expiration of such thirty (30) day period (“Cure Period”). Either Party may 

terminate this Agreement (i) upon the institution by or against the other Party of insolvency, 

receivership or bankruptcy proceedings, (ii) upon the other Party's making an assignment for the 

benefit of creditors, or (iii) upon the other Party's dissolution or ceasing to do business. In the 

event of a material breach by Flock, and Flock is unable to cure within the Cure Period, Flock 

will refund Customer a pro-rata portion of the pre-paid fees for Services not received due to such 

termination. 

7.3 Survival. The following Sections will survive termination: 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8.3, 8.4, 9, 11.1 and 

11.6. 

 
 

8. REMEDY FOR DEFECT; WARRANTY AND DISCLAIMER 

8.1 Manufacturer Defect. Upon a malfunction or failure of Flock Hardware or Embedded 

Software (a “Defect”), Customer must notify Flock’s technical support team. In the event of a 

Defect, Flock shall make a commercially reasonable attempt to repair or replace the defective 

Flock Hardware at no additional cost to the Customer. Flock reserves the right, in its sole 

discretion, to repair or replace such Defect, provided that Flock shall conduct inspection or 

testing within a commercially reasonable time, but no longer than seven (7) business days after 

Customer gives notice to Flock. 

 

8.2 Replacements. In the event that Flock Hardware is lost, stolen, or damaged, Customer may 

request a replacement of Flock Hardware at a fee according to the reinstall fee schedule 

(https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule). In the event that Customer chooses not to 

replace lost, damaged, or stolen Flock Hardware, Customer understands and agrees that (1) Flock 

Services will be materially affected, and (2) that Flock shall have no liability to Customer 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


 

regarding such affected Flock Services, nor shall Customer receive a refund for the lost, 

damaged, or stolen Flock Hardware. 

 

8.3 Warranty. Flock shall use reasonable efforts consistent with prevailing industry standards to 

maintain the Services in a manner which minimizes errors and interruptions in the Services and 

shall perform the Installation Services in a professional and workmanlike manner. Services may 

be temporarily unavailable for scheduled maintenance or for unscheduled emergency 

maintenance, either by Flock or by third-party providers, or because of other causes beyond 

Flock’s reasonable control, but Flock shall use reasonable efforts to provide advance notice in 

writing or by e-mail of any scheduled service disruption. 

 

8.4 Disclaimer. THE REMEDY DESCRIBED IN SECTION 8.1 ABOVE IS 

CUSTOMER’S SOLE REMEDY, AND FLOCK’S SOLE LIABILITY, WITH RESPECT 

TO DEFECTS. FLOCK DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE 

UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE; NOR DOES IT MAKE ANY WARRANTY AS 

TO THE RESULTS THAT MAY BE OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE SERVICES. 

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS SECTION, THE SERVICES ARE 

PROVIDED “AS IS” AND FLOCK DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR 

IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF 

MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND 

NON-INFRINGEMENT. THIS DISCLAIMER ONLY APPLIES TO THE EXTENT 

ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA. 

 

8.5 Insurance. Flock will maintain commercial general liability policies as stated in Exhibit B.  

 

8.6 Force Majeure. Parties are not responsible or liable for any delays or failures in 

performance from any cause beyond their control, including, but not limited to acts of God, 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

changes to law or regulations, embargoes, war, terrorist acts, pandemics (including the spread of 

variants), issues of national security, acts or omissions of third-party technology providers, riots, 

fires, earthquakes, floods, power blackouts, strikes, supply chain shortages of equipment or 

supplies, financial institution crisis, weather conditions or acts of hackers, internet service 

providers or any other third party acts or omissions. 

9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNITY 

9.1 Limitation of Liability. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, 

FLOCK, ITS OFFICERS, AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES, CONTRACTORS AND 

EMPLOYEES SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE WITH RESPECT TO ANY 

SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT OR TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATED 

THERETO UNDER ANY CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY, PRODUCT 

LIABILITY, OR OTHER THEORY: (A) FOR LOSS OF REVENUE, BUSINESS OR 

BUSINESS INTERRUPTION; (B) INCOMPLETE, CORRUPT, OR INACCURATE DATA; (C) 

COST OF PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS, SERVICES OR TECHNOLOGY; (D) 

FOR ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL 

DAMAGES; (E) FOR ANY MATTER BEYOND FLOCK’S ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OR 

REASONABLE CONTROL INCLUDING REPEAT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY OR INABILITY 

TO CAPTURE FOOTAGE; OR (F) FOR ANY AMOUNTS THAT, TOGETHER WITH 

AMOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH ALL OTHER CLAIMS, EXCEED THREE TIMES 

(3X)THE FEES PAID AND/OR PAYABLE BY CUSTOMER TO FLOCK FOR THE 

SERVICES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IN THE TWELVE (12) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE 

ACT OR OMISSION THAT GAVE RISE TO THE LIABILITY, IN EACH CASE, WHETHER 

OR NOT FLOCK HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY OF SECTION ONLY APPLIES TO THE EXTENT 

ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, THE FOREGOING 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SHALL NOT APPLY (I) IN THE EVENT OF GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, OR (II) INDEMNIFICATION 

OBLIGATIONS. 

 

9.2 Responsibility. Each Party to this Agreement shall assume the responsibility and liability for 

the acts and omissions of its own employees, officers, or agents, in connection with the 

performance of their official duties under this Agreement. Each Party to this Agreement shall be 

liable for the torts of its own officers, agents, or employees. 

 

9.3 Flock Indemnity. Flock shall indemnify and hold harmless Customer, its agents and 

employees, from liability of any kind, including claims, costs (including defense) and expenses, 

on account of: (i) any copyrighted material, patented or unpatented invention, articles, device or 

appliance manufactured or used in the performance of this Agreement; or (ii) any damage or 

injury to property or person directly caused by Flock’s installation of Flock Hardware, except for 

where such damage or injury was caused solely by the negligence of the Customer or its agents, 

officers or employees.  

 

9.4 Customer Indemnity. To the extent permitted by law, and without waiving any of the 

immunities or protections afforded to the Customer as a community development district under Florida 

law, Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Flock against any damages, losses, 

liabilities, settlements, and expenses in connection with any claim or action that arises from an 

alleged violation of Customer Obligations, Customer’s Installation Obligations, Customer’s 

sharing of any Customer Data, including any claim that such actions violate any applicable law 

or third party right. 

10. INSTALLATION SERVICES AND OBLIGATIONS 

 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

10.1 Ownership of Hardware. Flock Hardware is owned and shall remain the exclusive 

property of Flock. Title to any Flock Hardware shall not pass to Customer upon execution of this 

Agreement, except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement. Except as otherwise 

expressly stated in this Agreement, Customer is not permitted to remove, reposition, re-install, 

tamper with, alter, adjust or otherwise take possession or control of Flock Hardware. Customer 

agrees and understands that in the event Customer is found to engage in any of the foregoing 

restricted actions, all warranties herein shall be null and void, and this Agreement shall be 

subject to immediate termination for material breach by Customer. Customer shall not perform 

any acts which would interfere with the retention of title of the Flock Hardware by Flock. Should 

Customer default on any payment of the Flock Services, Flock may remove Flock Hardware at 

Flock’s discretion. Such removal, if made by Flock, shall not be deemed a waiver of Flock’s 

rights to any damages Flock may sustain as a result of Customer’s default and Flock shall have 

the right to enforce any other legal remedy or right. 

 

10.2 Deployment Plan. Flock shall advise Customer on the location and positioning of the Flock 

Hardware for optimal product functionality, as conditions and locations allow. Flock will 

collaborate with Customer to design the strategic geographic mapping of the location(s) and 

implementation of Flock Hardware to create a deployment plan (“Deployment Plan”). In the 

event that Flock determines that Flock Hardware will not achieve optimal functionality at a 

designated location, Flock shall have final discretion to veto a specific location, and will provide 

alternative options to Customer. 

 

10.3 Changes to Deployment Plan. After installation of Flock Hardware, any subsequent 

requested changes to the Deployment Plan, including, but not limited to, relocating, 

repositioning, adjusting of the mounting, removing foliage, replacement, changes to heights 

of poles will incur a fee according to the reinstall fee schedule located at 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

(https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule). Customer will receive prior notice and 

confirm approval of any such fees. 

 

10.4 Customer Installation Obligations. Customer is responsible for any applicable 

supplementary cost as described in the Customer Implementation Guide, attached hereto as 

Exhibit C (“Customer Obligations”). Customer represents and warrants that it has, or shall 

lawfully obtain, all necessary right title and authority and hereby authorizes Flock to install the 

Flock Hardware at the designated locations and to make any necessary inspections or 

maintenance in connection with such installation. 

 

10.5 Flock’s Obligations. Installation of any Flock Hardware shall be installed in a professional 

manner within a commercially reasonable time from the Effective Date of this Agreement. Upon 

removal of Flock Hardware, Flock shall restore the location to its original condition, ordinary 

wear and tear excepted. Flock will continue to monitor the performance of Flock Hardware for 

the length of the Term. Flock may use a subcontractor or third party to perform certain 

obligations under this agreement, provided that Flock’s use of such subcontractor or third party 

shall not release Flock from any duty or liability to fulfill Flock’s obligations under this 

Agreement. 

11. MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1 Compliance With Laws. Parties shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal 

laws, regulations, policies and ordinances and their associated record retention schedules, 

including responding to any subpoena request(s). 

 

11.2 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable or invalid, 

that provision will be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that this 

Agreement will otherwise remain in full force and effect. 

 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


 

11.3 Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable, transferable or sublicensable by either 

Party, without prior consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may assign this 

Agreement, without the other Party's consent, (i) to any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate entity, or 

(ii) to any purchaser of all or substantially all of such Party's assets or to any successor by way 

of merger, consolidation or similar transaction. 

 

11.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Order Form(s), the reinstall fee 

schedule (https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule), and any attached exhibits are the 

complete and exclusive statement of the mutual understanding of the Parties and supersedes 

and cancels all previous or contemporaneous negotiations, discussions or agreements, whether 

written and oral , communications and other understandings relating to the subject matter of 

this Agreement, and that all waivers and modifications must be in a writing signed by both 

Parties, except as otherwise provided herein. None of Customer’s purchase orders, 

authorizations or similar documents will alter the terms of this Agreement, and any such 

conflicting terms are expressly rejected. Any mutually agreed upon future purchase order is 

subject to these legal terms and does not alter the rights and obligations under this Agreement, 

except that future purchase orders may outline additional products, services, quantities and 

billing terms to be mutually accepted by Parties. In the event of any conflict of terms found in 

this Agreement or any other terms and conditions, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. 

Customer agrees that Customer’s purchase is neither contingent upon the delivery of any future 

functionality or features nor dependent upon any oral or written comments made by Flock with 

respect to future functionality or feature. 

 

11.5 Relationship. No agency, partnership, joint venture, or employment is created as a result of 

this Agreement and Parties do not have any authority of any kind to bind each other in any 

respect whatsoever. Flock shall at all times be and act as an independent contractor to Customer.  

 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


 

11.6 Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of Florida. The 

Parties hereto agree that venue shall be St. Johns County. The Parties agree that the United 

Nations Convention for the International Sale of Goods is excluded in its entirety from this 

Agreement. 

 

11.7 Special Terms. Flock may offer certain special terms which are indicated in the proposal 

and will become part of this Agreement, upon Customer’s prior written consent and the mutual  

execution by authorized representatives (“Special Terms”). To the extent that any terms of this 

Agreement are inconsistent or conflict with the Special Terms, the Special Terms shall control.  

 

11.8 Publicity. Flock has the right to reference and use Customer’s name and trademarks and 

disclose the nature of the Services in business and development and marketing efforts. 

 

11.9 Feedback. If Customer or Authorized End User provides any suggestions, ideas, 

enhancement requests, feedback, recommendations or other information relating to the subject 

matter hereunder, Agency or Authorized End User hereby assigns to Flock all right, title and 

interest (including intellectual property rights) with respect to or resulting from any of the 

foregoing. 

 

11.10 Export. Customer may not remove or export from the United States or allow the export 

or re-export of the Flock IP or anything related thereto, or any direct product thereof in 

violation of any restrictions, laws or regulations of the United States Department of 

Commerce, the United States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control, or 

any other United States or foreign Customer or authority. As defined in Federal Acquisition 

Regulation (“FAR”), section 2.101, the Services, the Flock Hardware and Documentation are 

“commercial items” and according to the Department of Defense Federal Acquisition 

Regulation (“DFAR”) section 252.2277014(a)(1) and are deemed to be “commercial 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

computer software” and “commercial computer software documentation.” Flock is compliant 

with FAR Section 889 and does not contract or do business with, use any equipment, system, 

or service that uses the enumerated banned Chinese telecommunication companies, equipment 

or services as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as 

part of any Flock system. Consistent with DFAR section 227.7202 and FAR section 12.212, 

any use, modification, reproduction, release, performance, display, or disclosure of such 

commercial software or commercial software documentation by the U.S. Government will be 

governed solely by the terms of this Agreement and will be prohibited except to the extent 

expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement. 

 

11.11 Headings. The headings are merely for organization and should not be construed as 

adding meaning to the Agreement or interpreting the associated sections. 

 

11.12 Authority. Each of the below signers of this Agreement represent that they understand this 

Agreement and have the authority to sign on behalf of and bind the Parties they are representing.  

11.13 Conflict. In the event there is a conflict between this Agreement and any applicable statement 

of work, or Customer purchase order, this Agreement controls unless explicitly stated otherwise. 

 

11.14  Notices. All notices under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to 

have been duly given when received, if personally delivered; when receipt is electronically 

confirmed, if transmitted by email; the day after it is sent, if sent for next day delivery by 

recognized overnight delivery service; and upon receipt to the address listed on the Order 

Form (or, if different, below), if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. 

 

11.15 Non-Appropriation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, all 

obligations of the Customer under this Agreement which require the expenditure of funds are 

conditioned on the availability of funds appropriated for that purpose. Customer shall have the 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

right to terminate this Agreement for non appropriation with thirty (30) days written notice 

without penalty or other cost. 

 

 

 

FLOCK NOTICES ADDRESS:  

1170 HOWELL MILL ROAD, NW SUITE 210 

ATLANTA, GA 30318 

ATTN: LEGAL DEPARTMENT 

EMAIL: legal@flocksafety.com  

CUSTOMER NOTICES ADDRESS:  

ADDRESS: 475 WEST TOWN PLACE, SUITE 114 

ST. AUGUSTINE, FL 32092 

ATTN: SARAH SWEETING 

EMAIL: SSWEETING@GMSNF.COM 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

EXHIBIT B  

INSURANCE  

Required Coverage. Flock shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement 

insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may arise from or 

in connection with the performance of the services under this Agreement and the results of that 

work by Flock or its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. Insurance shall be 

placed with insurers with a current A. M. Best rating of no less than “A” and “VII”. Flock shall 

obtain and, during the term of this Agreement, shall maintain policies of professional liability 

(errors and omissions), automobile liability, and general liability insurance for insurable 

amounts of not less than the limits listed herein. The insurance policies shall provide that the 

policies shall remain in full force during the life of the Agreement. Flock shall procure and 

shall maintain during the life of this Agreement Worker's Compensation insurance as required 

by applicable State law for all Flock employees. 

Types and Amounts Required. Flock shall maintain, at minimum, the following 

insurance coverage for the duration of this Agreement: 

(i) Commercial General Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with 

minimum limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million 

Dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate for bodily injury, death, and property damage, 

including personal injury, contractual liability, independent contractors, broad-form property 

damage, and product and completed operations coverage; 

(ii) Umbrella or Excess Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with minimum 

limits of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence and Ten Million Dollars 

($10,000,000) in the aggregate; 

(iii) Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions insurance with minimum limits of 

Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) per occurrence and Five Million Dollars 

($5,000,000) in the aggregate; 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

(iv) Commercial Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit of 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury, death, and property 

coverage, including owned and non-owned and hired automobile coverage 

 

(v) Cyber Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with minimum limits of Five 

Million Dollars ($5,000,000). 

4876-5117-9957.3  

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

ADDENDUM TO AGREEMENT (“ADDENDUM”) BETWEEN THE SIX MILE CREEK  COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“CUSTOMER” OR “DISTRICT”) AND FLOCK GROUP INC. (“FLOCK”) 

 
The following provisions govern the Agreement referenced above: 

 
1. The Agreement shall be deemed effective as of the date of the full execution of this 

Addendum. 
 

2. Flock or any subcontractor performing the work described in this Agreement shall maintain 
throughout the term of this Agreement the insurance coverage described in Exhibit B. 

 
The District, its staff, consultants, agents and supervisors shall be named as additional insureds 
and certificate holders.  Flock shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance 
evidencing compliance with this requirement.  No certificate shall be acceptable to the District 
unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy periods of the insurance 
coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior written notice to the 
District.  Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct 
business in the State of Florida. 

 
If Flock fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, the District has the right 
(without any obligation to do so, however), to secure such required insurance in which event, 
Flock shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall furnish, upon demand, all 
information that may be required in connection with the District’s obtaining the required 
insurance. 

 
3. Flock further agrees that nothing in the Agreement between the parties shall constitute 

or be construed as a waiver of the District’s limitations on liability contained in Section 
768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute.  

 
4. Flock understands and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in 

connection with this Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, Flock agrees to 
comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including 
but not limited to Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes. Contractor acknowledges that the 
designated public records custodian for the District is Governmental Management 
Services LLC (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other requirements and to the extent 
applicable by law, Flock shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by the District 
to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, provide the 
District with the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected or copied 
within a  reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in 
Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or 
confidential, and exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed 
except as authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following the 
contract term if Flock does not transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of 
the District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to the District, at no cost, 
all  public records in Flock’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all 

4876-5117-9957.3  
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

applicable  requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When 
such public records are transferred by Flock, Flock shall destroy any duplicate public 
records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 
requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a 
format that is compatible with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.   
 

IF FLOCK HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF 
CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO FLOCK’S DUTY TO 
PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, 
CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT (904) 
9405850, VIA EMAIL AT SARAH SWEETING, OR BY MAIL AT 
C/O GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC, 475 
WEST TOWN PLACE, SUITE 114, ST. AUGUSTINE, FL 32092  

 
5. Flock shall comply with and perform all applicable provisions of Section 448.095, Florida 

Statutes. Accordingly, beginning January 1, 2021, to the extent required by Florida 
Statute, Flock shall register with and use the United States Department of Homeland 
Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly hired 
employees. The District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause if there is 
a good faith belief that Flock has knowingly violated Section 448.091, Florida Statutes. 
 
If Flock anticipates entering into agreements with a subcontractor to provide the Flock 
Services, Flock will not enter into the subcontractor agreement without first receiving an 
affidavit from the subcontractor regarding compliance with Section 448.095, Florida 
Statutes, and stating that the subcontractor does not employ, contract with, or 
subcontract with an unauthorized alien. Flock shall maintain a copy of such affidavit for 
the duration of the agreement and provide a copy to the District upon request.  
 
In the event that the District has a good faith belief that a subcontractor has knowingly 
violated Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, but Flock has otherwise complied with its 
obligations hereunder, the District shall promptly notify Flock. Flock agrees to 
immediately terminate the agreement with the subcontractor upon notice from the 
District. Further, absent such notification from the District, Flock or any subcontractor 
who has a good faith belief that a person or entity with which it is contracting has 
knowingly violated s. 448.09(1), Florida Statutes, shall promptly terminate its agreement 
with such person or entity. 
 
By entering into this Agreement, Flock represents that no public employer has 
terminated a contract with Flock under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within 
the year immediately preceding the date of this Agreement. 
 

6. To the extent any of the provisions of this Addendum are in conflict with the provisions 
of the Agreement, this Addendum controls 

4876-5117-9957.3  
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8EDocusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262



 

 
 

FLOCK GROUP INC. (“FLOCK”) 
 
 
Name_____________________ 
 
Signature :_________________ 
 
Date:  _____________________ 
 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“CUSTOMER”) 
 
Name_____________________ 
 
Signature :_________________ 
 
Date:  _____________________ 
 
 

 

4876-5117-9957.3  
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 3A2EE209-A66D-4AF5-952C-6BC8D0B51B8E

2025-04-04

Michelle Sutton

Docusign Envelope ID: 9ECFE77B-A17C-40E5-A546-B1B3B02C7262

Mark Smith

4/8/2025



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2. 



4899-0262-2007.1  

LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 22nd day of April, 2025, 
by and between: 
 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, located 
in St. Johns County, Florida, whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, Suite 
114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”), and 
 
RUPPERT LANDSCAPE, LLC, a limited liability company, whose mailing address 
is 23601 Laytonsville Road, Laytonsville, Maryland 20882 (“Contractor”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, 
constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure, including landscaping and 
irrigation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has a need to retain an independent contractor to provide landscape 
and irrigation maintenance services for certain lands within and around the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a proposal and represents that it is qualified, willing and 
capable to serve as a landscape and irrigation maintenance contractor and provide such services to 
the District. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, 
it is agreed that Contractor is hereby retained, authorized, and instructed by the District to perform 
in accordance with the following covenants and conditions, which both the District and Contractor 
have agreed upon: 
 
 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and correct and 
by this reference are incorporated herein as a material part of this Agreement. 
 
 2.   CONTRACTOR OBLIGATIONS. 
 

A. Scope of Services.  Contractor shall provide the services described in the 
Scope of Services attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Work”), for the areas identified in the 
Landscape Maintenance Map attached hereto as Exhibit B (“Landscape Maintenance 
Area”), both of which are incorporated herein by this reference.  Contractor acknowledges 
and agrees that the Landscape Maintenance Area may be reasonably adjusted, in the sole 
discretion of the District, to accurately reflect areas of the Work actually being performed, 
which adjustments shall not result in change in the price for the Work as reflected in 
Contractor’s fee summary attached hereto as Exhibit C (“Fee Summary”) and 
incorporated herein by this reference.  Should any work and/or services be required which 
are not specified in this Agreement or any amendments, addenda, or change orders but 
which are nevertheless necessary for the proper provision of services to the District, such 
work or services shall be fully performed by Contractor as if described and delineated in 
this Agreement. 



4899-0262-2007.1  

B. Acceptance of Site.  By executing this Agreement, the Contractor agrees 
that the Contractor was able to inspect the site prior to the execution of this Agreement, 
and that the Contractor agrees to be responsible for the care, health, maintenance, and 
replacement, if necessary, of the existing landscaping, in its current condition, and on an 
“as is” basis.  The Contractor shall be strictly liable for the decline or death of any plant 
material, regardless of whether such decline or death is due to the negligence of the 
Contractor or a former contractor, except that the Contractor shall not be responsible for 
fire, cold, storm or wind damage, incurable or uncontrollable diseases, or damage due to 
vandalism.  Upon the occurrence of any such exceptions, Contractor shall immediately 
notify the District. Contractor shall replace, at Contractor’s expense, all plant material that, 
in the opinion of the District, fails to maintain a healthy, vigorous condition as a result of 
the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work specified herein.  No changes to the 
compensation set forth in this Agreement shall be made based on any claim that the existing 
landscaping was not in good condition or that the site was unsuitable for such landscaping. 

C. Manner of Contractor’s Performance.  The Contractor agrees, as an 
independent contractor, to undertake the Work as specified in this Agreement or any Work 
Authorization (defined herein) issued in connection with this Agreement. All Work shall 
be performed in a neat and professional manner reasonably acceptable to the District and 
shall be in accordance with all applicable industry standards, and as required by the Scope 
of Services.  The performance of all Work and additional services by the Contractor under 
this Agreement and related to this Agreement shall conform to any written instructions 
issued by the District.  

D. Discipline, Employment, Uniforms.  Contractor shall maintain at all times 
strict discipline among its employees, subcontractors, agents and assigns and represents to 
the District that it has performed all necessary background checks of the same.  Contractor 
shall not employ for work on the project any person unfit or without sufficient skills to 
perform the job for which such person is employed. All laborers and foremen of the 
Contractor shall perform all Work on the premises in a uniform to be designed by the 
Contractor. No shirtless attire, no torn or tattered attire or slang graphic T-shirts are 
permitted. No smoking in or around the buildings will be permitted. Rudeness or 
discourteous acts by Contractor employees will not be tolerated. No Contractor solicitation 
of any kind is permitted on property. 

E. Rain Days.  In the event that time is lost due to heavy rains (“Rain Days”), 
Contractor agrees to reschedule its employees and divide their time accordingly to 
complete all scheduled services during the same week as any Rain Days.  Contractor shall 
provide services on Saturdays, if needed to make up Rain Days, with prior notification to 
and approval by the District Representative(s) (defined herein).  

F. Protection of Property.   Contractor shall use all due care to protect against 
any harm to persons or property while performing the Work.  If Contractor’s acts or 
omissions result in any damage to property within the District, including but not limited to 
damage to landscape lighting and irrigation system components, entry monuments, etc., 
the Contractor shall immediately notify the District and promptly repair all damage – 
and/or promptly replace damaged property – to the sole satisfaction of the District. If 
Contractor fails to do so, the District reserves the right to make such repairs and Contractor 
shall reimburse the costs of such repair or replacement. 



4899-0262-2007.1  

G. District Representative; Reporting.  The District shall designate in writing 
a person to act as the District Representative with respect to the Work to be performed 
under this Agreement.  The District Representative shall have complete authority to 
transmit instructions, receive information, interpret and define the District’s policies and 
decisions with respect to materials, equipment, elements, and systems pertinent to 
Contractor’s services, including the Work. 

i. The District hereby designates the District Manager or his or her 
designee, to act as the District Representative. 

ii. The District shall have the right to change its designated 
Representative with written notice to Contractor.  

iii. Contractor agrees to meet with the District’s representative no less 
than bi-weekly to walk the property and discuss conditions, schedules, and items of 
concern regarding this Agreement and to provide a monthly written report 
summarizing, at minimum, the Work performed during the month, any issues 
and/or areas of concern and the schedule of Work to be performed for the upcoming 
month. 

iv. Contractor agrees to attend the regularly scheduled meetings of the 
Board of Supervisors of the District, upon request. 

H. Deficiencies.  Contractor shall identify and promptly notify the District 
Representative of any deficient areas by written communication, including any 
explanations of proposed actions to remedy such deficiencies.  Upon approval by the 
District Representative, the Contractor shall take such actions as are necessary to address 
the deficiencies within a reasonable time period specified by the District Representative, 
or if no time is specified by the District, within three (3) days and prior to submitting any 
invoices to the District.  Contractor and the District recognize that time is of the essence 
with this Agreement and that the District will suffer financial loss if the deficiencies are 
not timely addressed.  Should the Contractor fail to address any deficiencies within the 
time set forth by the District Representatives, the District shall have the rights to, among 
other remedies available at law or in equity, fine the Contractor one hundred dollars 
($100.00) per day; to withhold some or all of the Contractor’s compensation under this 
Agreement; and to contract with outside sources to perform necessary work with all 
charges for such services to be reimbursed by Contractor or deducted from the Contractor’s 
compensation.   

I. Compliance with Laws. The Contractor shall keep, observe, and perform 
all requirements of applicable local, state and federal laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, 
permits, licenses, or other requirements or approvals.  Further, the Contractor shall notify 
the District in writing within five (5) days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to 
comply notice, or a report of a violation or an alleged violation, made by any local, state, 
or federal governmental body or agency or subdivision thereof with respect to the services 
being rendered under this Agreement or any act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 
agents, servants, employees, or material men, or appliances, or any other requirements 
applicable to provision of services.  Additionally, the Contractor shall promptly comply 



4899-0262-2007.1  

with any requirement of such governmental entity after receipt of any such notice, order, 
request to comply notice, or report of a violation or an alleged violation. 

J. Safety. Contractor shall provide for and oversee all safety orders, 
precautions, and programs necessary for the Work. Contractor shall maintain an adequate 
safety program to ensure the safety of employees and any other individuals working under 
this Agreement. Contractor shall comply with all OSHA standards. Contractor shall take 
precautions at all times to protect any persons and property in performing the Work, 
utilizing safety equipment including but not limited to bright vests and traffic cones. 

K. Environmental Activities.  The Contractor agrees to use best management 
practices, consistent with presently accepted industry standards, with respect to the storage, 
handling and use of chemicals (e.g., fertilizers, pesticides, etc.) and fuels.  The Contractor 
shall keep all equipment clean (e.g., chemical sprayers) and properly dispose of waste.  
Further, the Contractor shall immediately notify the District of any chemical or fuel spills.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for any environmental cleanup, replacement of any turf 
or plants harmed from chemical burns, and correcting any other harm resulting from the 
Work to be performed by Contractor. 

L. Payment of Taxes; Procurement of Licenses and Permits.  Contractor 
shall pay all taxes required by law in connection with the Work, including sales, use, and 
similar taxes, and shall secure all licenses and permits necessary for proper completion of 
the Work, paying the fees therefore and ascertaining that the permits meet all requirements 
of applicable federal, state and local laws or requirements. 

M. Subcontractors.  Contractor shall not assign any portion of the Work to 
subcontractors without prior, written approval of the District.  In the event any portions of 
the Work are assigned to subcontractors, Contractor shall be responsible for the satisfactory 
performance of such work by subcontractors.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to create a contractual relationship between any subcontractor and the District. 

N. Independent Contractor Status.  In all matters relating to this Agreement, 
Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor.  Neither Contractor nor employees 
of Contractor, if there are any, are employees of the District under the meaning or 
application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age Laws or 
otherwise.  Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any one or 
more of such laws with respect to employees of Contractor, if any, in the performance of 
this Agreement.  Contractor shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, 
express or implied, on behalf of the District and Contractor shall have no authority to 
represent the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set 
forth in this Agreement. 

 3. COMPENSATION; TERM.   
 

A. Term.   The term of this Agreement shall be from April 1, 2025, to March 
31, 2026 (“Year 1”), unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement.   Thereafter, this Agreement will automatically renew in additional, one (1) 
year terms, for up to four (4) additional annual renewals, unless terminated earlier in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.   



4899-0262-2007.1  

B. Compensation. As compensation for the Work, the District agrees to pay 
Contractor an amount not-to-exceed Eighty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Fifteen Dollars 
and 70/100 Cents Dollars ($87,515.70) per year for Year 1, all in accordance with the Fee 
Summary attached hereto as Exhibit C. Compensation for the Work in subsequent renewal 
years shall be in accordance with the with the Fee Summary attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

C. Additional Work. Should the District desire that the Contractor provide 
additional work and/or services relating to the District’s landscaping and/or irrigation 
systems (e.g., additional services or services for other areas not specified in this 
Agreement), such additional work and/or services shall be fully performed by the 
Contractor after prior approval of a required Work Authorization.  The Contractor agrees 
that the District shall not be liable for the payment of any additional work and/or services 
unless the District first authorizes the Contractor to perform such additional work and/or 
services through an authorized and fully executed Work Authorization, a form of which is 
attached hereto as Exhibit D.  The Contractor shall be compensated for such agreed 
additional work and/or services based upon a payment amount derived from the prices set 
forth in the Contractor’s Fee Summary attached hereto as Exhibit C.  If pricing for any 
such additional work or services is not specifically provided for in the exhibits hereto, 
Contractor agrees to negotiate in good faith on such pricing.  Nothing herein shall be 
construed to require the District to use the Contractor for any such additional work and/or 
services, and the District reserves the right to retain a different contractor to perform any 
additional work and/or services. 

D. Payments by the District.  The Contractor shall maintain records 
conforming to usual accounting practices.  Further, the Contractor agrees to render monthly 
invoices to the District, in writing, which shall be delivered or mailed to the District by 
the fifth (5th) day of the next succeeding month.  Each monthly invoice shall contain, 
at a minimum, the District’s name, the Contractor’s name, the invoice date, an invoice 
number, an itemized listing of all costs billed on the invoice with a description of each 
sufficient for the District to approve each cost, the time frame within which the services were 
provided, and the address or bank information to which payment is to be remitted.  
Consistent with Florida’s Prompt Payment Act, section 218.70, et seq., Florida 
Statutes, these monthly invoices are due and payable within forty-five (45) days of receipt 
by the District. 

E. Payments by Contractor. Subject to the terms herein, Contractor will 
promptly pay in cash for all costs of labor, materials, services and equipment used in the 
performance of the Work, and upon the request of the District, Contractor will provide 
proof of such payment. Contractor agrees that it shall comply with Section 218.735(6), 
Florida Statutes, requiring payments to subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers 
be made within ten (10) days of receipt of payment from the District.  The District may 
require, as a condition precedent to making any payment to Contractor, that all 
subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers be paid and require evidence, in the 
form of Lien Releases or partial Waivers of Lien, to be submitted to the District by those 
subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers, and further require that Contractor 
provide an affidavit relating to the payment of said indebtedness.  Further, the District shall 
have the right to require, as a condition precedent to making any payment, evidence from 
Contractor, in a form satisfactory to the District, that any indebtedness of Contractor, as to 
services to the District, has been paid and that Contractor has met all of the obligations 



4899-0262-2007.1  

with regard to the  withholding and payment of taxes, Social Security payments, 
Workmen’s Compensation, Unemployment Compensation contributions, and similar 
payroll deductions from the wages of employees.   

 4. TERMINATION. The District agrees that the Contractor may terminate this 
Agreement for cause by providing sixty (60) days’ written notice of termination to the District; 
provided, however, that the District shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure 
under this Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, and regardless of whether any of the procedural steps set forth in Section 2(H) of this 
Agreement are taken, the District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause by 
providing written notice of termination to the Contractor. The District shall provide thirty (30) 
days’ written notice of termination without cause.  Any termination by the District shall not result 
in liability for consequential damages, lost profits, or any other damages or liability.  However, 
upon any termination of this Agreement by the District, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment 
for all Work and/or services rendered up until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject 
to whatever claims or off-sets the District may have against the Contractor.  On a default by 
Contractor, the District may elect not to terminate the Agreement, and instead to demand that 
Contractor cure any failure constituting default and make appropriate deduction or revision to the 
payment to become due to Contractor.  Furthermore, the District reserves the right to pursue any 
and all available remedies under the law, including but not limited to equitable and legal remedies 
and withhold payment pending outcome of such dispute. 

 
5. INSURANCE. 

 
A. Insurance Required.   Before commencing any Work, the Contractor shall 

furnish the District with a Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with the 
requirements of this section. No certificate shall be acceptable to the District unless it 
provides that any change or termination within the policy periods of the insurance 
coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior written notice 
to the District. Insurance coverage shall be primary and written on forms acceptable to the 
District.  Additionally, insurance coverage shall be from a reputable insurance carrier, 
licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida, and such carrier shall have a Best’s 
Insurance Reports rating of A-VII.  The procuring of required policies of insurance shall 
not be construed to limit Contractor’s liability or to fulfill the indemnification provisions 
and requirements of this Agreement. 
 

B. Types of Insurance Coverage Required.  Contractor or any subcontractor 
performing the work described in this Agreement shall maintain throughout the term of 
this Agreement the following insurance: 

 
i. Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of 

the State of Florida. In the event the Contractor has “leased” employees, the 
Contractor or the employee leasing company must provide evidence of a Minimum 
Premium Workers’ Compensation policy, along with a Waiver of Subrogation in 
favor of the District. All documentation must be provided to the District at the 
address listed below.  No contractor or sub-contractor operating under a worker’s 
compensation exemption shall access or work on the site. 



4899-0262-2007.1  

ii. Employer’s Liability Coverage with limits of at least $1,000,000 
(one million dollars) per accident or disease.  

iii. Commercial General Liability Insurance covering Contractor’s 
legal liability for bodily injuries, property damage, contractual, products and 
completed operations, and personal injury, with limits of not less than $2,000,000 
per occurrence, and further, including, but not being limited to, Independent 
Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and property damage in connection with 
subcontractors’ operation.  

iv. Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not 
less than $2,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and for property damage, 
providing coverage for any accident arising out of or resulting from the operation, 
maintenance, or use by Contractor of any owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, 
trailers, or other equipment required to be licensed. 

v. Umbrella Excess Liability Insurance to cover any liability in excess 
of the limits of coverage already required and with limits of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence and $1,000,000 on aggregate. 

C. Additional Insured.   All policies required by this Agreement, with the 
exception of Workers’ Compensation, or unless specific approval is given by the District, 
are to be written on an occurrence basis, and shall name the District, and its supervisors, 
officers, staff, agents, employees, and representatives as additional insured (with the 
exception of Workers’ Compensation insurance) as their interest may appear under this 
Agreement. Insurer(s), with the exception of Workers’ Compensation on non-leased 
employees, shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the District and its 
supervisors, officers, staff, agents, employees, and representatives.   

D. Sub-Contractors.  Insurance requirements itemized in this Agreement and 
required of the Contractor shall be provided on behalf of all sub-contractors, if any and if 
approved, to cover their operations performed under this Agreement. The Contractor shall 
be held responsible for any modifications, deviations, or omissions in these insurance 
requirements as they apply to sub-contractors. 

E. Payment of Premiums.  The Contractor shall be solely responsible for 
payment of all premiums for insurance contributing to the satisfaction of this Agreement 
and shall be solely responsible for the payment of all deductibles and retentions to which 
such policies are subject, whether or not the District is an insured under the policy. 

F. Notice of Claims.  Notices of accidents (occurrences) and notices of claims 
associated with work being performed under this Agreement shall be provided to the 
Contractor’s insurance company and to the District as soon as practicable after notice to 
the insured. 

G. Failure to Provide Insurance.  The District shall retain the right to review, 
at any time, coverage, form, and amount of insurance.  If the Contractor fails to have 
secured and maintained the required insurance, the District has the right (without any 
obligation to do so, however), to secure such required insurance in which event, the 
Contractor shall pay the cost for that required insurance to the District and shall furnish, 



4899-0262-2007.1  

upon demand, all information that may be required in connection with the District’s 
obtaining the required insurance. If Contractor fails to pay such cost to the District, the 
District may deduct such amount from any payment due the Contractor. 

 6. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

A. The Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless, the District, the 
District’s Board of Supervisors, District staff and the District’s agents, officers, employees, 
contractors, and representatives from and against any and all liability, actions, claims, 
demands, loss, damage, injury, or harm of any nature whatsoever, arising from the acts or 
omissions of Contractor, or the Contractor’s officers, directors, agents, assigns, employees, 
subcontractors, or representatives.  

B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, 
judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, fines, forfeitures, back pay, awards, court 
costs, mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorney fees, paralegal fees (incurred in court, out 
of court, on appeal, or in bankruptcy proceedings), or other amounts of any kind. 

C. The Contractor agrees that nothing in this Agreement shall serve as or be 
construed as a waiver of the District’s or its staff, supervisors or consultant’s limitations on 
liability contained in section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other law.  Any subcontractor retained 
by the Contractor shall acknowledge the same in writing, and it shall be Contractor’s 
responsibility to secure such acknowledgments.  Further, nothing herein shall be construed to 
limit or restrict the District’s rights against the Contractor under applicable law. 

D. In any and all claims against the District or any of its agents or employees by 
any employee of the Contractor, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by 
any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification 
obligation under this Agreement shall not be limited in any way as to the amount or type of 
damages, compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any subcontractor under 
Workmen’s compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

E. It is understood and agreed that this Agreement is not a construction contract 
as that term is referenced in Section 725.06, Florida Statutes, and that said statutory provision 
does not govern, restrict or control this Agreement 

7. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

A. Default and Protection Against Third-party Interference.  A default by 
either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at law or 
in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, injunctive relief, 
and/or specific performance.  The District shall be solely responsible for enforcing its rights 
under this Agreement against any interfering third party.  Nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall limit or impair the District’s right to protect its rights from interference 
by a third party to this Agreement. 

B. Custom and Usage.  It is hereby agreed, any law, custom, or usage to the 
contrary notwithstanding, that the District shall have the right at all times to enforce the 
conditions and agreements contained in this Agreement in strict accordance with the terms 



4899-0262-2007.1  

of this Agreement, notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of the District in 
refraining from so doing or due to oversight; and further, that the failure of the District at 
any time or times to strictly enforce its rights under this Agreement shall not be construed 
as having created a custom in any way or manner contrary to the specific conditions and 
agreements of this Agreement, or as having in any way modified or waived the same. 

C. Successors.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 
upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the parties to this 
Agreement, except as expressly limited in this Agreement. 

D. Assignment.  Neither the District nor Contractor may assign this Agreement 
without the prior written approval of the other, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.   Any purported assignment without such written approval shall be void. 

E. Headings for Convenience Only.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

F. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event that either the District or Contractor is 
required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees, paralegal fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate 
proceedings. 

G. Agreement.  This instrument, together with its Exhibits, shall constitute the 
final and complete expression of this Agreement between the District and Contractor 
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.  All prior agreements regarding the matters 
provided herein are hereby superseded and replaced by this Agreement. The Exhibits 
attached herein are incorporated to the extent that it clarifies certain terms of the 
Agreement, and to the extent there are any inconsistencies or conflict between this 
instrument and the Exhibits, this instrument shall control. 

H. Amendments.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both 
the District and Contractor. 

I. Authorization.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized 
by the appropriate body or official of the District and Contractor, both the District and 
Contractor have complied with all the requirements of law, and both the District and 
Contractor have full power and authority to comply with the terms and provisions of this 
instrument. 

J. Notices.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered via hand delivery, 
mailed by United States certified mail, or by overnight delivery service, to the parties, as 
follows:      

A. If to the District: Six Mile Creek Community    
        Development District 
        475 West Town Place, Suite 114 



4899-0262-2007.1  

        St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
       Attn: District Manager 
 
   With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
       107 West College Avenue 
       Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
       Attn: District Counsel 
 

B. If to Contractor:  Ruppert Landscape, LLC 
     23601 Laytonsville Road 
     Laytonsville, Maryland 20882 

        
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at 
the place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next 
business day.  If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise 
expire on a non-business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding 
business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States 
government shall not be regarded as business days.  Counsel for the District and counsel 
for Contractor may deliver Notice on behalf of the District and Contractor.  Any party or 
other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties and 
addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing 
the same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 

 
K. Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the 

District and Contractor and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to 
or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this 
Agreement expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any 
person or corporation other than the District and Contractor any right, remedy, or claim 
under or by reason of this Agreement or any of the provisions or conditions of this 
Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants, and conditions contained 
in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the District 
and Contractor and their respective Representative, successors, and assigns. 

L. Controlling Law; Venue.  This Agreement and the provisions contained in 
this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws of the 
State of Florida.  Parties consent to and agree that the exclusive venue for any litigation 
arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction in 
and for St. Johns County, Florida. 

M. Public Records.  Contractor understands and agrees that all documents of 
any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be public records, 
and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of Florida law 
in handling such records, including but not limited to section 119.0701, Florida Statutes.  
Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records custodian for the District is 
Daniel Laughlin (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other requirements and to the 
extent applicable by law, Contractor shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by 
the District to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, 
provide the District with the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected 



4899-0262-2007.1  

or copied within a  reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided 
in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or 
confidential, and exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed 
except as authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following the contract 
term if Contractor does not transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of the 
District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to the District, at no cost, all 
public records in Contractor’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all 
applicable  requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When such 
public records are transferred by Contractor, Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public 
records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 
requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a format 
that is compatible with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.   

IF CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, 
TO CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, 
CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT 
DLAUGHLIN@GMSNF.COM.COM,  (904) 940-5850, AND 
475 WEST TOWN PLACE, SUITE 114, ST. AUGUSTINE, 
FLORIDA 32092. 

 
N. Severability.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or 
unenforceable. 

O. Arm’s Length Transaction.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the District and Contractor as an arm's length transaction.  The District and 
Contractor participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of 
their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute concerning the interpretation of any 
provision of this Agreement, the parties are each deemed to have drafted, chosen, and 
selected the language, and any doubtful language will not be interpreted or construed 
against any party. 

P. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all 
such counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. 

Q. Scrutinized Companies Statement.   Contractor certifies that it is not in 
violation of section 287.135, Florida Statutes, and is not prohibited from doing business 
with the District under Florida law, including but not limited to Scrutinized Companies 
with Activities in Sudan List or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran 
Petroleum Energy Sector List.  If Contractor is found to have submitted a false statement, 
has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or the 
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or has 
been engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria, or is now or in the future on the 



4899-0262-2007.1  

Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List, or engaged in a boycott of Israel, the 
District may immediately terminate this Agreement. 

R. E-Verify. The Contractor agrees that it shall bear the responsibility for 
verifying the employment status of all persons it employs or subcontracts in the 
performance of this Agreement and agrees to otherwise comply with all applicable federal 
and Florida law, including but not limited to the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 
1986, as amended, and Section 448.095, Florida Statutes.  By entering into this Agreement, 
the Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with the 
Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the year immediately 
preceding the date of this Agreement. 

 
S. STATEMENT REGARDING CHAPTER 287 REQUIREMENTS. Contractor 

acknowledges that, in addition to all Laws and Regulations that apply to this Agreement, 
the following provisions of Florida law (“Public Integrity Laws”) apply to this Agreement: 

 
a. Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, titled Public entity crime; denial or 

revocation of the right to transact business with public entities; 
b. Section 287.134, Florida Statutes, titled Discrimination; denial or 

revocation of the right to transact business with public entities; 
c. Section 287.135, Florida Statutes, titled Prohibition against contracting 

with scrutinized companies; 
d. Section 287.137, Florida Statutes, titled Antitrust violations; denial or 

revocation of the right to transact business with public entities; denial of 
economic benefits; and 

e. Section 287.138, Florida Statutes, titled Contracting with entities of foreign 
countries of concern prohibited. 

 
 Contractor acknowledges that the Public Integrity Laws prohibit entities that meet 
certain criteria from bidding on or entering into or renewing a contract with governmental 
entities, including with the District (“Prohibited Criteria”).  Contractor certifies that in 
entering into this Contract, neither it nor any of its officers, directors, executives, partners, 
shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in the management of the 
entity, nor any affiliate of the entity, meets any of the Prohibited Criteria, and in the event 
such status changes, Contractor shall immediately notify the District. 

 
T. Compliance with section 20.055, Florida Statutes.   The Contractor agrees 

to comply with section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, to cooperate with the inspector general 
in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing pursuant such section and to 
incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with section 20.055(5), Florida 
Statutes. 

 
[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 

  



4899-0262-2007.1  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this agreement the day and year first written 
above. 
 
ATTEST:      SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
               
By:        By:        
▢ Secretary      ▢ Chairperson 
▢ Assistant Secretary     ▢ Vice Chairperson 
      
  
 
WITNESS:       RUPPERT LANDSCAPE, LLC 
 
 
               
By:        By:        
Its:        Its:        
 
 
 
Exhibit A: Scope of Services 
Exhibit B: Landscape Maintenance Map 
Exhibit C: Fee Summary 
Exhibit D: Form of Work Authorization 
  



4899-0262-2007.1  

Exhibit A: Scope of Services 

 
 

 
 
 
 



4899-0262-2007.1  

 



b. Sod:

District Easements and Right-of-Ways. Shall be mowed once every seven 7 days during the 
active growing season (April 1 - November 30) and once every (15) days during the dormant 
seasons (December 1 to March 31) (35) 

District Controlled Pond Banks. Shall be mowed (3) three times in a month during the 
active growing season (April 1 – November 30) and (2) times per month during the 
dormant season. 

District Controlled Pocket Parks and Greenspace. Shall be mowed once every seven days during 
the active growing season (April 1 - November 30) and once every (15) days during the 
dormant seasons (December 1 to March 31) 

The Contractor shall replace dead sod up to one pallet within two (2) weeks of identifying the
disturbed area. Sod replacement equaling more than one pallet shall be approved by the Facility Manager 
in advance. St. Augustine Sod should be maintained at a height of 4 inches and the Contractor should 
take care to not scalp the Sod by adjusting mower height as needed. Other types of sod should be mowed at 
a height as recommended by the University of Florida. 

c. Edging:
The Contractor shall edge ground cover as needed to keep within bounds and away from obstacles.

Concrete edging, including all sidewalk areas, including backs of curbs will be performed consistent with the 
mowing schedule for turf areas. Sidewalks, curbs, and pavement will be blown or vacuumed clean of turf and 
like debris, not including heavy sand, by forced air machinery, after every mowing. 

d. Fertilization:
A fertilization program of properly timed applications of quality slow-release fertilizers (based on

requirements established by the University of Florida JFAS) shall be established. Program shall provide 
a lawn, which is evenly green and thick, and one, which does not promote surge growth or burning. 

e. Weed, Disease, and Insect Control:
The Contractor shall establish a grass and plant pesticide spray program to provide the application of

pesticides as needed to control mole crickets, army worms, chinch bugs and other grass and plant pests 
as well as plant fungus. Pre-emergent and post-emergent controls shall be used to provide acceptable levels 
of weed control. All chemicals and pesticides shall be purchased and obtained at the expense of the 
Contractor. All sprayings must be performed by or under the direct supervision of a licensed applicator. 
The pest control program shall follow the most current recommendations of the University of Florida "Guides 
to Insect Disease, Nematodes and Weed Control". The Contractor shall submit an outline of the agronomic 
program along with the proposal. Contractor will use proper fertilization, mowing, and watering practices to 
promote the growth of weed resistant turf. 

III. GROUND COVER AREA I SHRUB AREAS:
Shrubs and groundcover shall be maintained at a height that will not disrupt clear line of site at all vehicular
intersections. Foundation shrubs planted at the base of any building or signage/hardscape element in the
landscape shall be maintained to a height not less than 6" below any signage or directional graphic or lettering
associated with building identification systems. Foundation shrubs planted at the base of any building or
signage/hardscape element should be trimmed to compliment any architectural banding and/or detailing so as
not to block any such detail from view.



4899-0262-2007.1  

 



4899-0262-2007.1  

 

  



4899-0262-2007.1  

Exhibit B: Landscape Maintenance Map 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  



4899-0262-2007.1  

Exhibit C: Fee Summary 
 

 

 

 

 

  



4899-0262-2007.1  

Exhibit D: Form of Work Authorization 
 

WORK AUTHORIZATION NUMBER    
FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 
 THIS WORK AUTHORIZATION (“Work Authorization”), dated   , ____ 202__, 
authorizes certain work in accordance with that certain Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Agreement, 
effective ____________, 2025 (“Agreement”), by and between: 
 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, located in St. 
Johns County, Florida (“District”), and 
 
RUPPERT LANDSCAPE, LLC, a limited liability company, whose mailing address is 
23601 Laytonsville Road, Laytonsville, Maryland 20882 (“Contractor”). 
 

 SECTION 1.  SCOPE OF SERVICES.  in addition to the services described in the Agreement and 
any exhibits, amendments and addenda thereto, Contractor shall provide additional 
_______________________ services, as set forth in the attached Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein 
by reference, all in accordance with the terms of the Agreement (collectively, the “Additional Services”). 
To the extent that the terms of Exhibit A conflict with terms of this Work Authorization or the Agreement, 
the Work Authorization and the Agreement shall control. 
 
 SECTION 2.  COMPENSATION.  As compensation for the Additional Services, the District agrees 
to pay Contractor _____________________________ Dollars ($___________________). Contractor shall 
invoice the District for Additional Services upon completion of the same and the District shall pay 
Contractor in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.   
 
 SECTION 3.  ACCEPTANCE.  Acceptance of this Work Authorization authorizes Contractor to 
complete the Additional Services as outlined above and is indicated by the signature of the authorized 
representative of the District and Contractor. Contractor shall commence the aforesaid Additional Services 
upon the full execution of this Work Authorization and shall perform the same in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the Agreement, which, except to the extent expressly altered or changed in this Work 
Authorization, remains in full force and effect. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this agreement the day and year first written above. 
 
ATTEST:      SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY  
       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
               
By:        By:        
▢ Secretary      ▢ Chairperson 
▢ Assistant Secretary     ▢ Vice Chairperson 
 
       RUPPERT LANDSCAPE, LLC 
 
               
       By:        

Its:        
 
Exhibit A:  Proposal for Additional Services 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3. 



  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND JAX UTILITIES 

MANAGEMENT, INC. FOR POTHOLE REPAIR SERVICES 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 25th day of March, 2025, 
by and between: 
 

Six Mile Creek Community Development District Community Development 
District, a local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to 
Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated in the City of St. Augustine, Florida, 
and whose mailing address is 475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, 
Florida 32092 (“District”); and 
 
Jax Utilities Management, Inc., a Florida corporation, with a mailing address of 
5465 Verna Boulevard, Jacksonville, Florida 32205 ("Contractor", together with 
District, “Parties”).  

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant 
to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, as codified in Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes (the "Act"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, 
constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has a need to retain an independent contractor to provide services 
for pothole repair work; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a proposal and represents that it is qualified to provide 
pothole repair work services and has agreed to provide to the District those services identified in 
Exhibit A as attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein (the “Services”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District and Contractor warrant and agree that they have all right, power 
and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and 
correct and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 2. DUTIES. The District agrees to use Contractor to provide the Services in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The duties, obligations, and responsibilities of the 
Contractor are described herein and in Exhibit A.   

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

 
A. Contractor shall provide the Services, as described in Exhibit A.  The Services shall 

include any effort specifically required by this Agreement and Exhibit A 
reasonably necessary to allow the District to receive the maximum benefit of all of 
the Services and items described herein and demonstrated in Exhibit A, including 
but not limited to, the repair, construction, installation, and all materials reasonably 
necessary. To the extent any of the provisions of this Agreement are in conflict with 
the provisions of Exhibit A, this Agreement controls. 

 
B. This Agreement grants to Contractor the right to enter the lands that are subject to 

this Agreement, for those purposes described in this Agreement, and Contractor 
hereby agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. 

 
C. Contractor shall perform all Services in a neat and workmanlike manner.  In the 

event the District in its sole determination, finds that the work of Contractor is not 
satisfactory to District, District shall have the right to immediately terminate this 
Agreement and will only be responsible for payment of work satisfactorily 
completed and for materials actually incorporated into the Services. 

 
D. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, manner and methods by which 

its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of the District. 
While providing the Services, the Contractor shall assign such staff as may be 
required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting, and 
controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Services.  

 
E. Contractor shall report directly to the District Manager.  Contractor shall use all 

due care to protect the property of the District, its residents and landowners from 
damage.  Contractor agrees to repair any damage resulting from Contractor’s 
activities and work within twenty-four (24) hours. 

 
F. Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of 

waste materials or rubbish caused by operations under the Agreement.  At 
completion of the Services, the Contractor shall remove from the site waste 
materials, rubbish, tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials.  
If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided herein, the District may do so and the 
cost thereof shall be charged to the Contractor. 

 
SECTION 3.  COMPENSATION, PAYMENT, AND RETAINAGE.   

 
 A. The District shall pay Contractor an amount not to exceed Ten Thousand Eight 

Hundred Dollars ($10,800.00) for the Services as identified in Exhibit A attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference. Contractor shall invoice the District 
for the Services upon completion of the Services and acceptance by the District. 
The District shall provide payment within forty-five (45) days of receipt of an 
invoice. Such amounts include all materials and labor provided for in Exhibit A 
and all items, labor, materials, or otherwise, to provide the District the maximum 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

benefits of the Services.   
 
 B. If the District should desire additional work or services, the Contractor agrees to 

negotiate in good faith to undertake such additional work or services.  Upon 
successful negotiations, the Parties shall agree in writing to an addendum, addenda, 
or change order(s) to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall be compensated for 
such agreed additional work or services based upon a payment amount acceptable 
to the parties and agreed to in writing. 

 
 C. The District may require, as a condition precedent to making any payment to the 

Contractor, that all subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers be paid and 
require evidence, in the form of lien releases or partial waivers of lien, to be 
submitted to the District by those subcontractors, material men, suppliers or 
laborers, and further require that the Contractor provide an Affidavit relating to the 
payment of said indebtedness. Further, the District shall have the right to require, 
as a condition precedent to making any payment, evidence from the Contractor, in 
a form satisfactory to the District, that any indebtedness of the Contractor, as to 
services to the District, has been paid and that the Contractor has met all of the 
obligations with regard to the  withholding and payment of taxes, Social Security 
payments, Workmen’s Compensation, Unemployment Compensation 
contributions, and similar payroll deductions from the wages of employees. 

 
 SECTION 4. INSURANCE. 
 
  A. The Contractor shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement the 

following insurance: 
 

(1) Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Florida. 

  
   (2) Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the Contractor’s 

legal liability for bodily injuries, with limits of not less than 
$1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage liability, and covering at least the following hazards: 

 
    (i) Independent Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and 

property damage in connection with any subcontractors’ 
operation. 

 
   (3) Employer’s Liability Coverage with limits of at least $1,000,000 

(one million dollars) per accident or disease. 
   
   (4) Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not 

less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and for 
property damage, providing coverage for any accident arising out of 
or resulting from the operation, maintenance, or use by the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

Contractor of any owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, trailers, 
or other equipment required to be licensed. 

 
B. The District, its staff, consultants and supervisors shall be named as 

additional insured.  The Contractor shall furnish the District with the 
Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with this requirement.  No 
certificate shall be acceptable to the District unless it provides that any 
change or termination within the policy periods of the insurance coverage, 
as certified, shall not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior written 
notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable 
insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida. 

 
C. If the Contractor fails to have secured and maintained the required 

insurance, the District has the right but not the obligation to secure such 
required insurance in which event the Contractor shall pay the cost for that 
required insurance and shall furnish, upon demand, all information that may 
be required in connection with the District’s obtaining the required 
insurance. 

 
 SECTION 5. INDEMNIFICATION. 

 
A. Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and its officers, 

agents, employees, successors, assigns, members, affiliates, or representatives from 
any and all liability, claims, actions, suits, liens, demands, costs, interest, expenses, 
damages, penalties, fines, judgments against the District, or loss or damage, whether 
monetary or otherwise, arising out of, wholly or in part by, or in connection with the 
Services to be performed by Contractor, its subcontractors, its employees and agents in 
connection with this Agreement, including litigation, mediation, arbitration, appellate, 
or settlement proceedings with respect thereto.  Additionally, nothing in this Agreement 
requires Contractor to indemnify the District for the District’s percentage of fault if the 
District is adjudged to be more than 50% at fault for any claims against the District and 
Contractor as jointly liable parties; however, Contractor shall indemnify the District for 
any and all percentage of fault attributable to Contractor for claims against the District, 
regardless whether the District is adjudged to be more or less than 50% at fault.  
 

B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, judgments, 
damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, court costs, 
arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorneys’ fees, paralegal fees, 
expert witness fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, or in bankruptcy 
proceedings), any interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, or judgments against 
the District. 

 
 SECTION 6. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be deemed as a waiver of the District’s sovereign immunity or the District’s limits of liability 
as set forth in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

otherwise be barred under such limitations of liability or by operation of law.  
 

 SECTION 7. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION.  The Contractor shall 
keep, observe, and perform all requirements of applicable local, State, and Federal laws, rules, 
regulations, or ordinances.  If the Contractor fails to notify the District in writing within five (5) 
days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to comply notice, or a report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, made by any local, State, or Federal governmental body or agency or subdivision 
thereof with respect to the services being rendered under this Agreement or any action of the 
Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees, or materialmen, or with respect to terms, 
wages, hours, conditions of employment, safety appliances, or any other requirements applicable 
to provision of services, or fails to comply with any requirement of such agency within five (5) 
days after receipt of any such notice, order, request to comply notice, or report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, the District may terminate this Agreement, such termination to be effective upon 
the giving of notice of termination. 
 
 SECTION 8. LIENS AND CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall promptly and properly pay for 
all labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by it to perform under this 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall keep the District’s property free from any materialmen’s or 
mechanic’s liens and claims or notices in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason 
of the Contractor’s performance under this Agreement, and the Contractor shall immediately 
discharge any such claim or lien.  In the event that the Contractor does not pay or satisfy such 
claim or lien within three (3) business days after the filing of notice thereof, the District, in addition 
to any and all other remedies available under this Agreement, may terminate this Agreement to be 
effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination. 

 
SECTION 9. DEFAULT AND PROTECTION AGAINST THIRD PARTY INTERFERENCE.  A 

default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at law 
or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, injunctive relief, and/or 
specific performance.  The District shall be solely responsible for enforcing its rights under this 
Agreement against any interfering third party.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit or 
impair the District’s right to protect its rights from interference by a third party to this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 10. CUSTOM AND USAGE.  It is hereby agreed, any law, custom, or usage to the 

contrary notwithstanding, that the District shall have the right at all times to enforce the conditions 
and agreements contained in this Agreement in strict accordance with the terms of this Agreement, 
notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of the District in refraining from so doing; and 
further, that the failure of the District at any time or times to strictly enforce its rights under this 
Agreement shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or manner contrary to 
the specific conditions and agreements of this Agreement, or as having in any way modified or 
waived the same. 

 
SECTION 11. SUCCESSORS.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties to this Agreement, 
except as expressly limited in this Agreement. 

 
 SECTION 12. TERMINATION.  The District agrees that the Contractor may terminate this 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

Agreement with cause by providing thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination to the District 
stating a failure of the District to perform according to the terms of this Agreement; provided, 
however, that the District shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure under this 
Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that the District may terminate this Agreement immediately 
for cause by providing written notice of termination to the Contractor. The District shall provide 
thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination without cause.  Upon any termination of this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all work and/or services rendered up 
until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject to whatever claims or off-sets the District 
may have against the Contractor.   

 
SECTION 13. PERMITS AND LICENSES.  All permits and licenses required by any 

governmental agency directly for the District shall be obtained and paid for by the District.  All 
other permits or licenses necessary for the Contractor to perform under this Agreement shall be 
obtained and paid for by the Contractor. 

 
 SECTION 14. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Contractor may assign this 
Agreement without the prior written approval of the other.  Any purported assignment without 
such approval shall be void. 
 
 SECTION 15. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  In all matters relating to this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor.  Neither the Contractor 
nor employees of the Contractor, if there are any, are employees of the District under the meaning 
or application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age Laws or 
otherwise.  The Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any one or 
more of such laws with respect to employees of the Contractor, if there are any, in the performance 
of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, 
express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Contractor shall have no authority to represent 
the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 16. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 17. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either the District or the 
Contractor is required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 
 
 SECTION 18. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
None of the provisions of Exhibit A shall apply to this Agreement and Exhibit A shall not be 
incorporated herein, except that Exhibit A is applicable to the extent that it states the scope of 
services for the labor and materials to be provided under this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 19. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both Parties. 
 
 SECTION 20. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of the Parties, the Parties have complied with all the 
requirements of law, and the Parties have full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
 SECTION 21. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notice” or "Notices") shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed by 
First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or sent by overnight delivery service, to the Parties, as follows: 
 

A. If to District:  Six Mile Creek Community  
    Development District 

       475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
St. Augustine, Florida 32092 

       Attn:  District Manager 
 

With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
       107 West College Avenue 
       Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
       Attn: District Counsel 
 

 B. If to the Contractor:  Jax Utilities Management, Inc. 
      5465 Verna Boulevard 
      Jacksonville, Florida 32205 

       Attn: _____________________ 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place 
of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days.  
Counsel for the District and counsel for the Contractor may deliver Notices on behalf of the District 
and the Contractor.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify 
the Parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by 
providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the Parties and addressees set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 

SECTION 22. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or for the 
benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, 
covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

 SECTION 23. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 
of the State of Florida.  All actions and disputes shall be brought in the proper court and venue, 
which shall be St. Johns County, Florida. 

 
SECTION 24. COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS.  Contractor understands and 

agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement 
may be public records, and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable 
provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 119.0701, 
Florida Statutes. Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records custodian for the 
District is Jim Oliver (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other requirements and to the 
extent applicable by law, the Contractor shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by the 
District to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, provide the 
District with the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a  
reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or confidential, and exempt from public 
records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of 
the contract term and following the contract term if the Contractor does not transfer the records to 
the Public Records Custodian of the District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to 
the District, at no cost, all  public records in Contractor’s possession or, alternatively, keep, 
maintain and meet all applicable  requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida 
laws.  When such public records are transferred by the Contractor, the Contractor shall destroy any 
duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 
requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a format that is 
compatible with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.   

 
IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
THE CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE 
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT: PHONE: (904) 940-
5850, JOLIVER@GMSNF.COM.COM, OR 475 WEST TOWN 
PLACE, SUITE 114, ST. AUGUSTINE, FLORIDA 32092. 
 

 SECTION 25. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
  

SECTION 26. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the Parties as an arm's length transaction.  The Parties participated fully in the preparation 
of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the Parties are each deemed to 
have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and any doubtful language will not be interpreted 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

or construed against any party. 
 
 SECTION 27. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. Additionally, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall 
be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as 
an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed versions of an 
original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g. via PDF) of an original 
signature, or signatures created in a digital format.  
 
 SECTION 28. E-VERIFY.  The Contractor shall comply with and perform all applicable 
provisions of Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, to the extent required by Florida 
Statute, Contractor shall register with and use the United States Department of Homeland 
Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly hired employees. 
The District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause if there is a good faith belief 
that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.091, Florida Statutes.  By entering into 
this Agreement, the Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with 
the Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the year immediately 
preceding the date of this Agreement.                             
 
 

[remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76



  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement on the day 
and year first written above. 

         
     SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Chairperson, Board of Supervisors  
 
 
 
      JAX UTILITIES MANAGEMENT, INC. 
 
 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      By:____________________________________ 
      Its:_______________________________________ 
 
 
Exhibit A: Scope of Services 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76

~Signed by: 

L½A~ 

Steven Jordan
Steven's Signature SJ

Steven Jordan
Steven Jordan

Steven Jordan
Chief Financial Officer



  

Exhibit A 
 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 62F3652F-818A-455D-982A-3E684EE33E76

_.., __ V 11 .... 1 I U,,ii-.., 

Description Unit Qty. Unit Price 
Trailmark Dr. Welcome Center 

Mob LS 1.0 $3,400.00 
Site Prep & Collar Injection LS 1.0 $5,500.00 
MOT LS 1.0 $700.00 
Dewater Pumps LS 1.0 $800.00 
18" - 24" Pipe Plug LS 1.0 $400.00 

-

Grand Total 

i1n Ann nn 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

4. 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES, INC., 

FOR EAST PARCEL PHASE 3 ENHANCEMENTS 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 17th day of March, 
2025, by and between: 

SIX MILE CREEK Community Development District, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in St. Johns County, Florida, and whose mailing address is 475 West Town 
Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 

BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES, INC., a Florida corporation with a 
mailing address of 11530 Davis Creek Court, Jacksonville, Florida 32256 
(“Contractor”, together with District,  “Parties”).  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government established pursuant 
to the Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, as codified in Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes (the “Act”), by ordinance adopted by St. Johns County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, 
constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, the District has a need to retain an independent contractor to provide landscape 
installation services; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a proposal and represents that it is qualified to provide 
landscape installation services and has agreed to provide to the District those services identified in 
the proposal and plans attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A 
(“Services”); and 

WHEREAS, the District and Contractor warrant and agree that they have all right, power 
and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and 
correct and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Agreement. 

SECTION 2. DUTIES. The District agrees to use Contractor to provide the Services in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The duties, obligations, and responsibilities of the 
Contractor are described in Exhibit A hereto.   

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



 
A. Contractor shall provide landscape installation services, as described in Exhibit A.  

The Services shall include any effort specifically required by this Agreement and 
Exhibit A reasonably necessary to allow the District to receive the maximum 
benefit of all of the Services and items described herein and demonstrated in 
Exhibit A, including but not limited to, the repair, construction, installation, and 
all materials reasonably necessary. To the extent any of the provisions of this 
Agreement are in conflict with the provisions of Exhibit A, this Agreement 
controls. 

 
B. Services shall  be performed and completed no later than March 25, 2025.   
 
C. This Agreement grants to Contractor the right to enter the lands that are subject to 

this Agreement, for those purposes described in this Agreement, and Contractor 
hereby agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. 

 
D. Contractor shall perform all Services in a neat and workmanlike manner.  In the 

event the District in its sole determination, finds that the work of Contractor is not 
satisfactory to District, District shall have the right to immediately terminate this 
Agreement and will only be responsible for payment of work satisfactorily 
completed and for materials actually incorporated into the Services. 

 
E. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, manner and methods by which 

its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of the District. 
While providing the Services, the Contractor shall assign such staff as may be 
required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting, and 
controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Services.  

 
F. Contractor shall report directly to the District Manager.  Contractor shall use all 

due care to protect the property of the District, its residents and landowners from 
damage.  Contractor agrees to repair any damage resulting from Contractor’s 
activities and work within twenty-four (24) hours. 

 
G. Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of 

waste materials or rubbish caused by operations under the Agreement.  At 
completion of the Services, the Contractor shall remove from the site waste 
materials, rubbish, tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials.  
If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided herein, the District may do so and the 
cost thereof shall be charged to the Contractor. 

 
SECTION 3.  COMPENSATION, PAYMENT, AND RETAINAGE.   

 
A. The District shall pay Contractor Two Hundred Forty Thousand Seven Hundred 

Twenty Six Dollars and Thirty Three Cents ($240,726.33) for the Services as 
identified in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
Contractor shall invoice the District upon completion of the Services and 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



acceptance of the Services by St. Johns County. The District shall provide payment 
within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the invoice. Such amounts include all 
materials and labor provided for in Exhibit A and all items, labor, materials, or 
otherwise, to provide the District the maximum benefits of the Services.   

 
B. If the District should desire additional work or services, the Contractor agrees to 

negotiate in good faith to undertake such additional work or services.  Upon 
successful negotiations, the Parties shall agree in writing to an addendum, addenda, 
or change order(s) to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall be compensated for 
such agreed additional work or services based upon a payment amount acceptable 
to the parties and agreed to in writing. 

 
C. The District may require, as a condition precedent to making any payment to the 

Contractor, that all subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers be paid and 
require evidence, in the form of lien releases or partial waivers of lien, to be 
submitted to the District by those subcontractors, material men, suppliers or 
laborers, and further require that the Contractor provide an Affidavit relating to the 
payment of said indebtedness. Further, the District shall have the right to require, 
as a condition precedent to making any payment, evidence from the Contractor, in 
a form satisfactory to the District, that any indebtedness of the Contractor, as to 
services to the District, has been paid and that the Contractor has met all of the 
obligations with regard to the  withholding and payment of taxes, Social Security 
payments, Workmen’s Compensation, Unemployment Compensation 
contributions, and similar payroll deductions from the wages of employees. 

 
SECTION 4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the District that all materials 

furnished under this Agreement shall be new, and that all services and materials shall be of good 
quality, free from faults and defects, and will conform to the standards and practices for projects 
of similar design and complexity in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the 
best interest of the District. In addition to all manufacturer warranties for materials purchased for 
purposes of this Agreement, all Work provided by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall 
be warranted for two (2) years from the date of acceptance of the Work by the District.  Contractor 
shall replace or repair warranted items to the District’s satisfaction and in the District’s discretion.  
Neither final acceptance of the Work, nor final payment therefore, nor any provision of the 
Agreement shall relieve Contractor of responsibility for defective or deficient materials or 
Services.  If any of the materials or Services are found to be defective, deficient or not in 
accordance with the Agreement, Contractor shall correct, remove and replace it promptly after 
receipt of a written notice from the District and correct and pay for any other damage resulting 
therefrom to District property or the property of landowner’s within the District.  
 
 SECTION 5. INSURANCE. 
 

A. The Contractor shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement the following 
insurance: 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



(1) Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Florida. 

  
(2) Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the Contractor’s legal 

liability for bodily injuries, with limits of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and property damage 
liability, and covering at least the following hazards: 

 
(i) Independent Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and property 

damage in connection with any subcontractors’ operation. 
 

(3) Employer’s Liability Coverage with limits of at least One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) per accident or disease. 

 
(4) Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not less than 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and 
for property damage, providing coverage for any accident arising out of or 
resulting from the operation, maintenance, or use by the Contractor of any 
owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, trailers, or other equipment 
required to be licensed. 

 
B. The District, its staff, consultants and supervisors shall be named as additional 

insured.  The Contractor shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance 
evidencing compliance with this requirement.  No certificate shall be acceptable to 
the District unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy 
periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty 
(30) days of prior written notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from 
a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida. 

 
C. If the Contractor fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, the 

District has the right but not the obligation to secure such required insurance in 
which event the Contractor shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall 
furnish, upon demand, all information that may be required in connection with the 
District’s obtaining the required insurance. 

 
 SECTION 6. INDEMNIFICATION. 

 
A. Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and its 

officers, agents, employees, successors, assigns, members, affiliates, or 
representatives from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits, liens, demands, 
costs, interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, judgments against the District, 
or loss or damage, whether monetary or otherwise, arising out of, wholly or in part 
by, or in connection with the Services to be performed by Contractor, its 
subcontractors, its employees and agents in connection with this Agreement, 
including litigation, mediation, arbitration, appellate, or settlement proceedings 
with respect thereto.  Additionally, nothing in this Agreement requires Contractor 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



to indemnify the District for the District’s percentage of fault if the District is 
adjudged to be more than 50% at fault for any claims against the District and 
Contractor as jointly liable parties; however, Contractor shall indemnify the District 
for any and all percentage of fault attributable to Contractor for claims against the 
District, regardless whether the District is adjudged to be more or less than 50% at 
fault.  

 
B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, 

judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, 
court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorneys’ fees, 
paralegal fees, expert witness fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, or in 
bankruptcy proceedings), any interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, or 
judgments against the District. 
 

 SECTION 7. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be deemed as a waiver of the District’s sovereign immunity or the District’s limits of liability 
as set forth in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred under such limitations of liability or by operation of law.  

 
 SECTION 8. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION.  The Contractor shall 
keep, observe, and perform all requirements of applicable local, State, and Federal laws, rules, 
regulations, or ordinances.  If the Contractor fails to notify the District in writing within five (5) 
days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to comply notice, or a report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, made by any local, State, or Federal governmental body or agency or subdivision 
thereof with respect to the services being rendered under this Agreement or any action of the 
Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees, or materialmen, or with respect to terms, 
wages, hours, conditions of employment, safety appliances, or any other requirements applicable 
to provision of services, or fails to comply with any requirement of such agency within five (5) 
days after receipt of any such notice, order, request to comply notice, or report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, the District may terminate this Agreement, such termination to be effective upon 
the giving of notice of termination. 
 
 SECTION 9. LIENS AND CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall promptly and properly pay for 
all labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by it to perform under this 
Agreement.  The Contractor shall keep the District’s property free from any materialmen’s or 
mechanic’s liens and claims or notices in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason 
of the Contractor’s performance under this Agreement, and the Contractor shall immediately 
discharge any such claim or lien.  In the event that the Contractor does not pay or satisfy such 
claim or lien within three (3) business days after the filing of notice thereof, the District, in addition 
to any and all other remedies available under this Agreement, may terminate this Agreement to be 
effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination. 

 
SECTION 10. DEFAULT AND PROTECTION AGAINST THIRD PARTY INTERFERENCE.  A 

default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at law 
or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, injunctive relief, and/or 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



specific performance.  The District shall be solely responsible for enforcing its rights under this 
Agreement against any interfering third party.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit or 
impair the District’s right to protect its rights from interference by a third party to this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 11. CUSTOM AND USAGE.  It is hereby agreed, any law, custom, or usage to the 

contrary notwithstanding, that the District shall have the right at all times to enforce the conditions 
and agreements contained in this Agreement in strict accordance with the terms of this Agreement, 
notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of the District in refraining from so doing; and 
further, that the failure of the District at any time or times to strictly enforce its rights under this 
Agreement shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or manner contrary to 
the specific conditions and agreements of this Agreement, or as having in any way modified or 
waived the same. 

 
SECTION 12. SUCCESSORS.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties to this Agreement, 
except as expressly limited in this Agreement. 

 
 SECTION 13. TERMINATION.  The District agrees that the Contractor may terminate this 
Agreement with cause by providing thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination to the District 
stating a failure of the District to perform according to the terms of this Agreement; provided, 
however, that the District shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure under this 
Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that the District may terminate this Agreement immediately 
for cause by providing written notice of termination to the Contractor. The District shall provide 
thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination without cause.  Upon any termination of this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all work and/or services rendered up 
until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject to whatever claims or off-sets the District 
may have against the Contractor.   

 
SECTION 14. PERMITS AND LICENSES.  All permits and licenses required by any 

governmental agency directly for the District shall be obtained and paid for by the District.  All 
other permits or licenses necessary for the Contractor to perform under this Agreement shall be 
obtained and paid for by the Contractor. 

 
 SECTION 15. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Contractor may assign this 
Agreement without the prior written approval of the other.  Any purported assignment without 
such approval shall be void. 
 
 SECTION 16. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  In all matters relating to this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor.  Neither the Contractor 
nor employees of the Contractor, if there are any, are employees of the District under the meaning 
or application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age Laws or 
otherwise.  The Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any one or 
more of such laws with respect to employees of the Contractor, if there are any, in the performance 
of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, 
express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Contractor shall have no authority to represent 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 17. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 18. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either the District or the 
Contractor is required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 
 
 SECTION 19. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
None of the provisions of Exhibit A shall apply to this Agreement and Exhibit A shall not be 
incorporated herein, except that Exhibit A is applicable to the extent that it states the scope of 
services for the labor and materials to be provided under this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 20. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both Parties. 
 
 SECTION 21. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of the Parties, the Parties have complied with all the 
requirements of law, and the Parties have full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
 SECTION 22. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notice” or “Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed by 
First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or sent by overnight delivery service, to the Parties, as follows: 
 
 
 A. If to District:   Six Mile Creek Community Development District 
      475 West Town Place, Suite 114 
      St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
      Attn:  District Manager 
 

With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
      107 West College Avenue 
      Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
      Attn: District Counsel 
 

B. If to the Contractor:  BrightView Landscape Services, Inc. 
     11530 Davis Creek Court 
     Jacksonville, Florida 32256 

      Attn: Rodney Hicks – Branch Manager 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place 
of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days.  
Counsel for the District and counsel for the Contractor may deliver Notices on behalf of the District 
and the Contractor.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify 
the Parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by 
providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the Parties and addressees set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 

SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or for the 
benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, 
covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall 
be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors, and assigns. 

 
 SECTION 24. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 
of the State of Florida.  All actions and disputes shall be brought in the proper court and venue, 
which shall be St. Johns County, Florida. 

 
 SECTION 25. COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS.  Contractor understands and 
agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement 
may be public records, and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable 
provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 119.0701, 
Florida Statutes. Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records custodian for the 
District is Jim Oliver (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other requirements and to the extent 
applicable by law, the Contractor shall 1) keep and maintain public records required by the District 
to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public Records Custodian, provide the District with 
the requested public records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a  reasonable 
time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) 
ensure that public records which are exempt or confidential, and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following the contract term if the Contractor does not transfer the records to the 
Public Records Custodian of the District; and 4) upon completion of the contract, transfer to the 
District, at no cost, all  public records in Contractor’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain 
and meet all applicable  requirements for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When 
such public records are transferred by the Contractor, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate 
public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the District in a format that is 
compatible with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.   

 
IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORDS AT (904) 940-5850, OR BY EMAIL AT 
JOLIVER@GMSNF.COM, OR BY REGULAR MAIL AT 475 WEST TOWN 
PLACE, SUITE 114, ST. AUGUSTINE, FLORIDA 32092. 

 
 SECTION 26. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
  

SECTION 27. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the Parties as an arm’s length transaction.  The Parties participated fully in the preparation 
of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the Parties are each deemed to 
have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and any doubtful language will not be interpreted 
or construed against any party. 
 
 SECTION 28. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. Additionally, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall 
be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as 
an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed versions of an 
original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g. via PDF) of an original 
signature, or signatures created in a digital format.  
 
 SECTION 29. E-VERIFY.  The Contractor shall comply with and perform all applicable 
provisions of Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, to the extent required by Florida 
Statute, Contractor shall register with and use the United States Department of Homeland 
Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly hired employees. 
The District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause if there is a good faith belief 
that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes.  By entering into 
this Agreement, the Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with 
the Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the year immediately 
preceding the date of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 30. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 20.055, FLORIDA STATUTES.   The Contractor 
agrees to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, to cooperate with the inspector general 
in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing pursuant to such section and to 
incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



 
SECTION 31.  SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES STATEMENT.   Contractor certifies it: (i) is not 

in violation of Section 287.135, Florida Statutes; (ii) is not on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Sudan List; (iii) is not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran 
Petroleum Energy Sector List; (iv) does not have business operations in Cuba or Syria; (v) is not 
on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List; and (vi) is not participating in a boycott of 
Israel.  If the Contractor is found to have submitted a false statement with regards to the prior 
sentence, has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, the 
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or the Scrutinized 
Companies that Boycott Israel List, has engaged in business operations in Cuba or Syria, and/or 
has engaged in a boycott of Israel, the District may immediately terminate the Contract. 

 
                            

 
[CONTINUED ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

 
 
  

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement on the day and 
year first written above. 
 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
              
       Chairperson, Board of Supervisors  
 
 

BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE 
SERVICES, INC. 

 
 
              
       By:       
       Its:       
 
Exhibit A: Scope of Services 

Vice President & General Manager
Steven K. Brackin

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087



Exhibit A 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

BtightView -- Proposal for !Extra Work at 
s·x ile CDD Trailmark 

F>r~ertyN me 
F>roperty MareH 

Sue Mu& COD T m11tli: 

05 Trai11111-1!rll lltl119 
$1 AIJ!ll.lS!in•, F 3.!0'n 

Project [)ei;i;.rlpuoo enhenc,emenl 

Coolac,1 

fo 
Billing~ 

Scopa ofWo k 

'CO LETIO DA.TE MARCH 25, 20~5 

Gr9.11l<t1m 

SilllMRCDO 

476 W To,,,n S! 1 t4 

SI Avgu : ' FL :no9.! 

Additional grading mil)" be, required an p~ible iQil needed, Q lbe d rmined 

1.00 LUMF"Sll 

531 .OD EACH 

$3.2 00 E/1.CH 

7.00 E/1.CH 

12:CI:) E/1.CH 

15,.00 12ACH 

U.00 GACH 

17.00 12ACH 

32.00 GACH 

2liilUID EAC 

l:DIUID EAC 

100JID EAC 

11.00 

1.00 

EACH 

EACH 

BAG 

UMF'Sli 

WEEK 

stooo Is rem0i!'8d rom t nd. 

Additilinal wa erii"iQ may be 1"1i!!8<li!d as wall pencling compJeUon al well in;;tall and 
el ctrical. 

Ma1Jlrii11Do,1,crl plkm 

!:ii Uoo II rlilrou l'IIIIDII .i 
in,..,, plan15 1111d om a,,..,., d""'p lff9! l:nsh, .rag,, 
plert1 lo,-ln1ti,1, ~d '11~ 11nd clllpQM ¢ boll lni,m 

n1!1A>d 

~m ll4!d Cld!!r-e&BI r 1111>1111211 

ndlll DD- 45' Ill' II Ir Ill 13 

Siu 1Pina ,....,, • B.5!BI 2"· 2.15" ca o II 

LM, O,,k, 45 p • 'r• 2.15" II r, 

t;aglc,S1a, 110I B&B 13" 12 ~ 

Sabal Poims • IB&BI' apprmir1111111tr 12 to 13' ll 

W!lJI M,111&-7 !;Ill Ill IO 24" Ill 2'1" l(lr 

Bllln at 1!11'11! rai; Ill llld 

llfl-2 X 01!:)r Plllmllr 

SIii illl1- p!llnl 

Tl1Jot! wik1u1rl!p 'II 

11).10 Pi!~ ""'Ii no i. I,[ 

HN,"'.J' •llll'l!'1'(lr>1 wt k S! 

Tn•• Boom w . mn'llll 

llnillPrk• 

$6,65:J.57 

S7.~ 

$7 

$il8$l\ 

S7◄0,51 

!.6711.311 

ll ,mS.95 

S.314.81 

553.111 

s10.n 

S9.TO 

40,800.00 SOLIIIRE FEET IBllhia, Sod ln1ia'1"'1 

.0 

$40.!oli 

Sli7 

'405.00 

$1, 11115.61 

$0.1\8 

$4,9911.1 1.00 WMP'SU ,Pbn't and in,., 1n11i delt,,,rr fm 

Tobi 

So,65:i.51 

SU7&77 

111 ;575.04 

$8.11181.118 

119,991.11!1 

111,995.72 

SU295.1CI 

,460.112 

Sl!70.J2 

Sl,88' 

s.l HI 

Sl 531.f!G 

S3J4 00 

II, .14&67 

U1,8411.l2 

$4,998.7 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

Brig~~~ 

1.00 LVMPSUM 

Pufflfjllnffloll 

1.00 LUMP SUM 

Podlet Pafil lRR Inst.ill 

1.00 LUMP$VM 

Ph•• 3 •addldoMlatN 

1.00 LUMPSUM 

1.00 LVMPSUM 

153.DO """" 165.DO """" 
2.00 """" 
3.00 """" ,.oo 

"""" 
2.00 EACH 

,.oo 
"""" 

1100 """" .. ., """" 
II 00 """" .. ., """" 
, .. .oo 

"""" 
7.00 . .,, 
1.00 LUMPSUM 

1.00 LUMP SUM 

1.00 LUMP SUM 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

80d delYe,ty ... $5,883.6' 

PlfflP 3 hP SUb (4") 1n.-11eo 2XI votl 3 dlllYlt•r w ,-nge 
S~r 27 Amp Ma:ic. 140 w/ Erdoscw Co)'OIII Pump 
Prot«.tor 3 Phtlff Al $' 11 2" Well 

S29,000.0t 

Pod(ei Pft IAR lnNI $12,ol54.SS 

l.lbOr kl f'OI.Gh grecll •rd ~ .-.as for ,,_., planls an;t 
90d .,. ... OMI) edge bedt.. , .. plentt tor Nlall. •M 
rwnow and (llspo" of Oebris hem 1te. 

$2,314.29 

0,em ~icalior.- sp-w, out bed area loca:lltd behind lots 
414 • 407 10111111,ri kl prep liofi...t11111, 

$335.09 

Mt.tlly iyas • 1 gllll ptants insla!bd S7.3S 

Faklnald'lce Dwarf~ • 1 glll p&Mts inslallecl $7.64 

Soulhem Red Cedar• B&Bl'Z' caV 10to 12ft S985.l8 

~rdiaOO. 4Sga11Tcalf9'to13R S740.S3 

SIHh Pl~ ltM:I· B&BIT· 2.75" eel "" S771.73 

Uve Oek• 45 Off· 'F • 2..7S' e8I 8 fl $678.36 

E8QHl!i1on Holy• B&813" eel 12 fl $1,175.91 

$llbll Pat,..• 8&81 approdm;nety 12 lo 13' II $374&e 

Yr.ax Myrl!► 7 9'110 glltl kl 21 htll 24· ,pr $53,18 

8F1;. 2 X •·s t,r Patin btidng suo 
$131:e ~-- for pamt $59,01 

8111n: of pii,e sir- lns&aled 110.n 

8-10-10 palm a,,d lJee ferti!Re,, 167.69 

l-e11vye~nl fee/ Skid St~ s.«)4.99 

Pant \'N. ph& stn!lw ma•..- deliwty tee $2.777,65 

MMIOn•I IRR IM1al $5.'31.59 

THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE 
l1t•,._..iil.,•idt;r....,i,o)•~ ..... •o.,.,..M ■pp,11•11,C~~la'Vo»P,.....,. 

.lolll~ltilll306,,a...,f\.»cmllll,I• 

Match 04, 2025 

Paot2of7 

$5,983.5' 

$Ubtotll S29.000.01 

129.000.01 

Subtouf S 11,As.t. 55 

$12,454 55 

SutJtot.11 S3UH,n 

$2,31◄.29 

SJ35.09 

Sl.123.79 

$1259.78 

Sl.970.37 

5222U9 

$3.086.93 

$1,356.71 

$4,703.65 

S4.12).'1 

S4.5~21 

$11)5.73 

$885.19 

Sl.593.•1 

s.t:73.84 

S-04.99 

$2.777.85 

S.S.43\.5!9 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

Images 

liv♦ Olk 

Sabl•Palm 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COO Trailmark 

Red Ceda.r 

TH.IS IS NOT AH INVOICE 
n,. po,;,poHII • .... toir h1)' 1>0) .,. .,._. ohorwi• •PPIIIIW 11, c~ $1nlG' Va ,., ......... 

v.11eo..,_,1t4:105,,~fl.,X0,pfo.t• 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

Wax Myrll• 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

plnestraw 

TH.IS IS NOT AN INVOICE 
'"•~l11V11Wt;,,...,~)dop..,..,o.,.,.. .... 0¥9ClbrC~S.,,•ooVa,,_,...,.. 

S.11C....,..IW:10!,,&>.,f1.»lm0fl I• 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

Gatorbag 

Arborbtac» 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COO Trailmark 

TH.IS IS NOT AN INVOICE 
111• ~•• vtilld lor 1N1r ~)•,- _,., oa-.nio .. •ppr1110N t,yC~ Stnhr Ve. Pt•lldld 

Y.t1~tlt4-~fl,Dn)pll. , .. 

March 04, 2025 

P.Sal7 



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

BrightView ~ --

E~gtffton Holly 

$0, 

JOB# 
Service Un• 

8617081 
•60800520 

130 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

THIS IS NOT AN IHYOICE 

Total Price 

flt• PIOfONI• "•lid l;,r lw1'QO).p _....,, ~- •ppo..,;t byC~ $..,Iv, Va,,, ...... 
!ot11eo..i.1Wa.ta-.f1.»cm-.1 .. 

$237.475.42 



 

 

 

D
oc

us
ig

n 
E

nv
el

op
e 

ID
: 7

6C
3B

B
D

1-
3B

64
-4

53
9-

A
E

12
-8

46
D

9E
07

B
08

7

TRAILMARK EAST PARCEL - PHASE Ill 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE DOCUMENTS 

·:"····-.. , 
\~... ,/ 

• .. ') ,' ..... __ ... 
•••• , ,J '"' ., } 

.¥, -~-/ ,~ 
\ ' , . .,._; :'.. ~ ! - -.. -... .. ' " 

- --~":,.--::-..I ! 
'• 

INOEXPI.AN 

LC-02/ 
TM-01 /

1 -
LC-04/ 
TM-03 

LC-03/ 
TM-02 

LC-05/ 
TM-04 

LC-07/ 
TM-06 

EB 

LAHOSCAflE SHEET INOElt ---
I -;::a 
5= 

---._.::.-c --a= -- ... ~, 
sl-=== ... ..- ..... :M-~ri ---.. _..... I 

1 : : : I' 
: I 1 

I, . 
II!". ! 'I"·, I l' 

\,JI I 

~I w, 
. 

I ' I 11,1 

I i 11 

l®~T,IIL~I 



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

I 

I• •'n If 

ETml~~ ··.-:: ---- .... - .. --- - .. ---.-



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

~"' -=-~.=-=,_='=:=-~-~-~-=,,_ ETmlf;~r~--_ :~-
1:1 --------

11• 1 .. IT Le-o2 
IEE SHEET LC-03 

m 



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

-4--
I 

....:. 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

"--L .. 

··r--, 
I ,, 
I 
I 

_! __ _ 
_,_ 
r 
I 

I 

I 

I 

IF 

r• 

' : 
I 

L 

• 

♦NIUII 

I 

' 
I J 

-------- . .t 
·····r 

' : 
I I 

j 
: 

--✓ 

,,__ ...... ,...,. ..... , ------·---- ... 

' l I 
1 Ii ( ........... . 

I 

.,_ __ _ 

---

I 

HE IHHT Lc..o2 
UE SHEET LC-03 

·[I] 



 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

I 
I 
I ., .. ;,;: . , .. 

i,i 
~l!l 
rlr 

~:t 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Ui 

*""""" ~...,. ........... , ------

I 
I .,. 

;:1: .. , .. .,. 
s:e 
i;,i; 
218 

I 
I 

i 1 ,---'---~ 
I ' 

[TI 

ETml ~-..,,.. __ 

------ .. -



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

-------t-J- .. 
I : 

\---1---4 1-~ ------. ' 

I 

• 
I 

I 

\ 
_J 

\ 

CF 

,,__ ...... ,...,. ..... , ------·---- ... 

' ' • 
I 

1 
----- --- '----·· 

• ' I ' I 

ETml~-~·-.-: -... ,..__ .... --- :.:.::_ _::.:;_ 

• 
' ' 



 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

____ HE SHEET LC-o& ---------------------------------
111 IHHT LA:•07 

,, 
•••••••••· .. .J.: 

' I I 

I 
II 

I 

I I 
I 



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

SEE SHIEET LC-.0& 
--- - &£IE SHIEETt.C.07 - ---- -- - - ------ -- ------ ------- -- - ·---~ 

f I 
I 

• ,: 
• 

I 

• I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I f 
I 

-
~ 
I 

-
I 

'• I 
I 

; 

m-
IF ,_...,. 

,,__ ...... NM& ..... , ------·---- ... 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

i
r- eemoca-~.ta 

~Uff_,.... ...... -_ _. __ 



 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

I : 
I I 

'\, .. _ ... ______ ------ ------

Ui 
I ' 

• I 

'· • 
I I I 

'I'' • !i l I 

I 

____ J~P-"~~~~---------------------------------Sl!I! SUE.H 1.C.-07 

•• .,. ..... 
,.........,.,.._,.,.... ---.---

Ii.Iii cl r.11 r.l M-rl I i 
"':'i , ':'II 7 :-77; I j 
'1 i l I !I ! I 
I I I '' : I t I i 
I 

I 

• 
) 

I 

l • 

____ .... 
"-· ., __ _ 



 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 76C3BBD1-3B64-4539-AE12-846D9E07B087

BrightView~ -- Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile CDD Trailmark 

Property Name Six Mile COO Tta.ilmatk 
Property Address &OS Trailm"rk Ol'lv• 

SI Augustine. FL 3,2092 

Con\aot 

To 

G,99 Kem 

Sill Mile COD 

Billing Addrtss 475 W TGWn pt Sit 11' 
St Avg1,1sline. Fl 3209'2 

Project Name $ii( Mile COO Trailmark: Wt11ttr lNdt w•kty rat.t for new install atong rustic mill dri~ 

Project Description Six Mile COD Trailmark: Waler tuck weekly rate for new Install along ru&dc 
mill4ffllt 

Scope of Work 

QTY UoM/Siu MaWrial/Oes-cri ptlon Unit Price Tobi 

1.00 EACH 
~---··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--··--~= 

W'aleflftilerwHl\t)'t$1& $1.,&33.ll $1,433.33 

20.00 HOUR 

1.00 LVMP$UM 

,.. .. _ .. _.,"' 
500 
,oa, 
Scltvlce Lin• 

Labor to n11 ... epptywater perwMt 

W'ailltl)tl''Wtt« 33)0,gal Pt' ._.tkl80091i11P41"da'1 

$86,◄0 

$89,$8 

Tolal Price 

nus IS NOT AN INVOICE 
Tfi,""°"°"'I • .,.lid ll:lf h1t'lXl)dl,- ,,._. Ol:hW'MM •OPl,,.,.i lit C~ StnlO' Yie. P, • ....,_ 

MIIC..,,Wltlll-.P-.•l»cm,,_ la 

St.12&00 

$89.58 

$3,250.91 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5. 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES, INC. 

FOR EAST PARCEL PHASE 3 ENHANCEMENTS 

This First Amendment (“First Amendment”) is made and entered into this 14th day 
of April 2025, by and between: 

SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 
situated in St. Johns County, Florida, and having offices at GMS Management 
Services, LLC, 475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
(“District”); and 

BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES, INC., a Florida corporation with a mailing 
address of 11530 Davis Creek Court, Jacksonville, Florida 32256 (“Contractor”, 
and together with District, “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, on March 17, 2025, the District and the Contractor entered into an 
agreement for landscape and irrigation maintenance services (“Services Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 20 of the Services Agreement, the Parties desire to 
amend the Services Agreement as set forth in more detail in Section 2 below; and 

WHEREAS, any terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in 
the Services Agreement. 

WHEREAS, each of the Parties hereto has the authority to execute this First Amendment 
and to perform its obligations and duties hereunder, and each Party has satisfied all conditions 
precedent to the execution of this First Amendment so that this First Amendment constitutes a 
legal and binding obligation of each Party hereto. 

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon good and valuable consideration and the mutual 
covenants of the Parties, the receipt of which and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the District and the Contractor agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. The Services Agreement is hereby affirmed and the Parties hereto agree 
that it continues to constitute a valid and binding agreement between the Parties.  Except as 
described in Section 2 of this First Amendment, nothing herein shall modify the rights and 
obligations of the Parties under the Services Agreement. All of the remaining provisions remain 
in full effect and fully enforceable.  



 SECTION 2. 
 
 A. The Services Agreement is hereby amended to reflect the updated scope 

of services pursuant to Contractor’s proposals dated March 20, 2025; March 28, 
2025; March 31, 2025, and April 3, 2025; for East Parcel Phase services as set 
forth in Exhibit A, attached hereto (“Additional Services”). 

 
 B. Compensation for the Additional Services shall be amended in 

accordance with Exhibit A.  Such payment shall be due and payable in 
accordance with the terms of the Services Agreement, as amended.   

 
 SECTION 3. To the extent that any terms or conditions found in Exhibit A conflict with 
the terms and conditions of the Services Agreement or this First Amendment, the Services 
Agreement and this First Amendment control and shall prevail.   
 

SECTION 4. All other terms of the Services Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect and are hereby ratified. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have signed this First Amendment to the 
Services Agreement on the day and year first written above. 
 
 
ATTEST:      SIX MILE CREEK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
       
 
WITNESS:      BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES, INC. 
 
 
 
_______________________________   ____________________________________ 
Witness      By:_________________________________ 
       Its:_________________________________ 
 
 
 
Exhibit A:  Scope of Additional Services 

Vice President & General Manager
Steven K. Brackin



 
 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Additional Services 

 
 

 

BrightView~ 
uno:11(--~~ 

Ptopeny Name 
Ptopeny Address 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

Soc Mile COO Tra.,,811c 
805 Tra.,,arlc OrNe 
S1 Augusta"le, FL 32M2 

Con1ac1 Greg t<em 

To Sbc MUe COO 

8.,gAddreu 415WTownPISle114 
SI Augusta"le, FL 32092 

Ptofecl Name Soc Mile COO Tra.,.uwtc: Water truck weelely rate brnew lns!.al along rustic m■ dr'Ne 

Ptofecl Oe,ct\)tbn Soc Mile COO Tralrnartc: Water truck weelcly tale br new lns!.81 along rude 

QTY UoM/Siu 

1..00 EAOI 

20.00 HOUR 

1..00 LUMP SUM 

so, 
JOB# 
Service Une 

8629990 
460800520 

150 

m■ dr'Ne 

Scope ot Work 

MMerial'Descr\,fon 

wmcr nilcr ..--kJy nille 

L:lbor to fill and apply..-.,i,e, per ..-'eek. 

Wmcr per ...,_k. 3200gd per "''eckJ 800 911 per day 

THSS IS HOT Nol INVOICE 

Uni! Price 

$1.433.33 

$88.40 

$89.58 

Total Price 

Tl'H l)lq)OWIIS WIOA:ir IN") (30) &ysu.-111$ OlhoMSO"l)l)IO'tod~ Con:u,o:Ol"sSol'oOf Vlco PnH,I~ 
sa11cw~11~11us,f1,,1o..,,1.,:-a:>1'1"' r .. 

ll_,rdl 20. 2025 

flllql> 1012 

$1.433.33 

$1,728.00 

$89.58 

$3,250.91 



 

 
 
 

t,hudl 20, 2025 

h9f12d2 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 

n.t;_.,i,aoet9l•NClliJ1Warojlllrfl)'fflt>lllXllf __ ..,,t11,,._,.,_ 
04»<l<t11...-.onJO,,,,<'fill«IV<«t.-l""-l>lblll,_J.r-•.,.1-m 
l:.>l'tJ~ft)IIOtltl. 

\~ A),w. c- , .... (l[KoJ- f .,..,.._1111. ... ...-ti •«•b"ff fl 

~ -~~1(9'.,_0,._. ... ~l(l.ll>_fOf....,_ 
t,._ ~ ,Id O.teftll(Ufl: ,r,:i OJ.-.0. O'IOV-.-~IIClli-"_,to..-01111 
lho\lS 

J. utntt .-.. Pe!.'n» c-en1rv:,1 -11 o WIN:lelw,,e c~ ~-. 1 
~o-.-ano11Q1.11""'· •u·.,.~Ql!tltt..,vio•~ •-.-.u_,...i,.,. 
c.., ••• ,.,~-~-· ...... , ... ,., __ ,oi - ........ 
(l'~IIJ'eit!J\W'O!l~l!M.,e,$(1~~1V ... ~.,,..Ge-..Wt) 
o_ll_lt)'.,,_,_,...,...,ll)•;wn,e_,.,.~Ol•no~•(IO' , .. ,_ 

" f_Q)o(,-,e,'11.W•lo!Mflll~U.-.~-.,,~•~ 
T;lll(tefQ. •l<fO~',jt,";,; 

_, .....,_C11<-;o),,..10-o.-...u.tn,1,.111,nw.A1<1-1.-.~ 
w""""".__.,.~-~T•- W .. fl?/WtW..-iu-.. .. fJIJ<,.._61 
0.<1-1. tlf, _,,, ... In ••"'ti po: 10 -11 (t ..._.. II T'f1 ~ 
COrmo,f._.. l\lM~ fS\nftt"'ft SL~.-.e11•11'-

I L~ o,:,rtrt,;1wr,c.r111;11oei.•1:111,.....,.11-,1_.t_,.,__Oi;:d 
...-..i. ••--•oon:lll.,.._1 .. ~.- -- '"II'""'-"''-" 
, ... _,. ,,_.., l\'-, 8'-",_,,'"' ac-,-,...- """"°'' -o• ~• 
•'""?"""'V ~ ~-·!,---•- ... --•
....,...i ""o• 01 -• oa'""" 01 ,.._,, d pa~• l>l"t-lhl ~ 
__ ,..,;_.,--.. u.-,-_,,.,..1.-.c--. o....- ~ .. -.._ 
1ti,,lto•""'V"•" tt--•at'Oii--d1i.C-- ...... f!IQ,•p 

, Mftle;,,l~~.,._rd(M~"ll!ll'll'9t'Qlf'fr,IJII !~M!l"ttQI 
.......;-,..."'°~"'""'.......,c-~--,.,,..t>t.-. ___ 11,o111-o.--

$U_N,..,, ..... C.......,.,,.. .__,.,. ll'a ... , W> 1,.., q.,_lli•d .. ..._,_ .. 
""""'"'~ed~!d-,_ ..,.1 -"''\I •p,d,#l>..i..,,,_,._ 

<j M:1~1 $#,rr:w< ... •-mol ,...,t "''........, "' N ..... ,. •i-:o...,.tv 
..... o\'9...,..(l-WS"'"Wll,J~'-11.,ll;,.1'..-C.fl~1'•,W#I~ 
•.,-•-..,.-,n,1_,.11,.u1,m1I• 

"' ~., .etl$"1t c•- -"'"°" "11"'"ttPl'ltrn> 1t1t"<'flt c~ 
.,_,,.,,.,.,,,. ••• .,.1i-1ad,-...-.0,..,,=, ■1o~m-••,..._ 

!>ft,,. CO,■.:to,(l,:• l:t-•• 1!■11 1"'°"111. llAf9,_!o..tN■1--
0'ft■t,_...,_~Ol l...,.CIIO'l'nl<IO',... _,..IN_:it_,_.......,,,,_ ... 
"te•i:nt~-!"'!!!l:e-l'IO~tet~,..~O'N'"'.,,., 

II Pwt-TtfllS\.tol~l""Olli•~C-..■::l:l_,,,..~Cumott:,O,-.(lh 
Pl~(IP,te_,,,hr-"'fGts.llA:>eSlvfltlle~t,Culll:ff>e11:1Ql......,<,p:t1 
....,,._o!,,._,P"foct.-c<t-w "9'""1"'"''"'•"11 

1! T"-~ l11$V,Oll.0,Wlllil:>'QIJlt!~W>1't,,__°'"";""' O'wCi>;o,t(l_., 
ux.,_(n_>'i_O:.'MIIU>_<:Ull_.,.,toe,_r\lellloll'IJt:fflt 
l1'111;a,.1$1V(l•--"':i,'),o,)IOOolU»1N-«»sn-•l'd-.J-~t~ 
"J"TWno,om:...-o 

U ~'W'ntfJ; l'llt C\$lfl',ef O'O ~ ~ INOKC~ I>~ lkl'i'W.C. Ni' 
W.~~--J.\$Q~OO$O'IOt'!ltl~tllt- IOrteOIN:t!IO'tt'...r. It-~ 
11) .. C~rteo,I\N~-MCF,er 11,e,c;.-,.,.. l'OINCo,n..,:i:.,-.,,OIIIV' 
o,l'_,,,...,.,.._.,_t.-,1~ ........... fJ'Gail!'lll'Mfl_,,..,_..,1N .. __ _ 

n,_r ll'lltoo._,.., .. .,.,.-'""',o••ll'ltr_.,o_.,.,.,o•,v"""1W"f 
¥.:II...,·-,. ., oett,,_.. •· ,.. • o..- •ffl- .......i "'" Coti10<lo< 1, n 
00,,ntetf)fl,.f> -1'"""1111 ¥1 ..... O'WWriloa ""'!JI!!, NIIJ (J:il O' 
----•Ol--0'~....:wllliOll -.otOlllfl -~ d-0' 
<'O'p«Oletlll,......,_<>!'l 

K Oa<WTW• l"il _____ _, __ a,,_,....., ....... ,..,,,_. 

,.~,.,o.,~.-.:-t.....;,(1,-.,,... ••• 110,.,_11,_i., .. 1"1•-!
~ ,~.,"-"'"'v-111on-,o•N"'ot11°"""'(,ljll. 11,111t,__.<1t,.• 
11!0.nd - -..1 WPldlOe> a,,cu1•--- :U ~ ,w; Ml bl 1•111• IC.o Mt 
•,et;,oNI - O' <MftQII t01•U1~•••1'111.~~0l!lle-•IIM""'!J 
l"C~~Ule!:l,Jlj!O~(Ol':;:c.,n, l~l•eite«t11«r111~0, - {1'W"d 
N!V'-d~l~W~ff/lY-e!l'lt/l'l'CNolJ"K«U:I'- ~ 
COrt~..-,oO!t-J,..i,~1;111)1~1""~-" <1t•n~ ""f -~---r:a,.,....,._.__..,.._..~..,--,1'111 
•-•11.-•-•4- •-ro.v,s.,,.c..-,••Nru.,...., 
-~<t-~1-i>•~w,noc~ N>l_,c.,~1-,re 
~ftl..:C0:<C-!ft W.ll'tMlt~'rld~OJt,ICIJ't1 IINC\ill-ffMC 
•~• ~-.,.__. -- _..,, --• IIMo,,<:oof_..., .,.,._,. 
-- .-- C.111 &c,,i;o,, ore• t>O: coo o, 1-, c- Cl'm.lr'to flt-~ -

IS ~«ukft lloloeio</C.rc•l.bll ol ..-'CII< ~1 M JI~ II -(11~ N 
,_!tll4~l !l>ftl -<S~.., Dt Wl'eb'4-!...el 
C~d5-«l00l!Ml:lledl)0;.loUft! 

T~ 11>,:i,,.ll!oO ae.,,,. $!Id •~ "'neoe eom .. ., ,-,o,,,«e c .... -1 ,.,,,, ~t (I,!~ -IO l'tee$81"'1)~-I T,-ie-"'1Wlbe~ -~t01!,t9~•01»»tie 
tlllN,jOflo:rw:l.oi.10111 f.-))IOh«ton/11-bal)\N,; -"'l<IO'Y ... ,t,.ga ... 1 .,_ 
11:,~t,r,n,,,e'l~l:llti#la IUn:llnto,:lltl~~lkdN""'-melel 
fl)Ql.dt.f~~gr~(j"~~MIIO ..... bed)~IU•~ __ .,... __ r...i-•• .. -·-·~-1i.o.oe-, ~ _,...111.,..._ ,.....,,.,...,.00_...i c.,..,,_,rui,.- __ ,...,,. 
_. .. ...., !h• -- ....,,,i,o.-iol-.-~ ........ __ _ 

l"Wlj""'llf dlt; '"'4f ~l;,lbtl fl-\ <::l;ff,.:u,o ll'l'Qlff'~t .... .,. .... 
-~llllMIAk•weftJtNIIOI~ «I (,._',\1'0$ «-, ~!'Or"l.i:.fl 
pioNC ___ .,.,.,,~O<l•~•-•w;NC--~N. 

" ~TOIU.~At:t-"'BW~r-n-,v,-.t_Ol_'fll-'l-~I 
... _,.,..,,,.,~"'' ... ""tr'O(ffi.~~-"'rr.,,,:..,,.1•,..,. ... 
.. ,~-•~~f:#IC!O"W' 

.....,1)1:1....,.,rn,,c.,.""""' 

~~'!~~~ ~:.:tz:=-:-"~"l::.~::.:t: 
r,e,11>ffl,1,,e..-,i~~OOfllfle'-!leCII- C- ,oe,.__,_,,_,, __ fN 
0:--~:m'Qtllle!_., -""'~ ~p ~ottn.oe.iallll(Ot3(1(,(fie,,»,\ 
~ 1-C,t •-.r,• ~-I ..... Ct-~ fl, flll:I «,l(lf'lo)fl1)1>-
~- -•-.sc,-(l'fltt(:l"ffl'(II W .. Cl.,.,_., '"""-lll(Ol>O'IIP'l"<."'"!l>t(I 
1~iw,tWJ~"l'l8'lpe,'f<lltl,O'~"""-'~-ttdlt ._ "1tbet~CA~<I 
~16.,,~t,•~ 

'OOOE. l'hUS!E TO tMI!£ PJl,,'t,EHT Wi.EM tl.E FOA 00\IA.ElE'O ~ Ctl 
C~l\o!l .0&11 M4'f.£ll/,A.I lfl4 YN:tWfC9W,lotlll1:. 11'1.f lOYC!Ut 

""""" 

10, 

... 
81igt,lV.,, ... U,,1t1,c1,1~ $"'vie~. 11><: "C,;,,,tr■eto•• 

A.0::olll'II I.IGnll!Jef 

f'8fCh 20, 2025 

Jot, .t; 460800520 



 
 
 

BrightView~ 
uno:11(--~~ 

Ptopeny Name 
Ptopeny Address 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

Soc Mle COO Tra.,,arlc 

805 Tra.,,811c Drive 
Ai Au911Min'°'. i:-1 .'\:>M? 

Con1ac1 

To 

Greg t<em 

Sbc MUe COO 
e•ny~l~ll 4t~WTuwnPISe- 1141 

SI Augusta"le, FL 32(+92 

Ptofecl Name Soc Mle COO Tralmarlc: Water truck weelely rate brnew Inst.al along rustic m■ <twe 

Ptofecl Oesc'1)1bn Soc Mle COO Tralrnarle: Water truck weelely tale br ne-N Inst.al along rude 

QTY UoM/Siu 

1..00 EAOI 

20.00 HOUR 

1..00 LUMP SUM 

so, 
JOB# 
Service Une 

8635666 
460800520 

150 

m■ dr'Ne 

Scope of Work 

MMtrial'Oescr\,fon 

W~cr nlilcr ..--kJy nille 

L:lbor to fill _,n:I -'PP'Y"'"llcr per ..-'eek. 

W~crpcr ..--k. 3200gd per...,'eckJ 800 g:i1 pcrd-'Y 

THSS 1S NOT AH INVOICE 

Uni! Price 

$1.433.33 

$88.40 

$89.58 

Total Price 

TIU l)l'l:ll)OWIII$ -..10A:ir IN~ (30) "'1iySUl'jQI$$ cd'IO,v,Cso..,.,IOY~~ Con:rao:Ol"sSor.or Vlco PnH,I~ 
sa11c .... n1 .. ~<1SOS,f1,,1o..,,LS))1'llf, r .. 

._l_,rdl 28. 2025 

f'IIQl>1of2 

Tot.I 

$1.433.33 

$1,728.00 

$89.58 

$3,250.91 



 
 

+.l:irdl 28, 2025 

PaQ02ol2 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 

1 ~ CO-:i,,:ur .,_ ~ ~ llO'l'l)'rTI n QO'QIA:ile ..,.,V1lll01>-.. -.iiien 
tflK,IW_tN_f',),~W(ll-1:ffld'(fflJ,_)l,)t,e- J.tlf-'lltl,,,....~1¥1 
~~_.vAt-

\\'(fl< f.ooq-(:(ff111(10I .,.,a d>e,o- e Q.oll\,t~ -'lt~.lOl"'t - (!_..,-."' ft 

_,__ ,..,.,,.,._.,,.~._-o,V1-.in~llll••n-,..,-.;,,...
T~~eh!llb,:,oo,t~.ml w""'4'°"'"°'bel9~$--:lh)...,.,n 
Ille IJ B 

) I.e., .. -- ec,,,i,.;;,, _ __,,,..i....,_ ~..,.....,, 
,_....,..a ...... 11x.,.,..-..,.•~-•• .. ,_--"",.,.._ ..... "" c,, a .... ,.,,._,.o....-.c, - ... ,,_., _ _...,_.,.,.., u
""---•w-cl-tit't,. __ ;,,~:,, .... o.i .... -._,..,.,. 
.,_,,. __ ,....i,__,_ ..... "'-!l•.,.,.......,.-<A!t.~ .... 
!hof"'f,O<T) 

1"- ~,...,,.. "U-~•pq d ~,.,_, _.o:tr,:i .-o _,ec.. 
r'•~•-•......,,,,_ 

J .....,_C...,•cbt'lil•-to~~i..t-1,1,..,, • .,.,. ~-t..e'¥ 
-•-C...,,.,.-~t-,•-• --Olt-,_,...,._oo<lh,/__,OI 
0,1,1-1, •~hdlfl'llf"°lllJ(lot 10--1td-..:wti; II !'fl~ 
())<w-\O'lt,fl&n-.-~Vfl Sl,-F<r.O!l-11,-

._ UI"""' ~8"¥\M911'l!Oiill:fOry«nll!»ll'J(l!_.tt,m,0,,-000 
-1'<1-. .,..._....,..., ... ..,,.,..,., .. .,.,.,...,.~ _ .. , .. ,w-.1110-. ... 

_,._ ,,._ IV ..., ~ • <2M•- ~ ~ Ot ~Ni 
O~Y ~ .....,..,...,.._,11>~---•oo,,e,..,.~_.,,. .. 
- "'f o-. Of-• ...... Cf IM.1$ 0/ i:,t-t l;lt"~II , .... ~ 
~(10,:,0,tllll/t,!het~ U....,.!'-°""""'..-«111.0:-.,11)(11',N,l"-tll',c 

"7'!0""""'°'~ """""'"-"''r,.~wctr~tti,)ltm 

l. Nr,~l'l""-.P,,°'(l,l,,Y•·-.,_,.,.,Qr;;tA'9"),r,w, .. f~-+.f<IUI 
~o,,,-wC-0'.-flo;l,_~~)tmtfl.aN-tNJot~ 
~~~,.ru•~• 

• QilltON!ldO'I. Or,~ml' ,...,. .. 1,- ~I lo> II~ ~ ... bl,H 1-1.ci:tl to 
-'(ll!ISilftll~ll.i!aONl(f fl'l'lllill/:#1'.flll ljMNlll?ICl>!IICW,WIC. 

M~-· SW.l'IC, N1f IO!Wiefllf _t, «I - ,n M IOOU t:ieUco»ro 
..,,,,.,,v..--••t-••..-Cff}"'l)Ot>•U,... -..n.,.,.,. o,n.,.1-
•~--•ll'l---m•c~!•"'''" 

YI N.c-b ~II c-- - ~ tf II .... lo 1,r;,lt,m !tu,~._ CUlll-
..,.,,.., ____ ,(lO,lt~,oc,,,le-,~---•~JNllloo,.._._,...-

brN 00,,,,,o:,(O,-V'(l(M!C 01,11 I- <1,t"C-•~ -~ 
""--•"'-"'""°"' ,, .... c_.,i..,,... ~.,..-JII._,,,..,._ 
atuN~ n-..1~@-w:lo>ku0¢,.....n:o>ll~V1.-t 

11 f'w-T••-U-"'llllll'01h•"-"-ff'lllffl.CJOto- .... l-0:.foG:,~alh 
f'l-llf'li:c_N,_,_<Ul(IOol-~tc~l:lt'Cutlittoreltt00"9'-<41Cf\ 
-O!U'le~tQ""'"""'-- ~~tol'> .... "C 

1i. T_,,,_ r,.,..,.,,.°"""_,i-1o,._1.t~t,o,.,._,-t,-..-wt-,:-. .. --m-,.--=---....,. c:.,,,i-..-,i-~ .. ...,a .. ,,__.,p.rd, ____ ,___,....__.,,_.. __ ,.. .. _!f,oc'-V"° 

t'(~t'I~ 

U. -.;i"111tt. 1M C....i....,, l'O thf ~ •-Miff I>.., ---0. ,._ 
~'Ii" ~-~'4-a'IOl,)jj,t/$- IONOIN!Pifl(Ylr~ll 
C)a1t°"""l'K(l!'"'.,.._fft ,_._ lflt¢'4t)- rt;;t N¢0'"'1l)IIIIOI Mt,> 
o,_..,.,...,..,_~1"4'9~""'°""•....,.,,.,.,..,lf._\lJ'ol'~ ,._., _..,.,..,.., .. _.,.~,,.,.,r,..•-'IJ-•11•""·~ 
_., ............ "' ...,..,_ i,,.,.. .. .,,_ c...,._, ...- "''" Cot#Kw .. n ,ori_,..,..,,-~,..,,-,...,-.,..,.~...,.-.uo.<11~•"' 
~-ol-~V~.lfr_,.-""' Wl~Ol'I ""~ f/loc:rflllll:f" 

"°"'°'-·-........ -
.. ()c-., TM.p,o(IOoai'_..,_e<I ___ .,,_..,~.-- _..,_,...,_, 

n,_,. ..... ~-""'9........,, ............ ,_,,,.,_oh,_!_ 
~ ft.po--olfl'IINo~lof ,,,_,,,,,...,_,.... • .,_,_,, dfoot 

g-, - -.1 N~ -~ o, ~ 'Ml n;t 00' l•OI• l:lo -
•:m:o,w aw .. .., ,..~ II>' ..-»•--a Id -.ii-...-..•1-.011>c "'° 
,.,. _ __...,_,"9_«.NUl'ol Nl., ... Mt-lo•-0, ~ ywfJ 
_..,,<N •llijl(IIWI I>\' 0\1•111')' i- "! 1._ l~t"4 M0,:•((1:.- ~ 
¢:O<m,(1)1 (.-:ii twtNIJ~Ult)I~ ... __ .. da•n ~ ""f 
~ .. OO:,,.~f.,.."'r,-,o,11--•-·--- ""~ ...... ""'~ 
"~l~~~ ,.........,.f~&t,..-,,,.nc.h:Mloll" 
""'-'"""'"-Qllll,._Hp'-WlntC~ N"I ... Qll~IIIN 
0:lff~txe ....... "l• JO•N-""1ipel-)fd .. ~•• llhoo.M!Wtw,...,C •~•'-'-..,._av_.,,,µ,, __ .,.o,ag,p_,. _ _. 
-~-~11>_.,.~._.i.l,liOOtlNICW-11'~11> ... ~ ~~ 

'~ ~«I N)lbe,(fO,r«l!W'I ~ .. tn fll.01 te ~ fl ""111(l~lhe 
C-lo<l4~10lhof - .. O.--.llli.- .. i.t,, • .....,-,,11_ 
Ct.\l"dS~ffl _ _,.,o.io,,.,., 

~ Mi,,..,,,,g -•"' olld •111'1, ,.,_,. c«.-..:to P'- C:1&·-• ·- ~• .,.,. -1o, f?a,l;!l!u!Oll•-11-•t""'liOwli...~•-loU~!IIOU•~lftfm•l.lo 
-.Conllllf!ISI0!9\llr,N>dtg .... llW,...,d .... 11•11"11:;ld-•iwv-•11M 
-011><,,_~,-d,•""'• IUfUl .. 11.:lloo::,Vlfoo=•d<IHdN'"',_ 
l'I~,"'~ f<'t---W-,""'9~--•"'°"°--IM.nolllt)I
WS'l-\1,\ll-"twtlli«V--•~-..,_•~~l!ltC,.-t Ofillo» 
---tf'O~--- nM•W--ot~oJ C---•-nMOC"'illieO 
(O'lfll;IIO l~t --~--•~IIM!f~WTPl"I IO-..O-• ~-., ...... -_ ...... .,_.._C<ft..,_., .... ,,..._..,. •• .._
•~o.1k•-~•o.c(l(lll'f-i l4- •r.,. jl(lilll, a'l:ltfCIICO 
P"""C_.,... ... ,'l"''<Wnofl""h•bar-,,....,.c-- .. ,.... ... 

r ~!«W~ iltt:t.,tGl(lf.,_.,.....f\),11_,, «-.ft W... O(ol!Ollll~I 
..- ........ "« ~..:<()"l)1u•~, .. ., 194 ..... ~ ~ti AJt,QlletllllAl_,.'11 
... ,1~ ... $_...,_,(l!l;l;:I .... 

4¥~ (f !ltl CQllrr.l 
er-ri11""~0.-n-en10IN~~o~n:l(f«rfl«.-.axilhe 
-- ... .-- .. 111:<11,,_.11 c;,_,,...,,_.__Oo<i!l<lg e --~,o 
,_lio<IO>!!lt_ll_illtOOflU.IIOllol._, C-td r-,!IW,I-IIOl'*'-11-- W 
<»,t-Ol•~-- .... -.CoiOa:1'1tillMO..,._l:Jftl-Cl(!(llltll»'\ 
~•--••.....,•--l•!'MOO..W- d Off( .... lo111111-.-... 
~,,,_IMOla,\1-~-¢- ...... ...,._;11:♦W--'Vl'l~-QI 

1.~-l/lllll'IOftfll\WW,,;$'1,Cft!IO,_,..._,,.,..-w,w• /l'Of~tll~C41U'l».<I 
Niar<,oll!.,.nirtolMC 

)m'CS. r-'IU.IU: fO t,«1111: ~"fl',/CNT" YJICM r.t.e. ~ 001!~ W()lill( c::tl 
CCJ;~0!1"°9$ M•'fAE$1..\.Tfl ... weci,..,.,,csu9l()fln-Emu TO'fC:l.ft 

"""""' 

... Chair POl'$00 

-Mar<h 23, 2025 

BrightView Landscape Services, Inc. "Contractor" 

Account Mt1M0tr 

Steven C. McAvoy Jr. 

JOb#: 

SO#: 

46-0800520 

8635666 

-
·- Price: $3,250.91 



 

Brigh.tView~ 

QTY 

mo 

,no 

mo 
20.00 

mo 

so, 

~--~~ 

Ptop,eny Name 
Prop,eny Address 

Proposa I for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

Soc Mile COO Tra.,,811c 
805 Tra.,,arlc OrNe 
S1 Augusta"le, FL 32M2 

Con1ac1 Greg t<em 

To Sbc MUe COO 

8.,gAddreu 415WTownP1S1e 114 
SI Augusta"le, FL 3'.2092 

Profe,cl Name SIX MILE COO: TEMPORARY GENERATOR INST AU PER MONTH BASIS 

Ptofe,cl Oesc'1)1bn SIX MILE COO: TEMPORARY GENERATOR INST AU PER MONTH BASIS 

Scope of Work 

Uo(M/Siu MMerial'Descr\,fon Uni! Price 

LUMP SUM 
SIX ._ILE COO:TUIPORARY GENERATOR ~STALL 

$7.000.00 FER ._IONTiiBASIS(fUEL ~CLUOEO) 

LUMP SUM 
B.ECTRJCu\N TO INSTALL \VB.LANO Tl'.CER TO 

$1.428.57 GENERATOR 

EAC>I WATER TRALER WEEK\. Y AA TE $1.433.33 

HOUR lABOR TO FILLAAOAPPLYWATERPERWEEK $88.40 

LUMP SUM WATER PER WEEK 3200/GAL PER WEEK 800i'GAl $89.58 FER DAY 

JOB# 
Service Une 

8635646 
460800520 

150 Total Price 

THSS IS NOT AH INVOICE 
Tl'H l)lq)OWIIS WIOA:ir IN") (30) &ysu~$$ c,ct,,o,v,Cso"l)l)IO't00~ Con:u,o:Ol"sSol'oOf Vlco A'QslOO.. 

sa11cw~-..~ .. ,os,f1,,1o..,,1.,:-a:>1'1"' r .. 

.. l~rdl 31. 2025 

f'IIQl>1of2 

Tot.I 

$7.000.00 

$1.428.57 

$1.433.33 

$1,728.00 

$89.58 

$11,679.48 



 
 
 

Mardi 31. 2025 

PaQll2CIU 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 

n. Cut1acw~•NO:Ql'iilllat«1~",;,x,y __ .,.,~,. - ,,.,_ 

.,,.._.a,i...,o.on.1dlwf\J'iffl¥eot1.-twld(if-l:)f'9!-.N!...-. ......... 1-n, 
l:)toJ~--

2 WQri,, Fo-. C«- ,,.. ~,_. ~ ~-i.~ •"t> •«•--.. 11 

~-~~14l!i'..,..0'"',..~~••n,..,..~ 
TN~-ei.toft.Pt,W"C_W......,_ __ !Jtlll)W-"~'IO~fl" 
ll•US 

J Le- - l'll'n1$ Cormi««~ ~" ~ l.~lH~ ~!In 14- f 
._ IN &fl OT'- 1e<¥, ~, WI C(fl1#,' "'VI .. (II,,,. ·- -.~_.-u fl ,-,. 
<:r, P••no,.-~, .. ,..,,.,,1111t"-'~•01-- u.. ..... 
q,~•CJtt014i'O"WIMl!lf!Ol$~'"'°'~tV .... ~ ...... oe~r, 
.,.._,. _ _,..i~P""'!'loh>-'-!t.,__--,d!'-s.,,,,.;.•.,.. ·~-

• r- Ollof•oda to-•lo;wf .. 111~1<•'"" -.:w1,1-a _,_._ 
hit {Cef), ,.ic, ...... '(111<1 

~•W-••••w~w.-.~,,,,,.111,11«.A.--u;i;-. 
,._♦,v,,,(,(l(,;,,'t~fl;-"<ln;,,- -fl'l«l"'• .... IIUIIW .. 00:,i'llllt<OI 
Q,aom,1, .. -,,, ... 1n.,,,u1lfl'OI ._..,.Cf_ 11...,~I 
c:Grmo:1:1! ..... 11,.mJn __ .. ,. SU(,08.-Ce!I.II>,. 

Lo,;.o'l't, ¢orlr•,U•· r,-fl NOii ,;,o,lli:IIII, I;,, ♦l'f _,. t111!11 _,.. tliffi ..,_ d (IQd 
•~ • 11;<1- ""Ill&-.• oorrJio:.,"llo, In, .,....,~ . .-, tll<I""" lfV.l<to,.., 
•~- 1,._.,,, :v .., ~ (It 9C":''"'le'f"' ~ "8,Clwl o• ~ 
•~y .,_..,. ~,_•t.•--·-·----
.... - i,- .... .,, .,,.., clorfl>'> ... , ....... pa-...:• l>o-t""6 ti. ~ 
--•o1 .. 1wi-,,. u.-,--.-..-.a.--"""'-"" .. .,,w, .. ~.,_, 11o • ..,, .......... _,...,..,e.,,..., ..,.._....., ,~-

1 /V1/~;,,lf'~ol:i~~~•"'"''91>J"'WJ'I •~""'ftft:t(rl 
l"QC)lt1JIJ"'~l>,•°""""""crr~,....o.-,-~11.n~t"""'bt""' 
_ _..,,IIJollt--0,_, 

1".,_N,.,a...,. eo-. ... ,., ..,_,.., ,,._ ,..-, "',.,. q ... J.!l•II .. _,_ e; 
pa,n,, ... 0$>0~""'"' ........... ..,,, --"' •f"OC#l,ll.1.cl __ .... 

<i M,UcM• ,_.,.,.. • ._., -:mmot ,...,c &I,.._,'" .......... •-
.....,, .. 1'90'(Tf~OCl$Wlot, .. Cl.l'tll<1")'~CO;~w♦-,11VO.,i. ,,.,.,1~ 
•-.-c..-.1!1" _ _..~_,.IN••••m11e 

,_, A(c-t; .etwll C,ll'll).,.. ~ ~ • 11'- t~ pe,f'(fm !,,."'C'II C~ 
.,. ........ KC_1!1»1;o,.1'<!/l,.,..... __ (;4 .... IU>'•~~m-• ............ 
Of~-.r;o:oldooo_,..,c-..:n.n •!•c ITU'•» OU\ftl..-.!_,..•-
_____ ., ·•-<::--' .. - fJOttl,_.,.._~--..-.. .. -

01t•n~ ~T""l'l:l)-1';i"~IOl~,..~lf-"'O",;. 

11 F'w)'-T••- U.....O<Q""Clh~.t..,.,..,.._Cuol:o_.t.1_.etn:,ada ;o,-,Ji,,. 
Fltf}ll!lerJPll:e_...,hr-f'lfOb:IIW'CieJl'<d t,tpetllt,CURxlne1b0:l~<.C)OIO 
~o!~~ll'ffl«t.,-wiWc ~l::ih•<tl(l 

U YW!'lnn:lfl fM'l"-\ol,0,W ...... WM!ll_...,,f7tN .. f<lt-;,,,,, ~wt_,.;,,,10 .... , 
.. i:cn_Q)_f'i_»»•--CW10,,.,.,.11>t,__...,w_.:.a 
ll'll-1$Ml•-..O-"ll<l.«lfl'OjUlittllil_l1_.,""4)1!!~f'lt-.-\llil(~ 
i",ci,l'f,>Ji'IQ~WQ!ll!O, 

u ~-~ ~ C\.lllll""f ~'O thO' C-- '"cc«,._.,. c,,o lf'(fl'foO'.Q. NI' 
W.~I\ -.lll$1,.l"OtQ<C#,.,,._ IOtlt0:..10Qft,',t4'.1,-~ 
1:1-el~Ql<'ll'IONe4'-!.nl~ l'tM"' lr♦C.d)- "tlfN~Tll-"'l;ltv,,I Olllt;II 
OT.._....,,N .... tel"1•"if..,_,.,,o,11""'M'-!_,CIO'W11'N W.,"'°"CIS<I ,. _ _. - .. ,..,.., ..... :,o,__,., •• ;n-Jo_,..1t!oe,w_,,... 

_,, ~ .. --·- ............. - c- - "'"' ~* .... 
«Jl'lf,t(.6)n ..,., .,..sgn- » ..., .i'&!,1t tr ""°""',t • • ,....._, MIJ (I .>I qr 
....,_!....._. .iOI 1:1 - ~ ~ -...- -MM -~ d«ttlOl tr 
l:Ol)CIW•1.0 .... MUI 

M 0-• l_poo ____ e,;1...0l'N"l>l-.d,......•H•>'ll--11 

"-"\0"1f"""1-!--0c•-.,,...., • .i,,,.,_11.w-.Cfno_!_ 
~l l~pnW,.1111-1-~IO<fl<l"'«'l-•O.t. ---• ..... (l('flll! 
11---1.,..-_.,._ _ _.....,.,,._DIWIHbo..,., 
e-.Ol'a/ - Ill <M'Ul)II to,•)Sl~..01\ l'llt ~i,-.,o,t.,•IOf~ 
R-""""-.'OS'Ofl-l#'8 Nl-fflllKtr'lilf'I-&( ~ ~ 
ie.1ve,,o1 noN!~ O\' o,:u•,:,y -011:w: ,~ - ,,_i:r. - ~ 
(;o'Ua,,;t)f~rr<CW~l;~~-t)l~qr,:tt,e,-11 tOtnteieQJ Nff 
Oll'ffCt"I ~~""""""'"',.,..,_,......,,...., "'"'""° .... """''"!9 ._,..,_,_~ ,_r._,.s.,,.....-..,./'OI"._,...., 
,,..,~,.,,,~1-0,~~•,.,<.:- N>J•c.,~,.,,... 
0:ltcudtxo).,...._._, IWIN-~lrdNOn_,,.,.,o..CUll-ll'Ult 
.,..,,. • ,.._,,..,_., -- -· w-re -,.....-..., _,_ 
~-~/1l5"bo.:n101J1p:ICIO.,l!lll<'.::'-""1oTlllll'l(l\'IOSM,....,,. 
~ 

15 ~ecu!C<I tei.e.(l(C.rc•IUM llt ... t,rl( r...t! i. JIC- n _,._IM 
!-IIOt~ ~NI ~ct~ .... i.•111ttlo'•Ml'I--~ 
Cl'ctllt/11,"«l.QO OMCIICOl:tO.stJtt! 

T~ ~~ -~,_ elld •~ '"'rlt-'e Ollmllll .. ~0-'0lee C,,__, - t<et ~~ -IO fta$8H•"'Ol:ie-l T~tUli'fW><edwlbe«- •dtoeto>the~~e,Cl(lo»t'e 
....t ... oo,,ct,,,.10 ~ fffl t:,iht td<w'lllfot IIM 11~ AJJ!r.,,,det,,o,~ •I be 
~,:111,,,...._'lllatt .. tuOil• W~ffiliedll>~M:1,fkidk>'"'-~ 
nxll.~,~~IJ'l'd",g(t~~- ..... beO)fl!!IIJ•Qe4!w 
~...,.►-IJl.'>bll._..VW"J.,..,_rl,tnlfl'tJtio,1~1»1-.e~• °"""'1 
.,_.,_.,_.,__ .-.,-1-,..,bo~ Ci.b--:..-!""'"d<obt 
(lOl'i,llliW"(I int .u,wo•-•V-Ul~o;,,;.¥,QIC.....,.... »-N-• 
~_..,.,,.,..,._..,..IO_(/'-Qt\(!Qro1-llnti!'--'~~,,.. ....... 
•~_,,,IAM>MwenuCM-~ 1o. «11)11)$.'M'W uo;..~-or~11ten 
p;lf!IIC_IC_. ... ,"""•~•· .. • .. •.,..C-"°'1t">p,i,o .. 

fl W\Wete!Ut~ReMOl(il'.--ITrf'Q!'I-AOllr,,,,:,tfM-~I 
•·--., ~n:•- lllfll ~~• 11:t,;r.:<-.nl"""'.I"' 
""'ftt.'l-·~-,:,1-~· 

,\,:,0111eON'. .. d !I" C ottnr,I 

~~~~~~"[:,,•.,:,~:.·~"':::'.~'';: 
-111111C~,iuieoo<1U"ell:,t01- COIWOQ '•--11)11«1>-.wc w 
¢:flJOJW'Cle! 'Cll'flel'l~l'le'- COl'O~Of ~0terub:110dl(.f)D~«il\'l:::IOr\ 
~-~•~•~-••r.•t.-,t,t d tl'f~lo)ni»--....e 
f'lll'l;,l.._,,_,...,c,~-c-w"" <:u1i::n-• l'lll-•ow'""""'-d 
, ... lll!!',.., .... ,.111!!'1"11'!,ll(~~"'lefltOftl:Wlt ... ""(l<e~("~<f ............... -... ""' 
'Ctc:£ l;',l~E TO t,\',11.f. Pl'll'!oENT WI-EM t1.E f<A 00\IREl'OO 'NO!<K <tl 
(;0,.1ffl\X;l!Cl'l.()6$.Mf11Yllltll,A.f Nt,MfQWIC,U(NQtl'flt llfU: lQl"Ql.lt -.,., 

!,'.:"'Ir P_erson 

Mareh 31, 2025 

BrightView Land&cape Servioos, Inc. "Contractor"' 

JcdoatlM.Ma~r 

Juwan Lamar Ou()fee 

Job#: 

S-0"' 

460800520 

8635646 

Mareh 31, 2025 

Pf~PtlOe: $11,679 .• 8 

Total Pricing equal 
to $18,181.3 



 
 

BrightView a 

QTY 

lMdKjpt~ 

Property· Name 
Property Address 

Proposal for Extra Work at 
Six Mile COD Trailmark 

Six Mile COO Trailrnar1c 
805 Trairmark Drive 
St Augustine, FL 32092 

Contact Greg Kern 
TO Six Mile COD 
BilfingAddress 47SWTownPISte114 

St Augustine, FL 32092 

Project Name Six Mile Cdd- East Parcel-Phase 31 additional sod around lift station 

Project Description Change order - install sod around lift station - comer of Applejack Or. and 
Brickstone Trace 

UoM/Si?f 

Scope of Work 

Grade and prep area around lift station for sod installation. 

Install Bahia sod in prepared area. 

Remove excess debris as needed upon completion of sod installation. 

Matfflal/OHeription Unit Prie, 

Tra.ilm.vk east Parcel- sod around lift station 

1.00 LUMP SUM 

1.00 LUMP SUM 

Mobilization and labor to rough grade and prep area for 
sod installation ;ll'OUnd lffi s,:a:ion. remove and cftSPOse of 
debris from si:e as needed upon compl~on. 

Heavy equipment fee/ Skid &ee.r 

$1,157.14 

5,600.00 SQUARE FEET Bahia Sod installed 

$406.00 

S0.78 

SOIi 
JOB# 
Service Line 

8639755 
460800520 

130 

THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE 

Total Price 

TN$ proposal 1, va:rc, ror m.ny (JO) oays urues, o-J1e.-....1se ai,prO\-eCI oy contractors seruor vice Pn>&1C1ent 
SSl 1 COunty R1:II )-!IS, Ekl>)II, Fl non pn, ~x 

Subtotal 

April 03, 2025 
Pageto!2 

Tobi 

$5,932.38 

S1.157.14 

S405.00 

54,370.24 

$5,932.38 



 
 
 
 

April 03. 2025 

Page201'2 

TERMS & CONDITIONS 

1. lhe ~Qf hi ~ ¥Q oetllrm r, «;IIXll'IOllnee •ti'"'""" lletm11, ,.ffllen 
~l'IS-d'lrlll:nll"orlyeol'talnedQfll!le°'e<IIO~eA/4111111.e!1illlJN,oonlolm 
bbot!l~-

2. \\'Qfl( FQfU C- "1\1111 dil!eQNlO O q\19He,:I ~._,Win·~- n 
li:, .... Qli-.,.-t~~~Ol~"~nb11t-~ 
T,..._,.~,,,.,•~co~n QWIJ\f<I nV-.•bitt"91't'~to-'<.n 
lf'IOUl:I 

J, UOWIM, Incl l'Wlffls ~- "'1illll ffllffl:•fl I ~~ COIV4"CIOl's IUl'IM; II 
leq.r,ed t,,,., stllllle Qf ll)QI le'N Vd •• OO!TPf 'l,,t\ Ill Qlnef ·- lli!Ql>Jememt OI me 
¢~ ..,,..,..,i;-,._,1~111111,11,w•t• .. •IIN•,......,...,...g1.,.. ~ 
O(ne<W-MfQl9"WO"l7'th~co ~W•"" ¢W1>,-.....-~~II> 
lltUO'lll~aN!f~~lbllro-.tlllcOfl"l'l'otf'lC.-d!heS..-..oMctl 
1'-~ltY 

I. h- COrv-illljt-ltll)Wltl~l-,lflCblflgMIKOIOtNl',IIEiciM 
ru(QEl)v.t-eie~ 

lr,l;i#- C--=::ciofag'-IO~OOIWIIUlobH(l,._Ufltoe•, ~u.1obU( 
....-.,_ ~CO~l•itu!- IM9't'Olllll....,ill'Ce1Wqal~bf .... Ot 
~- 111$ ~'ff'"~ P"<II II> 00_,..... gt "'Olk. "/'1111 l(IIIQfleo. 
COnll~""" Vl'IIJ1lll'IJII'~~ SLOOOQll<ri<IIOl•·•Hv. 

ft, t.ablcy com- .... NII~ liill!'II iClt •flf clMNOI h! OCCUIII irom Atlli OI Qo, 
oeMed M ~ .,"1tller Conclbon$ ltt, ~. OC.. rel llfot.. ~tons Qf 
!Clltlelo!,$ n"'°50d t,f IIV go,,- Qf ~ ~ ~ 16 ~ 
~r epo,e_'"'-~ neel.h ~ ~ oo ~ ~ 4M!IQ nx 
Ol.-.d 11'( - « d!•o dir:•p OI boU• fl. ~ 1....-i tr. Ceff..,__ly 
•~"'9«1<'1rdf/..O.•ii-#f 1Jnc1t,1.i-u-cu....,_ ¢:,rt19d1>1....,1htl.,.11>9 
·eo~a» !NtO.fl'MW'II cnot$OllhllCCnl1~'Mhl'lttdy(EOI~ 

M(lteQJ!l !~ cillff'5 ..S.1orOlll'f'lllge,s lll'S\lb"(j l!Ofl'IW)!fl; ~ ht a r,:,t ctl 
~lt(O-ne-Qt,;~•«lll>luncle•¢~m,ne,emelll11ndOlnlO!et.lbeO'IO 
IOll ,~OM(OllhtCmliio'1'111! 

$yboo,,1,~ Co<#IICt:i• -•- ti. •V"' Ill>,_ qu,M,ll ~1fdcr• I:> 
PfflO(M fj)IIICllliio.d ii..!'UON OI 'M'll1I ft~ tpeeW~ ---~~ 

'), ~-I ~M- Al¥ ~Oonlf -,ti( noc _..., .,, IM ~ f(IOOd'l.:OI~ 
rv.d"'ng•11111 -wtlt<t -..cutd~IJl)Otltq\H 1tlJlMl)llWf, ¥10\01ll)t(l
¥1e>iliac~-..OtbCNOlheetl1m&le 

10. ~ IO .btwso:: c- _, i:wO>iCle .i Wiles to~ tne-1c CUltotntt1 
'""lfl,jtnl!h- ~•• Pll'llf(I ~twhe!t ¢oriltd(r1t!os,ttllrm'IOl,Jl<i -~ 
ut~Oonl!l1,:t0!Cl!llttuldOl'lt•ltl•d 1.- ~t'IOl"""bA.-Nkr&tf'd 
..... --11&.,.,oatd I- ~IOl•••!I pt,t::i,,,n!N.,Oll,M .-.ii!t(p,;-1 
.,,, llieOJskm!O' ~the - -~tH ro, ~ rlthl'WOlk.. 

11. Pllrmentlt,r,__llp)rl'9'f'Qll'HsAo"1'0~C~orrefnl~Oonlla::ror&o"rltlle 
Pl~ Pwioi""' ll"tt •il,,..""'G !.'(I.....,_ n• 111 p,odllt'¢Allmt< IO ¢q,b~,itWl)l'I 
,.,...,..,., ..... ,.,, ... ~.--- ..,_ .... ,..-~"'II 

ll. Teffl'liNnOn Th.•WOIIIOi3Wtrw/llt~t¥119 .. lllW~•l!l «•lheil.ACllo.M 
...,,,.....,._(7)_1dor,., __ .,;c.11nc,1.- c ........ _. .. ,._......,w.,.,bc,,1 
fl"lmtlllll~(Ni!;e,o.,..._.,eo~cioh<Mt•«uie~~--b!Occ~ 
~ WI oem»llll'9 

I). ~ ~ (:~ ,w,11 the C<nr!Ktl>• •~ cm:I ~. U.• 
j:WtMft tll.ClCKM>lf,llll,ll,Qflllklt'dlilglll.-M IOIN!ll!Vli!jllf\''tdllliGlpl« 
b .. co,enwi1,011rtt~ Ho:tl\ef h ~ notllle:C-~thlll4Mlg"I 
or~"""""""'""~,_..,.,.h\.tlhe•r1110fl~Olh~ll'11"""4 
- INIC eon.ant-• nCII. be ,-,-i to -,on I,_ ,,_,,_mtlt lo,,., cc:,,,pfff 
\Ollil)fl OOl'lln>'a, • ~ 17, 0, t$ uo,dlll (Offfl'IOl'I COl"i!Ol •tl'l °""11C'Y.W Of In 
tol"l"IIKIIOft'Mm ~10 111'1 IIIU- Of IJ,nUlll'll 111) I --otr ~ Ol 1111 Qf 
~"11!,fy .. f!---Ol ec,,ll;ytee\MJl!II. ~'Oft V'i9n;,t flc00110'0I 
C.Otpnl.l! 190191n.t'lfl~ 

U OfoclWIW fhl 1'ffll)OIMI ,.1" -fl"Alfld lfl(j pt'"° btoltd U- II ltl \flf WCI Y.liUIIII 
Nl)tQIOtl llOlllgo.ncl~USll'QOIGl'9!y!l'lelln$ 111:0I lt«ltlte lffle ~~"'\» 
P'W"ied n>e c:,-,:,e ""°'eel nti-J po-Ito, tlleWC>'k.~t«I. •ltlo ~ ~INIII 
IJ'<U\d !Mil .,._! ~ tncl r"ltle~ oi., '00t!'l)tf¥ "'11 not ~ I.Cllt lot ~ 
~ ~ 01 c:lll"'llO" fo< lldd(,ont1l"'Olt. nol. lk!IK;nlledht<'tll\ 01111:!IA! lot""" 
~ddtra--fl011'om~ lhll.,.,_flOI 118,ot!Unl!Mbt' Md plM 
lf\'d ~~ti( onw.r, meot'I$ 111: th: ime ~ ~...., r>e:tt:wmed 
Cor,11~~tle""°<~lllel1>1~!'ICIJ'N'lorl>fl'ieN,wn1Gden~ Aty 
ttl111!1Ml-"ipiil!1151,ll!tN11flWAdp• .. NNli iMllll Pdlil;IOl'lll!lf'VNll'ltig 
~t«ill'II t~'Ol llilndileepe dC>tq, •-~~,•re not IN)'-deid VI 
~ .o\4!M!Nn ai\d .,..1 flO: b♦ ~ b;tht~- ~~ dtr..:l$ lfl mt 
Oonl•91:1 ~"'IC& Ntl"lt •O't ~I)' o111,. ~ f !heC\Jfl,Q'ntl "'-"' 
~ll i.«i .. ed,~.~ t~.-cltiQll)t°"47'Dlll"-t...,.wetf 
w,,emrglheH~Seh~.-Olll)bel)aldb')'lhoCUSl~Oroett;t!Olr>e~r -

1$ QJ-.oellilllOII ff:ll~'Olc..nc.elei»"I ol worlr mJSI tit - tn W-tFliltleltl'e#'le 
~ it II•~ I> ,,,.., b.$1»n o, c ... ~ wfl 11t lti,bl\l f;,,-, """"""' ....... 
dllrgl dS1150 00tlli3blltdl00Mofntf 

The ltl(io,,.,ng -- s.nall IPP'( '""'" COlvlCl:l)f P'~ C~I ..,, lleO c.,re -,.., 1-a.S11.111>R•tf1Wf11. T-••....,.._,••be-•~1oin.o,ou-o•JI06t<bllo 
C..lltdQf\~'OntllOQf.,._lo1nebi:«;ror/ll,el!Mlf...,-. A«,l_,,..~'9"'"1'1;1,e 
.IWllclbt-hl~tueflM,b.CflOl•mudb -tlrlekltlldttJl'M !NMI 
«ds «t f~re-..nenedgnrd..'lld~IJ'f/0...._,•ltieclel"lolOld:lned 
·M::l.htndde1llll ""'°""'lill'lll.l"4~tltn~t !;heove,l>h CUl!llm!f ~r-.o 
llitadl lll'OCI IW'doc:r,oc)or Mill_,.! il\oW 1111 ~(IICI 0..111/ftW 1'MII i. ....... IN ,0, 

~ ll'IO -~•c ~ ~., IXOlot ~ II() IIX .. O ,no fl\ltll 
~w·~lr,e,,P"Of10111"1ol-'.Cor1rtdOIIJIIOl~tiie-~CWle 
10 ~IAJ">ef N:h• bl.t !"IOI .!Tiled to,~ "'Yff ~ tnc:11~ 
11,111$ COn:rau,:w -- NOllfd/l~in-~lf'IKll!h0..1:HTM't ~ 

11 W11i.ttOfU.!llltj ft~totCIOWnl!'IIMf>Oi'I-.C.Ud1--,,a-. ~nr(25•l 
« '"9'.I( f'IOI lfl ti,e,:,o.nwu .,.,n ISA IW'te!~ SOC:ICI>' d ktlollc,An() !llt~IOS 
""I JeqMa 1~,.11,-.e! Ollllblf)' 

.A,;:c~p!--c/lM Co,,tt>KI 
IJreollWlrgh ~ O,.,i.1>m, tll•- lolhe ft:1<1nt1londt bonc.l,,;QTl•IK1 ""'-' l1>!J"<t! 
~ 111d 'OOl!Cltl0n5 ff! l::1!111 nefGn CUii:-, nep~ .. C<lnt!ICIOI * ti.«ht:!O:d to 
pe,ti;,nw,1he ""l>lk f!Rd ct1 lhi! ~ <I lr,f ¢~ f pt:1y"11l<"( hlJll "'It been~ ti,· 
conr- pjlf .,.-.WC !Wlll'f)t. ,,.,.in.. 00nlllelot tNill Of -ntc I> Ill -II d COMetaoi\ 
M'lCMlf'IO ,_!Mt amWNt"" - - • SNII ~ Hllilwcl Of llf'tt oe:.,oaoan ll)eoff ...... 
pe~ iro,i, ii-. or t!ti otriet ~ ,.q, CUJIClm!>t w,,,,.. #l • pe, .,.,-.,m llde (II 

1$~~....:rth(16'11tpe,.,._,l,'ll'the:~'fto~t:vlll• l'rf/llll:Ml'~~Of\~ 
~~ 15 ~tilt• 1)1~~ 

NlTICE FNL.I.M TO WN<E Pl'.VMENT WI-EN DUE FOR COWA.ETED w:lRK ON 
OONSfRIJCT(N .03$ WAV'AE:SU.l Ill A. N£0-W,,¢'S LIEIION THE. lYll.£ TOvoui:t 
M"'81TY 

... 

, .. 
... 

86391&5 $5,932.38 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



MINUTES OF MEETING 
SIX MILE CREEK  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 

 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Six Mile Creek Community 

Development District was held on Wednesday, March 12, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. at the Renaissance 

World Golf Village Resort, 500 South Legacy Trail, St. Augustine, Florida. 

 

 Present and constituting a quorum were: 
 
 Michelle Sutton Chairperson 
  Heather Brofford  Vice Chairperson 
  Wendy Hartley Supervisor 
  Jacob Dunn  Supervisor 
  Mindy Gellman  Supervisor 
   
 
 Also, present were: 
 
 
 Daniel Laughlin District Manager 
 Wes Haber by phone District Counsel 
 Scott Wild by phone District Engineer 
 Alex Boyer  Operations Manager 
 Stephanie Douglas  OnPlace 
 Matthew Reid First Service 
 Cassie Passantino  OnPlace 
 Sarah Sweeting GMS 
 Steve McAvoy  Brightview 
   
 
 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the March 12, 2025 Six Mile Creek 

Community Development District’s regular Board of Supervisor’s Meeting. 

 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS  Roll Call 

 Mr. Laughlin called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. Five Supervisors were in attendance 

constituting a quorum.  

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS  Audience Comments  

  Mr. Laughlin opened the audience comment period regarding agenda items.  



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

2 

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS  Landscape Update 
A. Brightviewi Communication Report 

 Mr. McAvoy reviewed the Brightview Communication Report. Ms. Passantino thanked 

Brightview for their attention and everything they are doing.  

 

B. Brightview QSA 
Mr. McAvoy offered to take any questions. He noted regarding the leaning tree; the root 

ball was damaged during the storms. It has been staked up a couple of times but needs stronger 

reinforcement or just removal. It would be about $150 to stake up or $75 to remove. Ms. Hartley 

spoke about the Ferndale Bloomfield mess with dead shrubs and would like to do that if possible. 

Mr. McAvoy noted it’s mostly the roses that were planted over the years. Ms. Sutton asked for 

photos of that area.  

 

C. Landscape Inspection (Supervisor Sutton)  
  Supervisor Sutton provided a landscape report to the Board.  

 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Consideration of License Plate Reader  

 Mr. Laughlin stated the Board has heard from some company representatives as well as a 

St. Johns County officer regarding the license plate reader and asked if the Board would like to 

move forward with this.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Hartley, seconded by Ms. Gellman, with Ms. 
Sutton and Mr. Dunn in favor and Ms. Brofford Opposed, the License 
Plate Reader, was approved 4-1. 

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Approval of Consent Agenda 
A. Engineer Items  

1. Ratification of Requisition No. 94 (2021 Capital Improvement and Refunding 
Bonds (AA3, Phase 2)) 

2. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 176 (2021 Bond Series (AA2, Phase 3B-East 
Parcel Phase 2)) 

3. Ratification of Requisition Nos. 100 – 101 (2023 Bond Series (AA2 Phase 3C)) 
4. Ratification of Requisition No. 88A – 89A (2023 Bond Series (AA3 Phase 3 – Phase 

12)) 



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

3 

5. Ratification of Requisition No. 19 – 22 (2024 Bond Series – Phase 13) 
6. Ratification of Change Order No. 6 Trailmark Phase 13 

B. Ratification of Agreements/Proposals 
1. Agreement with Elite Amenities for Summer Pool Monitoring Services 
2. Agreement with Brightview Landscape Services for Area 13 Enhancements 
3. Proposal from Clary & Associates for TrailMark East Parcel 3 
4. Proposal from First Coast Electric for Electrical to Well  

C. Approval of Minutes of the February 10, 2025 Meeting 
D. Balance Sheet as of January 31, 2024 and Statement of Revenues and Expenses for 

the Period Ending January 31, 2024 
E. Assessment Receipt Schedule – 97% collected 
F. Check Register - $309, 644.22 

Mr. Laughlin presented the consent agenda. He stated unless there are any questions or 

comments on any of the items, he would just need a motion to approve.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Brofford, with all in 
favor, the Consent Agenda, was approved. 

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Consideration of Proposals for Landscape 
& Irrigation Maintenance Services RFP 
(Reverie) 

 The Board discussed proposals for landscape and irrigation maintenance services. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Brofford, seconded by Ms. Gellman, with all 
in favor, the Ruppert Landscape Proposal for Landscape & Irrigation 
Maintenance Services (Reverie), was approved. 

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Consideration of Resolution 2025-06, 
Authorizing Investment of Funds in the 
Local Government Surplus Funds Trust 
Fund (SBA-State Board Account)  

 Mr. Laughlin stated they typically keep excess money in a trust account that the Trustee 

handles when receiving assessments. Interest is usually around 4 to 5%. Currently the Reverie fund 

is just sitting in a checking account and really not accruing any interest. He would like to move 

that money into an SBA account which usually returns 4 to 6%.  

 



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

4 

On MOTION by Ms. Brofford, seconded by Ms. Gellman, with all 
in favor, Resolution 2025-06 Authorizing Investment of Funds in the 
Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (SBA-State Board 
Account), was approved. 

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Consideration of Proposals for Landscape 
& Irrigation Maintenance Services RFP 
(Reverie) 

A. Consideration of Revisions to TrailMark Amenity Policies 
 Mr. Laughlin noted on page 272 of the agenda package is a marked-up version of the 

amenity policies. He asked if the Board would like to discuss anything, add anything or approve 

what has been changed.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Brofford, with all in 
favor, the Revisions to TrailMark Amenity Policies, were approved. 

 

B. Consideration of Revisions to Reverie Amenity Policies 
 Kevin Andersen suggested adding policies to the Reverie policies over the Bier Garden 

and the dog park.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Brofford, with all in 
favor, the Board Authorized Supervisor Gellman to Work with Staff 
to Include Policies Related to the Dog Park and Bier Garden in 
Reverie Policies, was approved. 

 

C. Consideration of Resolution 2025-07, Setting a Public Hearing Date to Adopt Rates 
Mr. Laughlin stated this is to set the public hearing date to adopt the charge for the booklets. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Brofford, with all in 
favor, Resolution 2025-07, Setting a Public Hearing Date to Adopt 
Rates - May Meeting, was approved. 

 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Discussion Items:  
A. Welcome Center Improvements 

 Ms. Hartley discussed her design plans for the welcome center improvements. Drawings 

are included in the agenda package and photos of furniture were sent to Sarah. Ms. Sutton reminded 

the Board that a sign in station needs to be incorporated.  



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

5 

 

B. District Events 
 Ms. Sutton discussed District events being made public by others than the Board and 

property being allegedly damaged. The Board requested staff be notified of events open to the 

public. 

 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Discussion of Agreement for Security 
System Operation/Maintenance Services 
with Envera Systems (Reverie) 

 Ms. Gellman provided an update on a revised (verbal) agreement with Envera. She will 

negotiate price and termination clause. The contract isn’t up until August. Tabled 

 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Update on Insurance Status for Accident  

 Mr. Laughlin informed the Board that a check was received today for the damages related 

to the front entrance accident.  

 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Consideration of Proposals: 
A. Cooper Electrical Services for Outdoor Lighting at Welcome Center 

 Mr. Laughlin presented a proposal from Cooper Electrical Services for outdoor lighting at 

the welcome center (adding lights to stairway) totaling $1,070.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Mr. Dunn, with all in 
favor, the Cooper Electrical Services Proposal for Outdoor Lighting 
at Welcome Center for $1,070, was approved. 

 

B. Brightview Landscape Services for Sports Field Tree Elevation 
 Mr. Laughlin stated presented a proposal from Brightview Landscape Services for Sports 

Field Tree Elevation totaling $1,714.29. 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Hartley, with all in 
favor, the Brightview Landscape Proposal for Sports Field Tree 
Elevation for $1,714.29, was approved. 

 

C. Brightview Landscape Spring Annuals 
 Mr. Laughlin reviewed a Brightview proposal for the spring annuals for $2,175.52.  



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

6 

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Hartley, with all in 
favor, the Brightview Landscape Proposal for Spring Annuals for 
$2,175.52, was approved. 

 

D. Tison Sound & Security for Additional Audio Equipment 
 Mr. Laughlin noted they would need to purchase at least 4 more mics and another plug to 

plug the mics in. Table 

 

E. Jax Utility Maintenance for Welcome Center Pothole 
 Mr. Laughlin stated ETM has been out and inspected the site and concur with this work. 

The total is $10,800. Paying from the Capital Reserve could be an option. District Counsel will 

prepare an agreement.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Brofford, with all in 
favor, the Proposal from Jax Utility Maintenance for Welcome 
Center Pothole, was approved. 

 

THIRTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Other Business 

 There being no comments, the next item followed. 

 

FOURTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Staff Reports 
A. Attorney  

 Mr. Haber had nothing to report but offered to take questions.  

 

B. Engineer – Update Regarding Traff Signal at Entrance 
 Mr. Wild provided an update related to the front entrance traffic signal. He noted once they 

get a contract, they may get a tighter timeframe on the fabrication but no guarantees.  

 

C. Manager – Discussion of April Meeting 
Mr. Laughlin scheduled the next meeting for April 23, 2025 at Good News Church.  

 

D. TrailMark Reports 
1. Operations (RealManage) – Report  



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

7 

 Mr. Boyer provided the Facility Manager’s Report including the one-year final 

walkthrough, pool ladder repair and Camp House screen repair. Mr. Dunn spoke about exterior 

composite shiplap to cover mid-way up the free weights wall in the gym. He will bring back 

pricing.  

 

2. Lifestyles (OnPlace) – Report  
 Ms. Douglas provided an update on recent and upcoming events at TrailMark.  

 

E. Reverie Reports (First Service) 
1. DFH Updates  

 First Service provided an update regarding the kitchen pass through, fencing to pool area 

and general maintenance.  

 

2. Operations (First Service) – Report  
  Mr. Reid reviewed the First Service Operations Report.  

 

3. Lifestyles (OnPlace) – Report  
 Ms. Passantino provided an update on recent and upcoming events at Reverie.  

 

FIFTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Supervisor’s Requests  

 There being no other business, the next item followed.  

 

SIXTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Audience Comments  

• Sue Minter (170 Osprey Mills Ln) – Spoke about Feet on Earth event.  

• Christopher Conway (263 Weathered Edge) – Glad sidewalks are getting fixed. Spoke 

about sidewalk repairs near the pickleball courts. Asked about meet & greet for HOA. It is 

already in the works.  

• Steve Pasiuk (85 Red Twig Way) – Spoke about low growth out of oak trees on TrailMark 

Dr. Ms. Sutton noted they are homeowners’ trees. Asked if designer addressed acoustics 

of amenity center. Ms. Hartley noted yes, considering drapery or sound boards. Asked for 

clarification of posting for sale signs in the community. Spoke on Reverie pool use. 



March 12, 2025   Six Mile Creek CDD 

8 

• Michelle Klee (109 Linsbury Court) – Asked for an update on her checklist of community 

signs that were either missing or broken. Mr. Reid noted the developer has reached out to 

the original installer. Asked if the pool monitor were to be at a check in table under the 

awning to manage the gym and other amenities, how can they keep an eye on activity at 

the pool? Ms. Sweeting noted the street signs are not covered under insurance. 

 

SEVENTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Next Scheduled Meeting – March 21, 2025 
at 2:00 p.m. @ Good News Church (special 
meeting) May 14, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. @ 
Renaissance World Golf Village Resort 

 The next scheduled meeting is March 21, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. at Good News Church. There 

is a Special Meeting April 23, 2025 at the Good News Church. The May 14th meeting will be at 

2:00 p.m. at Renaissance World Golf Village Resort.  

 

EIGHTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS  Adjournment  

 Mr. Laughlin asked for a motion to adjourn.  

 

On MOTION by Ms. Sutton, seconded by Ms. Gellman, with all in 
favor, the meeting adjourned. 

 

 

 

___________________________  _____________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D. 



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Unaudited	Financial	Reporting
March	31,	2025



1-2

3-4

5-6

7-8

9-10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Debt Service Series 2023 AA2 PH3C/AA3 PH3 Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2024 Income Statement

Developer Contributions Schedule

Assessment Receipt Schedule

Debt Service Series 2016A Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2016B Income Statement

Capital Reserve Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2020 Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2021 AA3 PH1 Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2021 AA3 PH2 Income Statement

Table of Contents

Balance Sheet

General Fund Income Statement

General Fund Month to Month

Reverie Fund (East Parcel) Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2021 AA2 PH3B Income Statement

Reverie (East Parcel) Month to Month

Debt Service Series 2017A Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2007 Income Statement

Debt Service Series 2015 Income Statement



Table of Contents

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45 Series 2024 Construction Schedule

Series 2020 Construction Schedule

Series 2021 AA3 PH1 Construction Schedule

Series 2021 AA3 PH2 Construction Schedule

Capital Projects Series 2021 AA2 PH3B Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2023 AA2 PH3C/AA3 PH3 Income Statement

Series 2016A Construction Schedule

Series 2016B Construction Schedule

Series 2017A Construction Schedule

Series 2021 AA2 PH3B Construction Schedule

Series 2023 AA2 PH3C Construction Schedule

Series 2023 AA3 PH3 Construction Schedule

Series 2017A-NW Parcel Construction Schedule

Capital Projects Series 2007 Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2016A Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2016B Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2017A Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2024 Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2020 Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2021 AA3 PH1 Income Statement

Capital Projects Series 2021 AA3 PH2 Income Statement



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

	Balance	Sheet
March	31,	2025

	 General	 Reverie Capital	Reserve Debt	Service Capital	Projects Totals
	 Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Governmental	Funds

Assets: 	 	 	 	 	
Cash	-	Truist	Bank 131,693$															 112,031$											 -$																				 -$																				 -$																				 243,724$																
Cash	-	Truist	Bank	-	Special	Events 3,064																						 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 3,064																						
Assessment	Receivable -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																															
Investments:
Series	2007
Reserve -																														 -																										 -																										 28,356															 -																										 28,356																				
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 2,430																		 2,430																						

Series	2015
Reserve	 -																														 -																										 -																										 157,219													 -																										 157,219																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 283,203													 -																										 283,203																		
Prepayment -																														 -																										 -																										 1																									 -																										 1																														

Series	2016A
Reserve	 -																														 -																										 -																										 432,044													 -																										 432,044																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 637,974													 -																										 637,974																		
Prepayment -																														 -																										 -																										 26,029															 -																										 26,029																				
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 195,936													 195,936																		

Series	2016B
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 172																					 -																										 172																									
Prepayment -																														 -																										 -																										 6																									 -																										 6																														
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 4																									 4																														

Series	2017A
Reserve	 -																														 -																										 -																										 692,813													 -																										 692,813																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 827,109													 -																										 827,109																		
Interest -																														 -																										 -																										 113																					 -																										 113																									
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 0																									 0																														
Construction	-	NW -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 1,007																		 1,007																						

Series	2020
Reserve -																														 -																										 -																										 205,191													 -																										 205,191																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 488,850													 -																										 488,850																		

Series	2021	AA3	PH1
Reserve -																														 -																										 -																										 282,613													 -																										 282,613																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 663,464													 -																										 663,464																		
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																															

Series	2021	AA3	PH2
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 150,698													 -																										 150,698																		
Prepayment -																														 -																										 -																										 176,904													 -																										 176,904																		
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 579																					 579																									

Series	2021	AA2	PH3B
Reserve -																														 -																										 -																										 230,438													 -																										 230,438																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 526,320													 -																										 526,320																		
Construction -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 203																					 203																									

Series	2023
Reserve	 -																														 -																										 -																										 727,675													 -																										 727,675																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 172,023													 -																										 172,023																		
Interest -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																															
Capitalized	Interest -																														 -																										 -																										 42																							 -																										 42																												
Construction	AA2	PH3C -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 582																					 582																									
Construction	AA3	PH3 -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 5																									 5																														

Series	2024
Reserve	 -																														 -																										 -																										 193,130													 -																										 193,130																		
Revenue -																														 -																										 -																										 3,313																		 -																										 3,313																						
Interest -																														 -																										 -																										 105																					 -																										 105																									
Capitalized	Interest -																														 -																										 -																										 169,199													 434																					 169,633																		

Investment	-	Custody 1,050,855														 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 1,050,855															
State	Board	of	Administration -																														 60,000															 -																										 -																										 -																										 60,000																				
Due	From	Capital	Projects -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 956																					 956																									
Due	From	Capital	Reserve 8,752																						 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 8,752																						
Due	From	Developer -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 833,379													 833,379																		
Due	from	Reverie 450																									 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 450																									
Prepaid	Expenses 400																									 6,000																		 -																										 -																										 -																										 6,400																						

Total	Assets 1,195,214$											 178,031$										 -$																			 7,075,001$							 1,040,669$							 9,488,915$												

1



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

	Balance	Sheet
March	31,	2025

	 General	 Reverie Capital	Reserve Debt	Service Capital	Projects Totals
	 Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Governmental	Funds

Liabilities:
Accounts	Payable 24,716$																	 44,044$													 -$																				 -$																				 833,379$											 902,139$																
Accrued	Payables 1,052																						 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 1,052																						
Contracts	Payable -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 1,102,495										 1,102,495															
Due	to	Capital	Projects	2016A/B 4,153																						 -																										 -																										 -																										 -																										 4,153																						
Due	to	Capital	Projects	2017 1,000																						 -																										 -																										 -																										 956																					 1,956																						
Due	to	General	Fund -																														 450																					 -																										 -																										 -																										 450																									

Total	Liabilities 30,921$																	 44,494$													 -$																			 -$																			 1,936,830$							 2,012,245$												

Fund	Balances: 	 	 	 	 	
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2007 -$																								 -$																				 -$																				 28,356$													 -$																				 28,356$																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2015 -																														 -																										 -																										 440,422													 -																										 440,422																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2016A -																														 -																										 -																										 1,096,047										 -																										 1,096,047															
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2016B -																														 -																										 -																										 179																					 -																										 179																									
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2017A -																														 -																										 -																										 1,520,034										 -																										 1,520,034															
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2020 -																														 -																										 -																										 694,040													 -																										 694,040																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2021	PH1 -																														 -																										 -																										 946,076													 -																										 946,076																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2021	PH2 -																														 -																										 -																										 327,602													 -																										 327,602																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2021	PH3B -																														 -																										 -																										 756,758													 -																										 756,758																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2023 -																														 -																										 -																										 899,740													 -																										 899,740																		
Assigned	For	Debt	Service	2024 -																														 -																										 -																										 365,748													 -																										 365,748																		
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2007 -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 2,430																		 2,430																						
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2016A -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 199,133													 199,133																		
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2016B -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 4																									 4																														
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2017A -																														 -																										 	 -																										 2,963																		 2,963																						
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2020 -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 0																									 0																														
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2021	PH1 -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 0																									 0																														
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2021	PH2 -																														 -																										 	 -																										 (229,930)											 (229,930)																
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2021	PH3B -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 (498,389)											 (498,389)																
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2023 -																														 -																										 -																										 -																										 (372,807)											 (372,807)																
Assigned	For	Capital	Reserves	2024 -																														 -																										 	 -																										 434																					 434																									
Unassigned 1,164,293														 133,537													 -																										 -																										 -																										 1,297,830															

Total	Fund	Balances 1,164,293$											 133,537$										 -$																			 7,075,001$							 (896,161)$									 7,476,669$												

Total		Liabilities	&	Fund	Equity	 1,195,214$												 178,031$											 -$																				 7,075,001$								 1,040,669$								 9,488,915$													

2



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

General	Fund
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll 1,544,069$																	 1,497,875$																	 1,497,875$																	 -$																																							
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Platted 351,132																								 116,968																								 116,968																								 -																																									
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Unplatted 21,329																											 5,332																														 5,332																														 -																																									
Special	Assessments	-	Lot	Closings -																																									 -																																									 44,332																											 44,332																											
Interest 24,000																											 12,000																											 11,252																											 (748)																																
Miscellaneous	Income 1,226																														 613																																		 11,104																											 10,491																											
Rental	Income 3,000																														 1,500																														 4,197																														 2,697																														
Special	Events	Income -																																									 -																																									 908																																		 908																																		

Total		Revenues 1,944,756$																	 1,634,288$																	 1,691,968$																	 57,680$																								

Expenditures:

Administrative:

Supervisor	Fees 12,000$																								 6,000$																											 7,400$																											 (1,400)$																									
FICA	Expense 918																																		 459																																		 566																																		 (107)																																
Engineering	Fees 25,000																											 12,500																											 18,966																											 (6,466)																												
Attorney 35,000																											 17,500																											 8,655																														 8,845																														
Arbitrage 4,800																														 1,200																														 1,200																														 -																																									
Dissemination	 12,720																											 6,360																														 7,643																														 (1,283)																												
Dissemination	-	DTS 1,500																														 1,500																														 2,500																														 (1,000)																												
Annual	Audit 14,500																											 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Trustee	Fees 30,170																											 11,583																											 11,583																											 -																																									
Assessment	Administration 10,000																											 10,000																											 10,000																											 -																																									
Management	Fees 45,000																											 22,500																											 22,500																											 -																																									
Information	Technology 1,890																														 945																																		 945																																		 -																																									
Website	Maintenance 1,260																														 630																																		 630																																		 -																																									
Debt	Service	Fund	Accounting 5,000																														 2,500																														 -																																									 2,500																														
Telephone 1,000																														 	 500																																		 	 544																																		 (44)																																			
Postage 1,750																														 875																																		 1,658																														 (783)																																
Printing	&	Binding 1,750																														 875																																		 932																																		 (57)																																			
Insurance 7,880																														 7,880																														 7,661																														 219																																		
Legal	Advertising 10,000																											 5,000																														 832																																		 4,168																														
Meeting	Room	Rental 20,500																											 10,250																											 8,458																														 1,792																														
Bank	Fees 3,000																														 1,500																														 922																																		 578																																		
Other	Current	Charges 300																																		 150																																		 827																																		 (677)																																
Office	Supplies 200																																		 100																																		 12																																					 88																																					
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 175																																		 175																																		 175																																		 -																																									

	
Total	Administrative: 246,313$																					 120,982$																					 114,609$																					 6,373$																											

Operations	&	Maintenance

Property	Insurance 43,395$																								 43,395$																								 40,022$																								 3,373$																											
Electric 10,000																											 5,000																														 3,601																														 1,399																														
Streetlights 95,500																											 47,750																											 49,700																											 (1,950)																												
Landscape	Contract 367,000																								 183,500																								 197,262																								 (13,762)																									
Landscape	-	Mulch	&	Plant	Installation 120,000																								 60,000																											 121,142																								 (61,142)																									
Landscape	Contingency 88,000																											 44,000																											 8,613																														 35,387																											
Lake	Contract 50,000																											 25,000																											 29,390																											 (4,390)																												
Lake	Contingency 10,000																											 5,000																														 -																																									 5,000																														
Irrigation	Maintenance 75,000																											 37,500																											 17,467																											 20,033																											
Repairs	&	Maintenance 15,000																											 7,500																														 771																																		 6,729																														
Security	Patrol 55,000																											 27,500																											 18,745																											 8,755																														
Dog	Park	-	General	Maintenance 5,000																														 2,500																														 1,621																														 879																																		
Kayak	Launch	-	General	Maintenance 5,000																														 2,500																														 560																																		 1,940																														
Storm	Clean-Up/Tree	Removal 30,000																											 15,000																											 16,230																											 (1,230)																												

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance: 968,895$																					 506,145$																					 505,124$																					 1,021$																											

3



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

General	Fund
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Amenity	Center

Utilities
					Telephone/Internet 10,000$																								 5,000$																											 2,378$																											 2,622$																											
					Electric 25,000																											 12,500																											 10,912																											 1,588																														
					Water/Irrigation 45,000																											 22,500																											 17,023																											 5,477																														
					Gas 2,000																														 1,000																														 513																																		 487																																		
					Trash	Removal 8,910																														 4,455																														 5,216																														 (761)																																
Security
					Security	Alarm	Monitoring 1,100$																											 550$																															 660$																															 (110)$																													
					Access	Cards 1,000																														 500																																		 -																																									 500																																		
Management	Contracts
					Facility	Management 125,000$																					 62,500$																								 45,471$																								 17,029$																								
					Field	Management/Administrative 112,320																								 56,160																											 30,799																											 25,361																											
					Amenity	Staff	-	Rentals 2,000																														 1,000																														 3,409																														 (2,409)																												
					Onsite	Reimbursable	(Event	Pgrm/Mileage/Cell) 2,000																														 1,000																														
					Pool	Attendants 50,000																											 25,000																											 -																																									 25,000																											
					Pool	Maintenance 40,000																											 20,000																											 10,800																											 9,200																														
					Pool	Repairs 30,000																											 15,000																											 11,207																											 3,793																														
					Pool	Permits 1,000																														 500																																		 -																																									 500																																		
					Janitorial	Services 42,706																											 21,353																											 17,728																											 3,625																														
					Fitness	Equipment	Lease 34,312																											 17,156																											 17,156																											 (0)																																						
					Pest	Control 5,000																														 2,500																														 2,360																														 140																																		
Repairs	&	Maintenance 40,000																											 20,000																											 7,586																														 12,414																											
Special	Events 21,000																											 10,500																											 13,740																											 (3,240)																												
Holiday	Decorations 12,000																											 12,000																											 12,044																											 (44)																																			
Fitness	Center	Repairs/Supplies 3,500																														 1,750																														 375																																		 1,375																														
Operating	Supplies 10,000																											 5,000																														 1,321																														 3,679																														
ASCAP/BMI	Licenses 1,700																														 850																																		 23,210																											 (22,360)																									
Contingency 4,000																														 2,000																														 151																																		 1,849																														

Total	Amenity	Center: 629,548$																					 320,774$																					 234,058$																					 85,716$																								

Reserves

Capital	Reserve	Transfer 100,000$																					 -$																																							 -$																																							 -$																																							

Total	Reserves 100,000$																					 -$																																							 -$																																							 -$																																							

Total	Expenditures 1,944,756$																	 947,901$																					 853,792$																					 93,110$																								

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																							 838,177$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																							 326,116$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																							 1,164,293$																	

4



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Month	to	Month

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Total
Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll -$																						 135,831$											 264,180$											 825,362$											 272,503$											 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 1,497,875$												
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Platted 87,783																	 -																															 -																															 29,185																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 116,968																			
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Unplatted 5,332																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 5,332																									
Special	Assessments	-	Lot	Closings 20,163																	 -																															 15,733																	 -																															 -																															 8,436																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 44,332																						
Interest 1,140																				 681																								 708																								 1,389																				 3,553																				 3,781																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 11,252																						
Miscellaneous	Income 275																								 -																															 -																															 375																								 100																								 10,354																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 11,104																						
Rental	Income 1,567																				 242																								 -																															 917																								 977																								 492																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 4,197																									
Special	Events	Income 385																								 244																								 88																											 71																											 93																											 27																											 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 908																													

Total		Revenues 116,645$							 136,999$							 280,708$							 857,300$							 277,226$							 23,090$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 1,691,968$							

Expenditures:

Administrative:
Supervisor	Fees -$																						 1,000$																	 1,600$																	 1,000$																	 1,000$																	 2,800$																	 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 7,400$																						
FICA	Expense -																															 77																											 122																								 77																											 77																											 214																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 566																													
Engineering	Fees 2,091																				 2,172																				 3,236																				 1,819																				 5,249																				 4,400																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 18,966																						
Attorney 1,788																				 2,502																				 1,364																				 3,002																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,655																									
Arbitrage -																															 -																															 1,200																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,200																									
Dissemination	 1,560																				 1,060																				 1,143																				 1,593																				 1,143																				 1,143																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 7,643																									
Dissemination	-	DTS 2,500																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 2,500																									
Annual	Audit -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Trustee	Fees -																															 -																															 7,273																				 -																															 -																															 4,310																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 11,583																						
Assessment	Administration 10,000																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 10,000																						
Management	Fees 3,750																				 3,750																				 3,750																				 3,750																				 3,750																				 3,750																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 22,500																						
Information	Technology 158																								 158																								 158																								 158																								 158																								 158																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 945																													
Website	Maintenance 105																								 105																								 105																								 105																								 105																								 105																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 630																													
Debt	Services	Fund	Accounting -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Telephone 81																											 67																											 72																											 118																								 60																											 146																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 544																													
Postage 5																														 794																								 91																											 134																								 137																								 497																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,658																									
Printing	&	Binding 169																								 134																								 161																								 135																								 171																								 163																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 932																													
Insurance 7,661																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 7,661																									
Legal	Advertising 360																								 66																											 66																											 67																											 74																											 199																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 832																													
Meeting	Room	Rental -																															 3,119																				 1,418																				 1,843																				 -																															 2,079																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,458																									
Bank	Fees 189																								 159																								 152																								 126																								 157																								 140																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 922																													
Other	Current	Charges -																															 -																															 100																								 433																								 294																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 827																													
Office	Supplies 3																														 1																														 3																														 3																														 1																														 3																														 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 12																																
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 175																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 175																													

Total	Administrative: 30,594$											 15,161$											 22,012$											 14,363$											 12,375$											 20,105$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 114,609$												

Operations	&	Maintenance
Property	Insurance 40,022$														 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 40,022$																			
Electric 822																								 989																								 542																								 417																								 371																								 461																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 3,601																									
Streetlights 8,219																				 8,219																				 8,219																				 8,328																				 8,358																				 8,358																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 49,700																						
Landscape	Contract 30,583																	 30,583																	 30,583																	 35,171																	 35,171																	 35,171																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 197,262																			
Landscape	-	Mulch	&	Plant	Installation -																															 -																															 2,176																				 -																															 -																															 118,966														 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 121,142																			
Landscape	Contingency -																															 4,278																				 1,690																				 931																								 -																															 1,714																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,613																									
Lake	Contract 4,220																				 4,220																				 4,220																				 4,220																				 8,365																				 4,145																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 29,390																						
Lake	Contingency -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Irrigation	Maintenance 1,814																				 2,143																				 3,571																				 4,607																				 3,333																				 1,999																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 17,467																						
Repairs	&	Maintenance -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 771																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 771																													
Security	Patrol 2,567																				 3,370																				 3,035																				 2,628																				 3,783																				 3,363																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 18,745																						
Dog	Park	-	General	Maintenance 206																								 206																								 206																								 206																								 797																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,621																									
Kayak	Launch	-	General	Maintenance 560																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 560																													
Storm	Clean-Up/Tree	Removal 6,920																				 9,310																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 16,230																						

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance: 95,933$											 63,317$											 54,242$											 56,507$											 60,177$											 174,948$							 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 505,124$												

5



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Month	to	Month

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Total

Amenity	Center
Utilities
					Telephone/Internet 428$																					 390$																					 390$																					 390$																					 390$																					 390$																					 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 2,378$																						
					Electric 1,608																				 1,705																				 1,788																				 1,957																				 2,060																				 1,794																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 10,912																						
					Water/Irrigation 3,408																				 2,813																				 2,697																				 2,931																				 3,150																				 2,025																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 17,023																						
					Gas 78																											 9																														 114																								 111																								 127																								 74																											 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 513																													
					Trash	Removal 946																								 673																								 946																								 679																								 1,122																				 849																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 5,216																									
Security
					Security	Alarm	Monitoring 35$																								 35$																								 485$																					 35$																								 35$																								 35$																								 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 660$																										
					Access	Cards -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Management	Contracts
					Facility	Management 10,709$														 -$																						 12,969$														 9,736$																	 12,058$														 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 45,471$																			
					Field	Management/Administrative 4,793																				 5,651																				 4,406																				 5,229																				 5,219																				 5,501																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 30,799																						
					Amenity	Staff	-	Rentals 248																								 331																								 165																								 532																								 -																															 2,133																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 3,409																									
				Onsite	Reimbursable	(Event	Prgm/Mileage)
					Pool	Attendants -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																											
					Pool	Maintenance 1,800																				 1,800																				 1,800																				 1,800																				 1,800																				 1,800																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 10,800																						
					Pool	Repairs 2,309																				 2,387																				 745																								 2,188																				 2,706																				 872																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 11,207																						
					Pool	Permits -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
					Janitorial	Services 2,945																				 2,945																				 3,003																				 2,945																				 2,945																				 2,945																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 17,728																						
					Fitness	Equipment	Lease 2,859																				 2,859																				 2,859																				 2,859																				 2,859																				 2,859																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 17,156																						
					Pest	Control 297																								 297																								 587																								 297																								 297																								 587																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 2,360																									
Repairs	&	Maintenance 2,130																				 986																								 1,930																				 438																								 151																								 1,950																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 7,586																									
Special	Events 1,888																				 3,259																				 4,661																				 928																								 1,421																				 1,583																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 13,740																						
Holiday	Decorations -																															 12,044																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 12,044																						
Fitness	Center	Repairs/Supplies 175																								 -																															 -																															 200																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 375																													
Operating	Supplies 295																								 -																															 372																								 32																											 362																								 260																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,321																									
ASCAP/BMI	Licenses 23,210																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 23,210																						
Contingency 151																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 151																													

Total	Amenity	Center: 60,312$											 38,184$											 39,917$											 33,286$											 36,703$											 25,656$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 234,058$												

Reserves
Capital	Reserves	Transfer -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																										

Total	Reserves: -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																										

Total	Expenditures 186,839$							 116,662$							 116,170$							 104,156$							 109,255$							 220,709$							 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 853,792$												

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) (70,194)$												 20,337$														 164,537$											 753,144$											 167,971$											 (197,619)$									 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 838,177$																

6



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Reverie	Fund
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll 403,920$																					 391,834$																					 391,834$																					 -$																																							
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Billed 185,640																								 46,410																											 46,410																											 -																																									
Developer	Contributions 357,273																								 178,637																								 100,000																								 (78,637)																									
Interest 100																																		 50																																					 -																																									 (50)																																			
Miscellaneous	Income 500																																		 250																																		 4,525																														 4,275																														
Special	Events	Income -																																									 -																																									 1,030																														 1,030																														

Total		Revenues 947,433$																					 617,180$																					 543,799$																					 (73,382)$																						

Expenditures:

Administrative:
Other	Current	Charges 1,500$																											 750$																															 800$																															 (50)$																																

Total	Administrative: 1,500$																											 750$																															 800$																															 (50)$																																

Operations	&	Maintenance
Property	Insurance 80,660$																								 80,660$																								 74,391$																								 6,269$																											
Electric 8,500																														 4,250																														 4,426																														 (176)																																
Landscape	Contract 113,000																								 56,500																											 56,532																											 (32)																																			
Landscape	-	Mulch	&	Plant	Installation 45,000																											 22,500																											 16,236																											 6,264																														
Landscape	Contingency 15,000																											 7,500																														 37,917																											 (30,417)																									
Lake	Contract 14,000																											 7,000																														 8,120																														 (1,120)																												
Lake	Contingency 2,500																														 1,250																														 -																																									 1,250																														
Irrigation	Maintenance 11,250																											 5,625																														 1,794																														 3,831																														
Repairs	&	Maintenance 1,500																														 750																																		 -																																									 750																																		
Pump	Repairs 1,500																														 750																																		 -																																									 750																																		
Electric	Streetlights/Services 5,000																														 2,500																														 -																																									 2,500																														
Routine	Road	Cleaning 2,500																														 1,250																														 -																																									 1,250																														
Dog	Park	-	General	Maintenance 6,000																														 3,000																														 4,475																														 (1,475)																												
Pavilion	Park	Maintenance 3,500																														 1,750																														 -																																									 1,750																														
Entry	Gate(s)	Access	Control	&	Monitoring 42,500																											 21,250																											 28,472																											 (7,222)																												
Contingency 5,000																														 2,500																														 1,574																														 926																																		

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance: 357,410$																					 219,035$																					 233,937$																					 (14,902)$																						

7



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Reverie	Fund
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Amenity	Center
Utilities
					Telephone/Internet 4,750$																											 2,375$																											 2,422$																											 (47)$																																
					Electric 20,000																											 10,000																											 8,905																														 1,095																														
					Water/Irrigation 20,000																											 10,000																											 18,374																											 (8,374)																												
					Gas 32,250																											 16,125																											 20,356																											 (4,231)																												
					Trash	Removal 4,500																														 2,250																														 2,303																														 (53)																																			
Security
					Security	Alarm	Monitoring 1,000$																											 500$																															 493$																															 8$																																					
					Access	Cards 5,000																														 2,500																														 -																																									 2,500																														
Management	Contracts
					Lifestyle	Director 81,900$																								 40,950$																								 39,001$																								 1,949$																											
					Admin	(Facility	Management) 63,312																											 31,656																											 10,080																											 21,576																											
					Building	Maintenance	(Field	Management) 88,919																											 44,460																											 33,362																											 11,098																											
					Onsite	Reimbursable	(CAM/Medical/Mileage/Cell) 40,000																											 20,000																											 -																																									 20,000																											
				Landscape	Contract 32,845																											 16,423																											 16,422																											 0																																								
				Landscape	Seasonal 24,000																											 12,000																											 12,363																											 (363)																																
				Landscape	Contingency 4,000																														 2,000																														 7,856																														 (5,856)																												
					Pool	Maintenance 25,500																											 12,750																											 15,100																											 (2,350)																												
					Pool	Repairs 12,500																											 6,250																														 19,457																											 (13,207)																									
					Pool	Permits 1,000																														 500																																		 -																																									 500																																		
					Janitorial	Services 7,750																														 3,875																														 8,924																														 (5,049)																												
					Janitorial	Supplies 4,750																														 2,375																														 444																																		 1,931																														
				Facility	Repairs	&	Maintenance 25,000																											 12,500																											 9,376																														 3,124																														
				Fitness	Equipment	Lease 27,347																											 13,674																											 13,673																											 0																																								
					Pest	Control 2,200																														 1,100																														 450																																		 650																																		
Repairs	&	Maintenance 13,250																											 6,625																														 4,975																														 1,650																														
Special	Events 35,000																											 17,500																											 25,419																											 (7,919)																												
Holiday	Decorations 6,500																														 3,250																														 6,427																														 (3,177)																												
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 250																																		 250																																		 249																																		 1																																								
Operating	Supplies 5,000																														 2,500																														 2,666																														 (166)																																

Total	Amenity	Center: 588,523$																					 294,387$																					 279,096$																					 15,290$																								

Total	Expenditures 947,433$																					 514,172$																					 513,833$																					 338$																															

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																							 29,966$																								

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																							 103,571$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																							 133,537$																					

8



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Month	to	Month

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Total
Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll -$																						 35,532$														 69,108$														 215,909$											 71,285$														 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 391,834$																
Special	Assessments	-	Direct	Billed 46,410																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 46,410																						
Developer	Contributions -																															 100,000														 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 100,000																			
Interest -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Miscellaneous	Income 225																								 125																								 150																								 275																								 150																								 3,600																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 4,525																									
Special	Events	Income -																															 -																															 -																															 760																								 270																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,030																									

Total		Revenues 46,635$											 135,657$							 69,258$											 216,944$							 71,705$											 3,600$														 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 543,799$												

Expenditures:

Administrative:
Other	Current	Charges 115$																					 176$																					 142$																					 107$																					 147$																					 112$																					 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 800$																										

Total	Administrative: 115$																			 176$																			 142$																			 107$																			 147$																			 112$																			 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 800$																								

Operations	&	Maintenance
Property	Insurance 74,391$														 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 74,391$																			
Electric 505																								 1,085																				 758																								 757																								 679																								 641																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 4,426																									
Landscape	Contract 9,422																				 9,422																				 9,422																				 9,422																				 9,422																				 9,422																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 56,532																						
Landscape	-	Mulch	&	Plant	Installation 3,521																				 6,200																				 6,515																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 16,236																						
Landscape	Contingency 2,336																				 31,208																	 -																															 -																															 4,373																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 37,917																						
Lake	Contract 1,164																				 1,164																				 1,164																				 1,164																				 2,314																				 1,150																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,120																									
Lake	Contingency -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Irrigation	Maintenance 404																								 127																								 647																								 -																															 616																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,794																									
Repairs	&	Maintenance -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Pump	Repairs -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Electric	Streetlights/Services -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Routine	Road	Cleaning -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Dog	Park	-	General	Maintenance 482																								 482																								 482																								 482																								 482																								 2,065																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 4,475																									
Pavilion	Park	Maintenance -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Entry	Gate(s)	Access	Control	&	Monitoring 5,696																				 6,414																				 4,736																				 3,781																				 3,811																				 4,036																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 28,472																						
Contingency 232																								 621																								 721																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 1,574																									

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance: 98,153$											 56,723$											 24,445$											 15,606$											 21,697$											 17,314$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 233,937$												

9



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Month	to	Month

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Total
Amenity	Center
Utilities
					Telephone/Internet 389$																					 390$																					 390$																					 430$																					 431$																					 391$																					 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 2,422$																						
					Electric 1,447																				 1,417																				 1,471																				 1,504																				 1,605																				 1,462																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,905																									
					Water/Irrigation 2,767																				 4,151																				 3,332																				 2,904																				 2,502																				 2,717																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 18,374																						
					Gas 431																								 118																								 4,575																				 5,643																				 7,759																				 1,830																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 20,356																						
					Trash	Removal 315																								 315																								 315																								 628																								 325																								 404																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 2,303																									
Security
					Security	Alarm	Monitoring 493$																					 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 493$																										
					Access	Cards -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
Management	Contracts
					Lifestyle	Director 6,001$																	 6,000$																	 6,000$																	 9,000$																	 6,000$																	 6,000$																	 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 39,001$																			
					Admin	(Facility	Management) -																															 5,488																				 839																								 776																								 2,977																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 10,080																						
					Building	Maintenance	(Field	Management) 11,249																	 -																															 10,373																	 9,680																				 2,060																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 33,362																						
					Onsite	Reimbursable	(CAM/Medical/Mileage) -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
					Landscape	Contract 2,737																				 2,737																				 2,737																				 2,737																				 2,737																				 2,737																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 16,422																						
					Landscape	Seasonal -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 12,363																	 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 12,363																						
					Landscape	Contingency 1,200																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 6,656																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 7,856																									
					Pool	Maintenance 3,079																				 2,060																				 2,060																				 2,060																				 3,781																				 2,060																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 15,100																						
					Pool	Repairs 8,706																				 792																								 2,211																				 870																								 364																								 6,514																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 19,457																						
					Pool	Permits -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																																				
					Janitorial	Services 1,400																				 1,400																				 1,400																				 1,925																				 1,400																				 1,400																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 8,924																									
					Janitorial	Supplies -																															 -																															 91																											 170																								 74																											 109																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 444																													
				Facility	Repairs	&	Maintenance 2,499																				 4,635																				 80																											 948																								 1,128																				 87																											 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 9,376																									
				Fitness	Equipment	Lease 2,279																				 2,279																				 2,279																				 2,279																				 2,279																				 2,279																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 13,673																						
					Pest	Control 75																											 75																											 75																											 75																											 75																											 75																											 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 450																													
Repairs	&	Maintenance 3,175																				 124																								 300																								 -																															 1,376																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 4,975																									
Special	Events 4,410																				 12,659																	 3,414																				 1,943																				 2,043																				 952																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 25,419																						
Holiday	Decorations -																															 -																															 -																															 6,427																				 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 6,427																									
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 179																								 -																															 35																											 35																											 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 249																													
Operating	Supplies 878																								 401																								 302																								 402																								 325																								 357																								 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 -																															 2,666																									

Total	Amenity	Center: 53,708$											 45,041$											 42,277$											 50,436$											 45,896$											 41,737$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 279,096$												

Total	Expenditures 151,975$							 101,941$							 66,865$											 66,149$											 67,740$											 59,163$											 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 -$																					 513,833$												

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) (105,340)$									 33,717$														 2,393$																	 150,795$											 3,965$																	 (55,563)$												 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 -$																						 29,966$																			

10



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Reserve
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Transfer	In 100,000$																					 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						
Interest 250																																	 125																																	 -																																									 (125)																															

Total		Revenues 100,250$																					 125$																															 -$																																						 (125)$																													

Expenditures:

Capital	Outlay	 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 100,250$																					 125$																															 -$																																						

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 50,423$																								 -$																																						

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 150,673$																					 -$																																						

11



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2007

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 622$																															 622$																															

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 622$																															 622$																															

Expenditures:

Series	2007
Debt	Service	Obligation -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 622$																															

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 27,734$																								

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 28,356$																								

12



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2015

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 209,625$																					 206,712$																					 206,712$																					 -$																																						
Interest 11,500																										 5,750																													 6,477																													 727																																	

Total		Revenues 221,125$																					 212,462$																					 213,189$																					 727$																															

Expenditures:

Series	2015
Interest	-	11/01 51,797$																								 51,797$																								 51,797$																								 -$																																						
Special	Call	-	11/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Principal	-	05/01 105,000																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 51,797																										 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 208,594$																					 51,797$																								 56,797$																								 (5,000)$																									

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 12,531$																								 156,392$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 121,725$																					 284,030$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 134,256$																					 440,422$																					

13



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2016A

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 432,044$																					 422,731$																					 422,731$																					 -$																																						
Special	Assessments	-	Prepayments -																																									 -																																									 26,029																										 26,029																										
Interest 36,000																										 18,000																										 19,082																										 1,082																													

Total		Revenues 468,044$																					 440,731$																					 467,841$																					 27,111$																								

Expenditures:

Series	2016A
Interest	-	11/01 154,316$																					 154,316$																					 154,316$																					 -$																																						
Principal	-	11/01 120,000																							 120,000																							 120,000																							 -																																									
Special	Call	-11/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Interest	-	05/01 151,466																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 425,781$																					 274,316$																					 279,316$																					 (5,000)$																									

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 42,263$																								 188,526$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 459,721$																					 907,521$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 501,984$																					 1,096,047$																	

14



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2016B

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 4$																																					 4$																																					

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 4$																																					 4$																																					

Expenditures:

Series	2016B
Interest	-	11/01 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						
Principal	-	11/01 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 4$																																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 175$																															

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 179$																															

15



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2017A

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 693,588$																					 674,560$																					 674,560$																					 -$																																						
Special	Assessments	-	Prepayments -																																									 -																																									 29,224																										 29,224																										
Interest 51,000																										 25,500																										 26,596																										 1,096																													

Total		Revenues 744,588$																					 700,060$																					 730,380$																					 30,320$																								

Expenditures:

Series	2017A
Interest	-	11/01 244,294$																					 244,294$																					 244,294$																					 -$																																						
Principal	-	11/01 205,000																							 205,000																							 205,000																							 -																																									
Special	Call	-	11/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Interest	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 391																																	 (391)																															
Special	Call	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 30,000																										 (30,000)																								
Interest	-	05/01 239,681																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 688,975$																					 449,294$																					 484,684$																					 (35,391)$																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 55,613$																								 245,696$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 564,155$																					 1,274,339$																	

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 619,768$																					 1,520,034$																	

16



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2020

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 410,600$																					 398,671$																					 398,671$																					 -$																																						
Interest 33,500																										 16,750																										 13,587																										 (3,163)																											

Total		Revenues 444,100$																					 415,421$																					 412,258$																					 (3,163)$																									

Expenditures:

Series	2020
Interest	-	11/01 133,109$																					 133,109$																					 133,109$																					 -$																																						
Principal	-	11/01 145,000																							 145,000																							 145,000																							 -																																									
Special	Call	-	11/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Interest	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 52																																				 (52)																																		
Special	Call	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Interest	-	05/01 130,844																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 408,953$																					 278,109$																					 288,161$																					 (10,052)$																						

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 (205,300)$																			 205,300$																					

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 (205,300)$																			 205,300$																					

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 35,147$																								 (81,203)$																						

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 358,875$																					 775,243$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 394,022$																					 694,040$																					

	

17



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA3	PH1
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 566,300$																					 555,596$																					 555,596$																					 -$																																						
Interest 35,500																										 17,750																										 17,171																										 (579)																															

Total		Revenues 601,800$																					 573,346$																					 572,767$																					 (579)$																													

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA3	PH1
Interest	-	11/01 172,900$																					 172,900$																					 172,525$																					 375$																															
Special	Call	-	11/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Interest	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 38																																				 (38)																																		
Special	Call	-	02/01 -																																									 -																																									 5,000																													 (5,000)																											
Principal	-	05/01 220,000																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 172,900																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 565,800$																					 172,900$																					 182,563$																					 (9,663)$																									

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 (282,613)$																			 282,613$																					

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 (282,613)$																			 282,613$																					

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 36,000$																								 107,592$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 284,502$																					 838,484$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 320,502$																					 946,076$																					

	

18



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA3	PH2
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 149,100$																					 144,634$																					 144,634$																					 -$																																						
Interest 13,700																										 6,850																													 5,287																													 (1,563)																											

Total		Revenues 162,800$																					 151,484$																					 149,921$																					 (1,563)$																									

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA3	PH2
Interest	-	11/01 46,065$																								 46,065$																								 46,065$																								 -$																																						
Principal	-	05/01 55,000																										 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 46,065																										 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 147,130$																					 46,065$																								 46,065$																								 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 15,670$																								 103,856$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 72,869$																								 223,745$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 88,539$																								 327,602$																					

	

19



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA2	PH3B
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 460,875$																					 447,072$																					 447,072$																					 -$																																						
Interest 24,000																										 12,000																										 13,691																										 1,691																													

Total		Revenues 484,875$																					 459,072$																					 460,762$																					 1,691$																											

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA2	PH3B
Interest	-	11/01 143,750$																					 143,750$																					 143,750$																					 -$																																						
Principal	-	05/01 175,000																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 143,750																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 462,500$																					 143,750$																					 143,750$																					 -$																																						

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 (230,438)$																			 230,438$																					

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 (230,438)$																			 230,438$																					

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 22,375$																								 86,575$																								

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 203,716$																					 670,183$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 226,091$																					 756,758$																					

	

20



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2023

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments 727,675$																					 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						
Special	Assessments	-	Lot	Closing -																																									 -																																									 144,179																							 144,179																							
Interest 43,000																										 21,500																										 20,307																										 (1,193)																											

Total		Revenues 770,675$																					 21,500$																								 164,486$																					 142,986$																					

Expenditures:

Series	2023
Interest	-	11/01 291,375$																					 291,375$																					 291,375$																					 -$																																						
Principal	-	05/01 145,000																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 291,375																							 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures 727,750$																					 291,375$																					 291,375$																					 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) 42,925$																								 (126,890)$																			

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 358,065$																					 1,026,629$																	

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 400,990$																					 899,740$																					

	

21



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	-	Series	2024

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Bond	Proceeds -$																																						 -$																																						 359,476$																					 359,476$																					
Interest -																																									 -																																									 6,167																													 6,167																													

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 365,642$																					 365,642$																					

Expenditures:

Series	2024
Interest	-	11/01 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						
Principal	-	05/01 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									
Interest	-	05/01 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									 -																																									

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 105$																															 (105)$																													

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 105$																															 (105)$																													

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 365,748$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 -$																																						

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 365,748$																					

	

	

22



Developer	Contributions/Due	to	Developer

Funding	 Prepare Check# Received Payment Total Capital	2017 Capital	2020 Capital	2021	PH1 Capital	2021	PH2 Capital	2023 Capital	2024 Over	and
Request Date Date Amount Funding	 (Due	to (Due	to (Due	to &	3B	(Due	to AA2	PH3C	&	AA3	PH3	 (Due	to (short)

# Request Developer) Developer) Developer) Developer) (Due	to	Developer) Developer) Balance	Due

10-2021	AA2	PH3B 10/29/24 WIRE 11/19/24 $1,415.00 $1,415.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,415.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 **
1-2023	AA2	PH3C 10/29/24 WIRE	 11/19/24 $526,475.33 $526,475.33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $526,475.33 $0.00 $0.00 **
1-2023	AA3	PH3 10/29/24 WIRE 11/19/24 $101,473.72 $101,473.72 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $101,473.72 $0.00 $0.00 **
11-2021	AA3	PH2 12/16/24 WIRE 1/27/25 $540.50 $540.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $540.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 **
1-2021	AA2	PH3B 12/16/24 WIRE 1/27/25 $1,471.00 $1,471.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,471.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
2-2023	AA2	PH3C 12/16/24 WIRE 1/27/25 $73,440.99 $73,440.99 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $73,440.99 $0.00 $0.00
2-2023	AA3	PH3 12/16/24 WIRE 1/27/25 $119,449.65 $119,449.65 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $119,449.65 $0.00 $0.00

1-2024 12/16/24 WIRE 1/27/25 $484,596.70 $484,596.70 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $484,596.70 $0.00
3-2023	AA2	PH3C 12/31/24 WIRE 2/6/25 $26,657.05 $26,657.05 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $26,657.05 $0.00 $0.00
3-2023	AA3	PH3 12/31/24 WIRE 2/6/25 $119,379.11 $119,379.11 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $119,379.11 $0.00 $0.00 **
1-2021	AA3	PH1 1/22/25 WIRE 2/6/25 $1,378.00 $1,378.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,378.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 **
1-2021	AA3	PH2 1/22/25 WIRE 2/6/25 $866.00 $866.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $866.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
2-2021	AA2	PH3B 1/22/25 WIRE 2/6/25 $726.71 $726.71 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $726.71 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
4-2023	AA2	PH3C 1/22/25 WIRE 1/27/25 $35,978.58 $35,978.58 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $35,978.58 $0.00 $0.00
4-2023	AA3	PH3 1/22/25 WIRE 1/27/25 $9,141.90 $9,141.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $9,141.90 $0.00 $0.00

2-2024 1/22/25 WIRE 2/6/25 $35,696.98 $35,696.98 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $35,696.98 $0.00 ***
5-2023	AA2	PH3C 2/14/25 WIRE 3/19/25 $38,177.00 $38,177.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $38,177.00 $0.00 $0.00
5-2023	AA3	PH3 2/14/25 WIRE 3/19/25 $5,333.75 $5,333.75 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,333.75 $0.00 $0.00

3-2024 2/14/25 WIRE 3/19/25 $1,141,256.50 $1,141,256.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,141,256.50 $0.00
2-2021	AA3	PH2 3/15/25 WIRE 4/1/25 $6,587.69 $6,587.69 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $6,587.69 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
3-2021	AA2	PH3B 3/17/25 WIRE 4/3/25 $852.50 $852.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $852.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
6-2023	AA3	PH3 3/17/25 WIRE 4/3/25 $17,557.50 $17,557.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $17,557.50 $0.00 $0.00

4-2024 3/17/25 WIRE 4/3/25 $712,322.40 $712,322.40 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $712,322.40 $0.00
6-2023	AA2	PH3C 3/18/25 WIRE 4/3/25 $96,058.75 $96,058.75 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $96,058.75 $0.00 $0.00

Due	to	Developer $3,556,833.31 $3,556,833.31 $0.00 $0.00 $1,378.00 $12,459.40 $1,169,123.33 $2,373,872.58 $0.00

*	Chart	does	not	reflect	funding	requests	prior	to	10/1/24
**	Contains	FY24	expenses
***Contains	partial	FY24	expense

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

23



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

E. 



Gross Assessments 1,642,634.68$         429,702.13$            226,689.26$            463,584.86$            739,751.68$            437,200.00$            609,290.52$            158,612.25$            490,278.11$            5,197,743.49$           
Net Assessments 1,544,076.60$         403,920.00$            213,087.90$            435,769.77$            695,366.58$            410,968.00$            572,733.09$            149,095.52$            460,861.42$            4,885,878.88$           

31.60% 8.27% 4.36% 8.92% 14.23% 8.41% 11.72% 3.05% 9.43% 100.00%

Date Distribution Gross Amount Commissions
Discount/ 

Penalty Interest Net Receipts
O&M         

General Fund
O&M           

Reverie Fund
2015                

Debt Service
2016A             

Debt Service
2017A             

Debt Service
2020                

Debt Service
2021 AA3 PH1 

Debt Service
2021 AA3 PH2  

Debt Service
2021 AA2 PH3B  

Debt Service Total

11/5/24 1 $30,799.67 $572.59 $2,169.93 $0.00 $28,057.15 $8,866.86 $2,319.51 $1,223.66 $2,502.41 $3,993.14 $2,359.98 $3,288.92 $856.18 $2,646.50 $28,057.16
11/15/24 2 $118,245.91 $2,270.32 $4,729.82 $0.00 $111,245.77 $35,156.83 $9,196.79 $4,851.76 $9,921.97 $15,832.69 $9,357.26 $13,040.47 $3,394.73 $10,493.28 $111,245.78
11/19/24 3 $308,782.00 $5,928.62 $12,351.23 $0.00 $290,502.15 $91,806.94 $24,016.07 $12,669.67 $25,909.78 $41,344.76 $24,435.13 $34,053.28 $8,864.85 $27,401.67 $290,502.15
12/06/24 4 $403,906.48 $7,755.32 $16,140.55 $0.00 $380,010.61 $120,094.15 $31,415.82 $16,573.41 $33,893.01 $54,083.76 $31,963.99 $44,545.65 $11,596.25 $35,844.57 $380,010.61
12/18/24 5 $484,614.70 $9,304.61 $19,384.38 $0.00 $455,925.71 $144,085.48 $37,691.79 $19,884.29 $40,663.85 $64,888.12 $38,349.47 $53,444.58 $13,912.85 $43,005.28 $455,925.71
01/09/25 6 $2,764,789.43 $53,083.97 $110,591.16 $0.00 $2,601,114.30 $822,026.05 $215,036.46 $113,442.43 $231,992.44 $370,195.00 $218,788.63 $304,908.14 $79,374.56 $245,350.58 $2,601,114.29
01/13/25 INT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $10,554.93 $10,554.93 $3,335.66 $872.59 $460.33 $941.39 $1,502.20 $887.81 $1,237.27 $322.09 $995.60 $10,554.94
02/20/25 7 $905,221.91 $17,597.41 $25,351.53 $0.00 $862,272.97 $272,502.77 $71,284.88 $37,606.32 $76,905.81 $122,720.15 $72,528.73 $101,077.47 $26,312.78 $81,334.06 $862,272.97

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

TOTAL 5,016,360.10$      96,512.84$             190,718.60$           10,554.93$             4,739,683.59$         1,497,874.74$        391,833.91$            206,711.87$            422,730.66$            674,559.82$            398,671.00$            555,595.78$            144,634.29$            447,071.54$            4,739,683.61$          

97.01% Net Percent Collected
146,195.29$            Balance Remaining to Collect

Six Mile Creek Investment Group LLC $527,750.06 $185,142.34 $21,329.08 $321,278.64

Date Due Check Net Amount O&M O&M Series 2023
Received Date No. Assessed Received Direct Platted Direct Unplatted AA3 PH3 Fund
11/1/24 10/15/24 WIRE $51,617.86 $51,617.86 $46,285.59 $5,332.27 $0.00

1/1/25 $51,617.86 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
4/1/25 $276,512.91 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
7/1/25 $51,617.84 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
9/30/25 $96,383.59 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

$527,750.06 $51,617.86 $46,285.59 $5,332.27 $0.00

Lennar Homes LLC $169,924.63 $58,370.00 $0.00 $111,554.63

Date Due Check Net Amount O&M O&M Series 2023
Received Date No. Assessed Received Direct Platted Direct Unplatted AA3 PH3 Fund
1/15/25 10/15/24 2370487 $14,592.50 $14,592.50 $14,592.50 $0.00 $0.00

1/1/25 $14,592.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
4/1/25 $92,680.74 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
7/1/25 $14,592.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
9/30/25 $33,466.39 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

$169,924.63 $14,592.50 $14,592.50 $0.00 $0.00

DFC Reverie LLC $758,026.05 $165,989.69 $185,640.00 $406,396.36

Date Due Check Net Amount O&M O&M Series 2023
Received Date No. Assessed Received General Fund Reverie Fund AA2 PH3C Fund
11/14/24 10/15/24 WIRE $87,907.42 $87,907.42 $41,497.42 $46,410.00 $0.00

1/1/25 $97,907.42 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
4/1/25 $372,384.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
7/1/25 $87,907.43 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
9/30/25 $121,918.91 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

$768,026.05 $87,907.42 $41,497.42 $46,410.00 $0.00

TAX ROLL ASSESSMENTS

DIRECT BILLED ASSESSMENTS

Six Mile Creek
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

Special Assessment Receipts
Fiscal Year 2025

24



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2007

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 53$																																		 53$																																		

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 53$																																		 53$																																		

Expenditures:

Series	2007
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 53$																																		

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 2,376$																											

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 2,430$																											

	

25



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2016A
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Miscellaneous	Income -$																																						 -$																																						 195,132$																					 195,132$																					
Interest -																																									 -																																									 796																																	 796																																	

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 195,928$																					 195,928$																					

Expenditures:

Series	2016A
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 195,928$																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 3,205$																											

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 199,133$																					

	

26



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2016B
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 0$																																					 0$																																					

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 0$																																					 0$																																					

Expenditures:

Series	2016B
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 0$																																					

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 4$																																					

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 4$																																					

	

27



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2017A
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 22$																																		 22$																																		

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 22$																																		 22$																																		

Expenditures:

Series	2017A
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 22$																																		

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 2,941$																											

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 2,963$																											

	

28



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2020

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Developer	Contributions -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						
Interest -																																									 -																																									 582																																	 582																																	

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 582$																															 582$																															

Expenditures:

Series	2020
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 206,094$																					 (206,094)$																			

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 206,094$																					 (206,094)$																			

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 205,300$																					 (205,300)$																			

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 205,300$																					 (205,300)$																			

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 (212)$																													

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 212$																															

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 0$																																					

	

29



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA3	PH1
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Interest -$																																						 -$																																						 244$																															 244$																															

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 244$																															 244$																															

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA3	PH1
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 283,061$																					 (283,061)$																			

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 283,061$																					 (283,061)$																			

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 282,613$																					 (282,613)$																			

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 282,613$																					 (282,613)$																			

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 (204)$																													

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 204$																															

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 0$																																					

	

30



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA3	PH2
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Developer	Contributions -$																																						 -$																																						 7,454$																											 7,454$																											
Interest -																																									 -																																									 13																																				 13																																				

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 7,467$																											 7,467$																											

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA3	PH2
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 7,454$																											 (7,454)$																									

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 7,454$																											 (7,454)$																									

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 13$																																		

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 (229,943)$																			

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 (229,930)$																			

	

31



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2021	AA2	PH3B
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Developer	Contributions -$																																						 -$																																						 3,050$																											 3,050$																											
Interest -																																									 -																																									 198																																	 198																																	

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 3,248$																											 3,248$																											

Expenditures:

Series	2021	AA2	PH3B
Capital	Outlay -$																																						 -$																																						 233,488$																					 (233,488)$																			

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 233,488$																					 (233,488)$																			

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 230,438$																					 (230,438)$																			

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 230,438$																					 (230,438)$																			

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 198$																															

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 (498,587)$																			

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 (498,389)$																			

	

32



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2023

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Developer	Contributions -$																																						 -$																																						 1,114,058$																	 1,114,058$																	
Interest -																																									 -																																									 13																																				 13																																				

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 1,114,071$																	 1,114,071$																	

Expenditures:

Series	2023
Capital	Outlay	-	AA2	PH3C -$																																						 -$																																						 786,951$																					 (786,951)$																			
Capital	Outlay	-	AA3	PH3 -																																									 -																																									 327,107																							 (327,107)																					

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 1,114,058$																	 (1,114,058)$															

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 13$																																		

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 (372,820)$																			

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 (372,807)$																			

	

33



Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District
Capital	Projects	Fund	-	Series	2024

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	March	31,	2025

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	03/31/25 Thru	03/31/25 Variance

Revenues:
	
Bond	Proceeds -$																																						 -$																																						 5,430,524$																	 5,430,524$																	
Developer	Contributions -																																									 -																																									 2,373,873																			 2,373,873																			
Interest -																																									 -																																									 14,942																										 14,942																										

Total		Revenues -$																																						 -$																																						 7,819,338$																	 7,819,338$																	

Expenditures:

Series	2024
Capital	Outlay	 -$																																						 -$																																						 3,098,964$																	 (3,098,964)$															
Capital	Outlay	-	Cost	of	Issuance -																																									 -																																									 320,748																							 (320,748)																					

Total	Expenditures -$																																						 -$																																						 3,419,712$																	 (3,419,712)$															

Other	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																																						 -$																																						 (105)$																													 105$																															

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																																						 -$																																						 (105)$																													 105$																															

Excess	Revenues	(Expenditures) -$																																						 4,399,521$																	

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																																						 (4,399,087)$															

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																																						 434$																															

	

	

34



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

TOTAL -$																					

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/1/24 Interest 3.35$																				
11/1/24 Interest 0.05																						
11/1/24 St.	Johns	Cty	Board	Commissioners Check	#626645	Utility	Reimbursement 50,411.36												
12/2/24 Interest 188.23																	
1/2/25 Interest 188.21																	
2/3/25 Interest 183.17																	
2/25/25 St.	Johns	Cty	Board	Commissioners Check	#628993	Utility	Reimbursement 144,720.53										
3/3/25 Interest 233.36																	

TOTAL 195,928.26$							

7.91$																			
195,928.26									

-																								

195,936.17$							Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2016A

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

35



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

TOTAL -$																			

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 0.02$																		
11/1/24 Interest 0.02																				
12/2/24 Interest 0.01																				
1/2/25 Interest 0.01																				
2/3/25 Interest 0.01																				
3/3/25 Interest 0.01																				

TOTAL 0.08$																	

3.81$																	
0.08																				
-																						

3.89$																	

Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2016B

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25

36



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

TOTAL -$																			

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest -$																				
11/1/24 Interest -																						
12/2/24 Interest -																						
1/2/25 Interest -																						
2/3/25 Interest -																						
3/3/25 Interest -																						

TOTAL -$																			

0.23$																	
-																						
-																						

0.23$																	Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2017A

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

37



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

TOTAL -$																			

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/1/24 Interest 4.07$																		
11/1/24 Interest 3.97																				
12/2/24 Interest 3.71																				
1/2/25 Interest 3.71																				
2/3/25 Interest 3.61																				
3/3/25 Interest 3.27																				

TOTAL 22.34$															

984.63$													
22.34																	
-																						

1,006.97$									Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2017NW

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

38



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

12/20/24 171 Six	Mile	Investment	Group,	LLC Reimbursement	for	Deficit	Funding 206,093.51$						

TOTAL 206,093.51$					

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 0.88$																		
11/1/24 Interest 0.85																				
11/27/24 Transfer	from	Reserve 205,300.00								
12/2/24 Interest 101.67															
12/20/24 Interest 478.49															
1/2/25 Interest -																						
2/3/25 Interest -																						
3/3/25 Interest -																						

TOTAL 205,881.89$					

211.62$													
205,881.89							
(206,093.51)					

-$																			Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	and	Refunding	Bonds,	Series	2020

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

39



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

12/20/24 201 Six	Mile	Investment	Group,	LLC Reimbursement	for	Deficit	Funding 283,060.56$						
2/6/25 202 Adkins	Electric	Inc. Inv	#1099	-	Installation	&	Wiring	of	Rain	Bird	Pump	-	Jun.23 1,378.00												

TOTAL 284,438.56$					

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/1/24 Interest 0.84$																		
11/1/24 Interest 0.82																				
12/2/24 Interest 0.77																				
12/13/24 Transfer	from	Reserve 282,612.50								
12/20/24 Interest 241.57															
1/2/25 Interest -																						
2/3/25 Interest -																						
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2021 1,378.00												
3/3/25 Interest -																						

TOTAL 284,234.50$					

204.06$													
284,234.50							
(284,438.56)					

-$																			Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2021	AA3	PH1

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

40



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

10/15/24 90 Kutak	Rock,	LLP Invoice	#3453279-18323-2	-	Project	Construction	-	July	2024 164.50$															
1/27/25 91 Kutak	Rock,	LLP Invoice	#3480055-18323-2	-	Project	Construction	-	August	2024 188.00																	
1/27/25 92 Kutak	Rock,	LLP Invoice	#3496010-18323-2	-	Project	Construction	-	September	2024 352.50																	
2/6/25 93 Kutak	Rock,	LLP Invoice	#3512050-18323-2	-	Project	Construction	-	Oct./Nov.	2024 866.00																	

TOTAL 1,571.00$											

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 2.34$																				
10/15/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#10-2021 164.50																	
11/1/24 Interest 2.29																						
12/2/24 Interest 2.13																						
1/2/25 Interest 2.13																						
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#11-2021 540.50																	
2/3/25 Interest 2.07																						
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2021 866.00																	
3/3/25 Interest 1.88																						

TOTAL 1,583.84$											

566.50$															
1,583.84														
(1,571.00)												

579.34$															Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2021	AA3	PH2

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

41



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

11/19/24 171 England-Thims	&	Miller Invoice	#215971	-	Master	Site	Planning	(WA#51)	-	Sept.24 1,415.00$										
1/27/25 172 England-Thims	&	Miller Invoice	#216447	-	Master	Site	Planning	(WA#51)	-	Oct.24 670.00															
1/27/25 173 England-Thims	&	Miller Invoice	#217027	-	Master	Site	Planning	(WA#51)	-	Nov.24 801.00															
12/20/24 174 Six	Mile	Investment	Group,	LLC Reimbursement	for	Deficit	Funding 230,437.50								
2/6/25 175 England-Thims	&	Miller Invoice	#217490	-	Master	Site	Planning	(WA#51)	-	Dec.24 726.71															

TOTAL 234,050.21$					

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 0.02$																		
11/1/24 Interest 0.02																				
11/19/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#10-2021 1,415.00												
12/2/24 Interest 0.02																				
12/13/24 Transfer	from	Reserve 230,437.50								
1/2/25 Interest 196.60															
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2021 1,471.00												
2/3/25 Interest 0.71																				
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#2-201 726.71															
3/3/25 Wire 0.66																				

TOTAL 234,248.24$					

5.23$																	
234,248.24							
(234,050.21)					

203.26$													

Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2021	AA2	PH3B

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25

42



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

10/15/24 83 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#16	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Aug.24 1,330,220.88$					
10/15/24 84 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#215457	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Aug.24 8,662.25														
10/15/24 85 American	Precast	Structures,	LLC Invs	#9448/9449/9780	-	Direct	Purchase	of	Materials	-	Jun/Jul.24 16,740.00												
10/15/24 86 ECS	Florida,	LLC Invoice	#1203027	-	Pacetti	Road	Mast	Arm	Geotechnical	Services	-	Aug.24 500.00																	
10/15/24 87 Ferguson	Enterprises,	LLC Invs	#2097383/2104356/2104462	-	Direct	Purchase	of	Materials	-	Jul/Aug.24 24,396.00												
10/15/24 88 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#17	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Sept.24 286,391.75										
11/19/24 89 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#215977	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Sept.24 9,836.40														
11/19/24 90 Ferguson	Enterprises,	LLC Invs	#2116359	-	Direct	Purchase	of	Materials	-	Oct.24 391.00																	
11/19/24 91 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#18	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Oct.24 516,247.93										
1/27/25 92 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#216453	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Oct.24 12,522.99												
1/27/25 93 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#19	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Nov.24 56,624.75												
1/27/25 94 Ferguson	Enterprises,	LLC Invoice	#2122257	-	Direct	Purchase	of	Materials	-	Nov.24 34.00																				
1/27/25 95 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#216453	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Nov.24 4,259.25														
2/6/25 96 Onsight	Industries,	LLC Invoice	#425618	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	Street	Signage-	Dec.24 16,587.05												
2/6/25 97 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#20	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Dec.24 10,070.00												
1/27/25 98 SES	Environmental	Resource Invoice	#40770	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	Haul	Road	Restoration	-	Dec.24 26,200.00												
1/27/25 99 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217495	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Dec.24 9,778.58														
3/19/25 100 Jax	Utilities	Management Application	#21	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	Phase	3	-	Jan.25 32,300.00												
3/19/25 101 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217968	-	Trailmark	East	Parcel	PH3	CEI	(WA#73)	-	Jan.25 5,877.00														

TOTAL 2,367,639.83$			

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 2.35$																				
10/15/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#6-2023	AA2	PH3C 1,356,123.13							
10/15/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#7-2023	AA2	PH3C 310,787.75										
11/1/24 Interest 2.30																						
11/19/24 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2023	AA2	PH3C 526,475.33										
12/2/24 Interest 2.14																						
1/2/25 Interest 2.14																						
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#2-2023	AA2	PH3C 73,440.99												
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#4-2023	AA2	PH3C 35,978.58												
2/3/25 Interest 2.08																						
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#3-2023	AA2	PH3C 26,657.05												
3/3/25 Interest 1.89																						
3/19/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#5-2023	AA2	PH3C 38,177.00												

TOTAL 2,367,652.73$			

569.16$															
2,367,652.73						
(2,367,639.83)				

582.06$															Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2023	AA2	PH3C

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

43



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

10/15/24 72A Onsight	Industries,	LLC Invoice	#416216	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	Mailboxes	-	Jul.24 1,450.00$												
10/15/24 73A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#18	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Aug.24 52,454.25												
10/15/24 74A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#215490	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	CEI	(WA#70)	-	Aug.24 15,530.66												
10/15/24 75A Tree	Amigos	Outdoor	Services,	Inc. Application	#2	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	Lift	Station	-	Sept.24 6,152.00														
10/15/24 76A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Inv	#215525	-	Trailmark	Dr	at	Pacetti	Rd	-	Traffic	Signal	Design	(WA#79)	-	Aug.24 10,720.00												
10/15/24 77A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#19	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Sept.24 30,255.60												
10/15/24 78A BrightView	Landscape	Services,	Inc. Invoice	#9096206	-	Trailmark	Dr	Landscape	Services	-	Sept.24 6,043.55														
11/19/24 79A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoices	#215989	&	216007	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	(WA#70	&	WA#79)	-	Sept.24 28,475.72												
11/19/24 80A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#20	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Oct.24 72,998.00												
1/27/25 81A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#216486	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	CEI	(WA#70)	-	Oct.24 9,684.65														
1/27/25 82A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#21	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Nov.24 88,093.50												
1/27/25 83A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoices	#217112	&	217408	-	CEI	(WA#70)	&	Traffic	Signal	(WA#79)	-	Nov.24 21,671.50												
2/6/25 84A BrightView	Landscape	Services,	Inc. Invoice	#9073900	-	Trailmark	Drive	Enhancements/Golden	Rod	A-1	-	Sept.24 16,752.76												
2/6/25 85A BrightView	Landscape	Services,	Inc. Inv	#22539664	-	Bird	Watch	Ct/Farmfield	cut	through	Plant	Enhancement	-	Dec.24 98,446.35												
2/6/25 86A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#22	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Dec.24 4,180.00														
1/27/25 87A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoices	#217515	&	217853	-	CEI	(WA#70)	&	Traffic	Signal	(WA#79)	-	Dec.24 9,141.90														
3/19/25 88A Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#23	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	-	Jan.25 3,325.00														
3/19/25 89A England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217990	-	Trailmark	Phase	12	CEI	(WA#70)	-	Jan.25 2,008.75														

TOTAL 477,384.19$							

Fiscal	Year	2025
10/2/24 Interest 0.02$																				
10/15/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#13-2023	AA2	PH3 69,434.91												
10/15/24 Wire SMCIG	FY24	Funding	Request	#14-2023	AA2	PH3 53,171.15												
11/1/24 Interest 0.02																						
11/19/24 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2023	AA2	PH3 101,473.72										
12/2/24 Interest 0.02																						
1/2/25 Interest 0.02																						
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#2-2023	AA2	PH3 119,449.65										
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#4-2023	AA2	PH3 9,141.90														
2/3/25 Interest 0.02																						
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#3-2023	AA2	PH3 119,379.11										
3/3/25 Interest 0.02																						
3/19/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#5-2023	AA2	PH3 5,333.75														

TOTAL 477,384.31$							

4.85$																			
477,384.31									
(477,384.19)							

4.97$																			

Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2023	AA3	PH3

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	9/30/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25

44



Date Requisition	# Contractor Description Requisition
Fiscal	Year	2025

10/31/24 1 Six	Mile	Creek	Investment	Group Reimbursement	of	JUM	Application	Payments 2,541,725.76$					
10/31/24 2 Onsight	Industries,	LLC Invoice	#421873	-	Trailmark	Mailboxes	-	Oct.24 1,775.00														
10/31/24 3 Onsight	Industries,	LLC Invoice	#42005	-	Trailmark	Street	Signage	-	Sept.24 5,111.60														
10/31/24 4 Tree	Amigos	Outdoor	Services Invoice	#202712	-	Trailmark	Landscaping	Services	-	Sept.24 21,750.00												
10/31/24 5 BrightView	Landscape	Services,	Inc. Invoice	#9091313	-	Goldenrod	Enhancements	A1-A7	-	Sept.24 79,324.21												
10/31/24 6 Clary	&	Associates Invoice	#2024-428	-	Phase	13	Maps	&	Descriptions	-	Jul.24 1,500.00														
10/31/24 7 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invs	#215456	&	215976	-	Phase	13	CEI	-	Aug/Sept.24 14,795.17												
10/31/24 8 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Applications	#7	&	8	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	-	Aug/Sept.24 1,887,070.64							
11/7/24 9 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Applications	#9	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	-	Oct.24 529,098.48										
12/18/24 10 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#216452	-	Phase	13	CEI	(WA#80)	-	Oct.24 9,268.47														
12/18/24 11 Ferguson	Enterprises,	LLC Direct	Purchases/Returns	of	Materials 4,466.60														
12/18/24 12 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#10	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	(Partial	Payment)	-	Nov.24 192,825.42										
1/27/25 12 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Application	#10	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	(Partial	Payment)	-	Jan.25 474,177.20										
1/27/25 13 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217039	-	Phase	13	CEI	(WA#80)	-	Nov.24 10,419.50												
2/6/25 14 Six	Mile	Creek	CDD Reimbursement	of	Reverie	Fund 25,760.00												
2/6/25 15 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217548	-	Phase	13	CEI	(WA#80)	-	Dec.24 9,827.48														
2/6/25 16 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#217551	0	Public	Facilities	Report	(WA#83)	-	Dec.24 109.50																	
3/19/25 17 Onsight	Industries,	LLC Invoice	#427281	-	Trailmark	Street	Signage	-	Jan.25 4,183.50														
3/19/25 18 Ferguson	Enterprises,	LLC Invoice	#2075951	-	Direct	Purchase	of	Materials	-	Jan.25 27,016.00												
3/19/25 19 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Applications	#11	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	-	Dec.24 601,213.20										
3/19/25 20 Jax	Utilities	Management,	Inc. Applications	#12	-	Trailmark	Phase	13	-	Jan.25 497,469.40										
3/19/25 21 England-Thims	&	Miller,	Inc. Invoice	#218012	-	Phase	13	CEI	(WA#80)	-	Jan.25 11,374.40												

TOTAL 6,950,261.53$			

Fiscal	Year	2025
11/1/24 Interest 13,323.82$										
11/1/24 Deposit Richmond	American	Homes	-	Reimbursement 138,773.00										
11/1/24 Deposit Carlton	Constructon	-	Reimbursement 25,760.00												
12/2/24 Interest 1,178.36														
1/2/25 Interest 431.22																	
1/27/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#1-2024 484,596.70										
2/3/25 Interest 1.50																						
2/6/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#2-2024 35,696.98												
3/3/25 Interest 1.41																						
3/19/25 Wire SMCIG	FY25	Funding	Request	#3-2024 1,141,256.50							

TOTAL 1,841,019.49$			

5,109,676.17$			
1,841,019.49						
(6,950,261.53)				

434.13$															Remaining	Acquisition/Construction	Fund

Six	Mile	Creek
Community	Development	District

Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds,	Series	2024

Acquisition/Construction	Fund	at	10/11/24
Interest	Earned	thru	03/31/25
Requisitions	Paid	thru	03/31/25

45



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

F. 




